
 

 

Notice of meeting and agenda 

 

 

Culture and Communities Committee 

 

10.00 am Tuesday, 15th September, 2020 

 

Virtual Meeting - via Microsoft Teams This is a public meeting and members of the 

public are welcome to watch the live webcast.  

The law allows the Council to consider some issues in private. Any items under “Private 

Business” will not be published, although the decisions will be recorded in the minute. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contacts 

Email:  natalie.le.couteur@edinburgh.gov.uk / blair.ritchie@edinburgh.gov.uk 

Tel:  0131 529 6160 / 0131 529 4085 

 

 

 

 

 

Public Document Pack



 

Culture and Communities Committee - 15 

September 2020 

Page 2 of 4 

 

 

 

 

 

1. Order of Business 

1.1   Including any notices of motion and any other items of business 

submitted as urgent for consideration at the meeting. 

 

 

2. Declaration of Interests 

2.1   Members should declare any financial and non-financial interests 

they have in the items of business for consideration, identifying 

the relevant agenda item and the nature of their interest. 

 

 

3. Deputations 

3.1   If any 

 

 

4. Presentations 

4.1   Culture Map - Morgan Currie, The University of Edinburgh   

5. Forward Planning 

5.1   Work Programme  7 - 8 

5.2   Rolling Actions Log  9 - 22 

6. Business Bulletin 

6.1   Business Bulletin 

 

23 - 46 

7. Executive Decisions 



 

Culture and Communities Committee - 15 

September 2020 

Page 3 of 4 

 

 

7.1   Cemetery Tour Guide Operator Registration Scheme – Report by 

the Executive Director of Place   

47 - 56 

7.2   War Memorial, City Chambers – Report by the Executive Director 

of Place   

57 - 60 

7.3   Appointments to Working Groups 2020/21 – Report by the Chief 

Executive   

61 - 66 

7.4   Edinburgh’s Joint Community Safety Strategy 2020-2023 – 

Report by the Executive Director for Communities and Families   

67 - 100 

7.5   Museums and Galleries – Report on Extended Opening Hours –

Report by the Executive Director of Place   

101 - 118 

7.6   Fields in Trust Minute of Agreement for Marchbank Park – Report 

by the Executive Director of Place   

119 - 122 

7.7   Graffiti Strategy for Edinburgh – Report by the Executive Director 

of Place   

123 - 138 

8. Motions 

Laurence Rockey 

Head of Strategy and Communications 

 

Committee Members 

Councillor Donald Wilson (Convener), Councillor Amy McNeese-Mechan (Vice-

Convener), Councillor Mark Brown, Councillor Phil Doggart, Councillor Karen Doran, 

Councillor Max Mitchell, Councillor Hal Osler, Councillor Susan Rae, Councillor Alex 

Staniforth and Councillor David Key 

Information about the Culture and Communities Committee 

The Culture and Communities Committee consists of 11 Councillors and is appointed 

by the City of Edinburgh Council.  The meeting will be held by Teams and will be 

webcast live for viewing by members of the public. Further information 



 

Culture and Communities Committee - 15 

September 2020 

Page 4 of 4 

 

 

If you have any questions about the agenda or meeting arrangements, please contact 

Natalie Le Couteur, Committee Services, City of Edinburgh Council, Business Centre 

2.1, Waverley Court, 4 East Market Street, Edinburgh EH8 8BG,  Tel 0131 529 6160 / 

0131 529 4085, email natalie.le.couteur@edinburgh.gov.uk / 

blair.ritchie@edinburgh.gov.uk. 

The agenda, minutes and public reports for this meeting and all the main Council 

committees can be viewed online by going to https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk   

Webcasting of Council meetings 

Please note this meeting may be filmed for live and subsequent broadcast via the 

Council’s internet site – at the start of the meeting the Convener will confirm if all or part 

of the meeting is being filmed. 

The Council is a Data Controller under current Data Protection legislation.  We 

broadcast Council meetings to fulfil our public task obligation to enable members of the 

public to observe the democratic process.  Data collected during this webcast will be 

retained in accordance with the Council’s published policy including, but not limited to, 

for the purpose of keeping historical records and making those records available via the 

Council’s internet site. 

Any information presented by individuals to the Council at a meeting, in a deputation or 

otherwise, in addition to forming part of a webcast that will be held as a historical 

record, will also be held and used by the Council in connection with the relevant matter 

until that matter is decided or otherwise resolved (including any potential appeals and 

other connected processes).  Thereafter, that information will continue to be held as 

part of the historical record in accordance with the paragraphs above. 

If you have any queries regarding this, and, in particular, if you believe that use and/or 

storage of any particular information would cause, or be likely to cause, substantial 

damage or distress to any individual, please contact Committee Services 

(committee.services@edinburgh.gov.uk). 

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/


 

 Work Programme            

Culture and Communities Committee 

15 September 2020 
  

 Title / 

description 

Purpose/Reason Routine / 

Executive 

Lead officer Directorate Progress 

updates 

Expected date 

1.  

City Centre 

Vehicle 

Mitigation 

Measures 

Update 

 Executive John McNeil Place  November 2020 

2.  

Kings Theatre 

Capital 

Redevelopment 

Update Report 

 Executive Lindsay Robertson Place  November 2020 

3.  

Capital Theatres 

Performance 

Report 

 Executive Lindsay Robertson Place  November 2020 

4.  

Adelaide 

Cultural 

Cooperation 

Project  

 Executive Lynne Halfpenny Place  November 2020 

5.  

Service 

Payment to 

Edinburgh 

Leisure 

 Executive David Bruce 
Communities 

and Families 
 November 

P
age 5

A
genda Item

 5.1



Culture and Communities Committee – 15 September 2020       Page 2 of 2 

6.  

Allotment and 

Food Growing 

Update 

 Executive TBC Place Flexible November 2020 

7.  
Citywide Culture 

Plan Update 
 Executive Lynne Halfpenny/   Place  November 2020 

8.  

Kings Theatre 

Capital 

Redevelopment 

Update Report 

 

 Executive Lindsay Robertson Place  January 2021 

9.  

Fair Fringe and 

Fair Hospitality 

Charter – 

Effectiveness of 

Charter 

 Executive David Waddell Place Flexible November 2021 

 

 

P
age 6



 

 

Rolling Actions Log         

Culture and Communities Committee 
15 September 2020 

No Date Report Title Action Action 

Owner 

Expected 

completion 

date 

Comments 

1 31.05.18 City of Edinburgh 

Council - Fair 

Fringe and Fair 

Hospitality Charter 

Guidelines 

Calls for report on the 

Charter’s efficacy to go to 

Culture and Communities 

Committee after August 

2019. 

Executive 

Director of 

Place 

November 

2021 

 

Due to the Coronavirus pandemic 

there was no Fringe during 2020, 

therefore any survey would be 

done during 2021. 

2 11.09.18 Edinburgh People 

Survey – Culture 

Results 

To agree that, in advance of 

the publication of the 

next iteration of the 

Edinburgh People Survey, 

the proposed questions 

pertaining to culture and 

greenspace matters under 

the remit of this Committee 

would be presented to 

Committee for review. 

Executive 

Director of 

Place 

Spring 2021 At present it is not known when, 

and if, a survey would be 

undertaken. 

3 13.11.18 King’s Theatre 

Capital 

An annual update report 

would be provided to 

Executive 

Director of 

January 

2021 

 

P
age 7

A
genda Item

 5.2

http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/57231/item_82_-_fair_fringe_and_fair_hospitality_charter_guidelines
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/57231/item_82_-_fair_fringe_and_fair_hospitality_charter_guidelines
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/57231/item_82_-_fair_fringe_and_fair_hospitality_charter_guidelines
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/57231/item_82_-_fair_fringe_and_fair_hospitality_charter_guidelines
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/58459/item_94_-_edinburgh_people_survey_%E2%80%93_culture_results
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/58459/item_94_-_edinburgh_people_survey_%E2%80%93_culture_results
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/58459/item_94_-_edinburgh_people_survey_%E2%80%93_culture_results
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/59091/item_82_-_kings_theatre_capital_project_update_report
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/59091/item_82_-_kings_theatre_capital_project_update_report


 

Culture and Communities Committee – Rolling Actions and Log – 15 September 2020                                                                                           Page 2 of 13 

No Date Report Title Action Action 

Owner 

Expected 

completion 

date 

Comments 

Redevelopment 

Update Report 

members. Place 

4 29.01.19 Adelaide Cultural 

Co-operation 

Project 

To note that a further report 

on the outcomes of the visit 

and next steps will be 

prepared for a future 

meeting of this Committee. 

Executive 

Director of 

Place 

November 

2020 

 

5 26.03.19 Service Payment 

to Edinburgh 

Leisure – 2019/20 

To request more detail in 

the next report from 

Edinburgh Leisure on the 

impact of the service 

payment to Edinburgh 

Leisure 

 

Executive 

Director for 

Communities 

and Families 

November 

2020 

 

6 26.03.19 Allotment and 

Food Growing 

Provision Update 

To note that further 

investigation would be 

undertaken to determine the 

feasibility of giving priority to 

those applicants referred for 

horticultural therapy by 

medical professionals. 

Executive 

Director of 

Place 

November 

2020 

 

7 18.06.19 Citywide Culture To note that a Culture Plan Executive January  

P
age 8

http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/59091/item_82_-_kings_theatre_capital_project_update_report
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/59091/item_82_-_kings_theatre_capital_project_update_report
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/59754/item_89_-_adelaide_cultural_co-operation_project
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/59754/item_89_-_adelaide_cultural_co-operation_project
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/59754/item_89_-_adelaide_cultural_co-operation_project
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/60395/item_84_-_service_payment_to_edinburgh_leisure_%E2%80%93_201920
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/60395/item_84_-_service_payment_to_edinburgh_leisure_%E2%80%93_201920
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/60395/item_84_-_service_payment_to_edinburgh_leisure_%E2%80%93_201920
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/60400/item_93_-_allotment_and_food_growing_provision_update
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/60400/item_93_-_allotment_and_food_growing_provision_update
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/60400/item_93_-_allotment_and_food_growing_provision_update
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Culture%20and%20Communities%20Committee/20190618/Agenda/item_83_-_citywide_culture_plan_update_201819.pdf


 

Culture and Communities Committee – Rolling Actions and Log – 15 September 2020                                                                                           Page 3 of 13 

No Date Report Title Action Action 

Owner 

Expected 

completion 

date 

Comments 

Plan Update 

2018/19 

review update report would 

be presented in June 2020 

Director of 

Place 

2021 

8 18.06.19 CCTV Working 

Group Update 

To request an update on the 

CCTV Working Group 

progress in six months’ time. 

Executive 

Director for 

Communities 

and Families 

March 2020 Working Group Report on agenda 

for this meeting. 

9 30.09.19 Grounds 

Maintenance in the 

South West 

Locality 

(Transferred from 

the South West 

Locality 

Committee) 

3) To agree that the 

outcome of the review on 

Living Landscapes would 

be shared with the 

Committee and to look at 

the current location of floral 

meadows and the potential 

to move them elsewhere. 

 

Executive 

Director of 

Place  

September 

2020 

Item included in Business Bulletin 

for this meeting. 

 

10 06.11.12                        The Future 

Management and 

Ownership of 

Easter 

Craiglockhart Hill 

Local Nature 

Reserve (LNR) – 

motion by 

To provide information on 

the possibility of community 

ownership and management 

of the woodland and open 

space in the area in the 

longer term and how this 

might be achieved, with 

ownership transferring to the 

Executive 

Director of 

Place 

End 2021 Transferred to the Culture and 

Communities Committee from 

the Policy and Sustainability 

Committee. 

Update was included in Business 

bulletin on 12 November 2019. 

P
age 9

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Culture%20and%20Communities%20Committee/20190618/Agenda/item_83_-_citywide_culture_plan_update_201819.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Culture%20and%20Communities%20Committee/20190618/Agenda/item_83_-_citywide_culture_plan_update_201819.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Culture%20and%20Communities%20Committee/20190618/Agenda/item_91_-_cctv_working_group_update.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Culture%20and%20Communities%20Committee/20190618/Agenda/item_91_-_cctv_working_group_update.pdf


 

Culture and Communities Committee – Rolling Actions and Log – 15 September 2020                                                                                           Page 4 of 13 

No Date Report Title Action Action 

Owner 

Expected 

completion 

date 

Comments 

Councillor Burns 

 

Council as an interim 

measure, with a view to the 

eventual transfer of 

ownership and 

management, to a 

community organisation. 

11 12.12.17 Open Library That an update report be 

submitted to Committee in 

six months. 

Executive 

Director for 

Communities 

and Families 

March 2020 EC&F Committee on 8 October 

2019 agreed to transfer this 

outstanding action to Culture and 

Communities Committee. 

12 11.12.18 Petition for 

Consideration - 

Edinburgh 

Central Library vs 

Virgin Hotel 

1)       Require a detailed 

report on Edinburgh Central 

Library as a flagship cultural 

project of 

national/international 

significance commensurate 

with existing professional 

advice to the Council and 

the Council’s own reports.  

2)       To request that the 

annual report on the 

Lifelong Learning Plan 

scheduled for October 2019, 

Executive 

Director for 

Communities 

and Families 

 

November 

2019 

EC&F Committee on 8 October 

2019 agreed to transfer this 

outstanding action to Culture and 

Communities Committee. 

Central Library Future 

Development report tabled at 

Culture and Communities 

Committee 12th November 2019. 

Committee approved setting up a 

project team ‘to explore the 

viability of developing an 

imaginative, accessible and 

engaging future vision for the 

city’s Central Library’. 

P
age 10

http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/55626/item_717_-_open_library
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/59466/item_71_-_petition_for_consideration_-_edinburgh_central_library_vs_virgin_hotel
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/59466/item_71_-_petition_for_consideration_-_edinburgh_central_library_vs_virgin_hotel
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/59466/item_71_-_petition_for_consideration_-_edinburgh_central_library_vs_virgin_hotel
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/59466/item_71_-_petition_for_consideration_-_edinburgh_central_library_vs_virgin_hotel
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/59466/item_71_-_petition_for_consideration_-_edinburgh_central_library_vs_virgin_hotel


 

Culture and Communities Committee – Rolling Actions and Log – 15 September 2020                                                                                           Page 5 of 13 

No Date Report Title Action Action 

Owner 

Expected 

completion 

date 

Comments 

includes within it, options for 

the Central Library, drawing 

on past and current studies 

and feasibility exercises and 

a clear vision for its role in 

the city’s cultural landscape. 

13 10-09-19 City Centre 

Hostile Vehicle 

Mitigation 

Measures Update 

Report - report by 

the Executive 

Director of Place 

To note that a further update 

report will be prepared 

within six months to outline 

the findings from the 

working group and to 

provide details of the 

anticipated financial impact. 

 

 

Executive 

Director of 

Place 

January 

2021 

 

14 10-09-19 Transfer of 

Management of 

Secondary 

School Sports 

Facilities to 

Edinburgh 

Leisure  - referral 

report by the 

1) Recommendations 

approved with the proviso 

that the report called for is 

brought back in the first 

instance to the Culture and 

Communities Committee. 

2) To ask that the report 

Executive 

Director for 

Communities 

and Families 

January 

2020 

 

 

 

 

P
age 11

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s5828/City%20Centre%20Hostile%20Vehicle%20Mitigation%20Measures%20Update.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s5828/City%20Centre%20Hostile%20Vehicle%20Mitigation%20Measures%20Update.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s5828/City%20Centre%20Hostile%20Vehicle%20Mitigation%20Measures%20Update.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s5828/City%20Centre%20Hostile%20Vehicle%20Mitigation%20Measures%20Update.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s5828/City%20Centre%20Hostile%20Vehicle%20Mitigation%20Measures%20Update.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s5762/Transfer%20of%20Management%20of%20Secondary%20School%20Sporting%20Facilities%20-%20referral%20from%20Education%20Children%20a.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s5762/Transfer%20of%20Management%20of%20Secondary%20School%20Sporting%20Facilities%20-%20referral%20from%20Education%20Children%20a.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s5762/Transfer%20of%20Management%20of%20Secondary%20School%20Sporting%20Facilities%20-%20referral%20from%20Education%20Children%20a.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s5762/Transfer%20of%20Management%20of%20Secondary%20School%20Sporting%20Facilities%20-%20referral%20from%20Education%20Children%20a.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s5762/Transfer%20of%20Management%20of%20Secondary%20School%20Sporting%20Facilities%20-%20referral%20from%20Education%20Children%20a.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s5762/Transfer%20of%20Management%20of%20Secondary%20School%20Sporting%20Facilities%20-%20referral%20from%20Education%20Children%20a.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s5762/Transfer%20of%20Management%20of%20Secondary%20School%20Sporting%20Facilities%20-%20referral%20from%20Education%20Children%20a.pdf


 

Culture and Communities Committee – Rolling Actions and Log – 15 September 2020                                                                                           Page 6 of 13 

No Date Report Title Action Action 

Owner 

Expected 

completion 

date 

Comments 

Education, 

Children and 

Families 

Committee 

 

address: 

Access to facilities, 

recognising Edinburgh 

Leisure’s requirement to 

balance the operational 

costs with its core purpose 

in making a positive 

difference to communities.  

The barriers to access 

including cost and physical 

access issues related to 

transport. 

The impact on high 

performance  sport and any 

change in the usage of 

facilities from these  groups 

associated with the transfer 

of management of 

secondary school sports 

facilities to Edinburgh 

Leisure. 

 

15 10-09-19 Appointments to 

Working Groups 

To review the membership 

of the Tourism and 

Chief Spring 2020 Tourism Strategy Development 

on the Policy and Sustainability 

P
age 12

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s5763/Appointments%20to%20Working%20Groups%20-%202019-20.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s5763/Appointments%20to%20Working%20Groups%20-%202019-20.pdf


 

Culture and Communities Committee – Rolling Actions and Log – 15 September 2020                                                                                           Page 7 of 13 

No Date Report Title Action Action 

Owner 

Expected 

completion 

date 

Comments 

– report by the 

Chief Executive 

Communities Working 

Group and report back to 

the next meeting of the 

Committee. 

Executive Committee agenda for 25 

October 2019 – recommendation 

includes reviewing the remit and 

membership of this group once 

the strategy is approved. 

16 10-09-19 Internal Audit - 

Localities 

Operating Model - 

referral from 

Governance, Risk 

and Best Value 

Committee. 

To note that the Executive 

Director of Place would 

provide a covering report on 

the Framework for the new 

Localities Model. 

Chief 

Executive 

 Recommended for closure – this 

is likely to be part of a wider 

Council review 

17 30.09.16 Water of Leith 

Valley 

Improvement 

Proposals (Dean 

to Stockbridge 

Section) 

To ask that the outcome of 

the feasibility study be 

reported to a future meeting 

of the Culture and 

Communities Committee.  

Executive 

Director of 

Place  

September 

2020 

 

Update on the Business Bulletin 

for this meeting. 

18 28.01.20 The Quaich 

Outline Business 

Case 

1) To welcome the work 

carried out to date by the 

Quaich Project and to 

support the intention to 

improve West Princes Street 

Executive 

Director of 

Place 

End 2020  

P
age 13

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s5829/IA%20-%20Localities%20Operating%20Model%20-%20referral%20from%20GRBV.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s5829/IA%20-%20Localities%20Operating%20Model%20-%20referral%20from%20GRBV.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s5829/IA%20-%20Localities%20Operating%20Model%20-%20referral%20from%20GRBV.pdf
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/51599/item_77_-_water_of_leith_valley_improvement_proposals_dean_to_stockbridge_section
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/51599/item_77_-_water_of_leith_valley_improvement_proposals_dean_to_stockbridge_section
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/51599/item_77_-_water_of_leith_valley_improvement_proposals_dean_to_stockbridge_section
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/51599/item_77_-_water_of_leith_valley_improvement_proposals_dean_to_stockbridge_section
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/51599/item_77_-_water_of_leith_valley_improvement_proposals_dean_to_stockbridge_section
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/51599/item_77_-_water_of_leith_valley_improvement_proposals_dean_to_stockbridge_section
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s13078/Item%208.1%20-%20The%20Quaich%20-%20FINAL.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s13078/Item%208.1%20-%20The%20Quaich%20-%20FINAL.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s13078/Item%208.1%20-%20The%20Quaich%20-%20FINAL.pdf


 

Culture and Communities Committee – Rolling Actions and Log – 15 September 2020                                                                                           Page 8 of 13 

No Date Report Title Action Action 

Owner 

Expected 

completion 

date 

Comments 

Gardens. 

2) To request the 

Executive Director of Place 

to provide a more detailed 

report to Committee within 

one cycle setting out the 

assumptions in the business 

case presented. 

3) To note that 

Councillor Osler had 

declared she would recuse 

herself from the 

determination on matters 

pertaining to the planning 

application for the Quaich 

Project. 

19 28.01.20 Development of a 

Public Space 

Management Plan 

1) To note the initial 

findings of a review of the 

Edinburgh Parks Events 

Manifesto (EPEM) and the 

Public Spaces Protocol 

(PSP). 

2) To note that it is 

Executive 

Director of 

Place 

January 

2021 

Update included in Business 

Bulletin to 15 September 2020 – 

a further report will be submitted 

to a future meeting of the 

Committee. 

P
age 14

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s13080/Item%209.1%20-%20Public%20Space%20Management%20Plan-FINAL.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s13080/Item%209.1%20-%20Public%20Space%20Management%20Plan-FINAL.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s13080/Item%209.1%20-%20Public%20Space%20Management%20Plan-FINAL.pdf


 

Culture and Communities Committee – Rolling Actions and Log – 15 September 2020                                                                                           Page 9 of 13 

No Date Report Title Action Action 

Owner 

Expected 

completion 

date 

Comments 

intended to use these 

findings, alongside the 

motions from Committee and 

Council to develop a single 

Public Space Management 

Plan (PSMP) to be supported 

by a single set of processes, 

criteria and procedures when 

applications are received in 

the future. 

3) To approve the 

principles for the PSMP as 

set out in paragraph 4.8 with 

the inclusion of effective 

measures that could be 

adopted to control the 

amplification of sound in 

public spaces when 

appropriate. 

4) To note that it is 

intended to present the draft 

PSMP to Committee in March 

2020, with consultation to 

begin in April 2020 and the 

final document presented to 

P
age 15



 

Culture and Communities Committee – Rolling Actions and Log – 15 September 2020                                                                                           Page 10 of 13 

No Date Report Title Action Action 

Owner 

Expected 

completion 

date 

Comments 

Committee in June 2020 for 

approval.  

20 28.01.20 Edinburgh – 

Million Tree City 

1) To recognise the value 

that urban trees play in 

addressing the Climate 

Emergency contributing: to 

meeting the Council’s 

ambitious target of being net 

carbon neutral by 2030; and 

ongoing global biodiversity 

losses;  

2) To note the Council’s 

existing commitments to tree 

protection, planting and 

management and the 

increase in tree numbers 

attributable to the positive 

implementation of policy 

actions, development 

planning, and partnership 

working. 

3) To support the 

ambition for Edinburgh to be 

a “Million Tree City” by 2030, 

ensuring continuing 

Executive 

Director of 

Place 

January 

2021 

 

P
age 16

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s13083/Item%209.4%20-%20Million%20Tree%20Report%20-%20FINAL.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s13083/Item%209.4%20-%20Million%20Tree%20Report%20-%20FINAL.pdf


 

Culture and Communities Committee – Rolling Actions and Log – 15 September 2020                                                                                           Page 11 of 13 

No Date Report Title Action Action 

Owner 

Expected 

completion 

date 

Comments 

investment in measures to 

protect, plant and actively 

manage the city’s trees and 

woodlands, aligning with the 

timeline of Scotland’s Forest 

Strategy;  

4) To support the 

establishment of an 

Edinburgh ‘Million Tree 

Forum’ to bring together 

principal stakeholders so that 

the city can set an updated 

vision for trees in the city, can 

better communicate its tree 

values, plant trees more 

quickly, and collectively help 

look after those already in its 

care. 

5) To support further i-

Tree Eco surveys of 

Edinburgh’s tree canopy 

cover and the ecosystem 

service benefits that its urban 

forest generates, 

communicating tree number 

P
age 17



 

Culture and Communities Committee – Rolling Actions and Log – 15 September 2020                                                                                           Page 12 of 13 

No Date Report Title Action Action 

Owner 

Expected 

completion 

date 

Comments 

and tree location data on an 

ongoing basis.  

6) To give consideration 

to using the environmental 

policies within the City Plan to 

progress the million-tree 

aspiration. 

7) To refer the report to 

the Transport and 

Environment Committee.  

8) To request that a 

report on tree numbers 

comes to the Culture and 

Communities Committee on 

an annual basis which will 

include the following: 

• Number of trees 

planted (by species) 

• Number of trees lost 

(by species) 

Thereby giving an 

understanding of how many 

P
age 18



 

Culture and Communities Committee – Rolling Actions and Log – 15 September 2020                                                                                           Page 13 of 13 

No Date Report Title Action Action 

Owner 

Expected 

completion 

date 

Comments 

trees are currently in 

Edinburgh and how close we 

are to achieving the 

aspiration of being a Million 

Tree City. 

 

P
age 19



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Culture and Communities Committee – 15 September 2020 

 

Culture and Communities Committee 
10.00am, Tuesday 15 September 2020 

Latest News 
 

New Pitches Opened at Hunters Hall Park 

The Convener of the Culture and Communities Committee, Councillor Donald Wilson, officially 
opened the new third generation (3G) pitches at Hunter’s Hall Park in January. Councillor Wilson 
was joined by children from Edina Hibs and Gold and Gray Soccer Academy along with partners 
Edinburgh Leisure and the Scottish FA to cut the ribbon and open the pitches for community use.  
The £800,000 investment, funded by Section 75 developers contributions, is the first part of a 
masterplan to develop new sports facilities at Hunter’s Hall Park. Future phases will see new 
cycling spaces developed along with further infrastructure improvements.  
 

   

 
  

Page 21

Agenda Item 6.1



Edinburgh Winter Run/BUCS national Cross Country Championships 

A very wild and windy Saturday 1 February saw over 1,000 hardy souls take part in the inaugural 
Edinburgh Winter Run event in Holyrood Park. Similar to the Great Winter Run of former years, 
this was a 5k road race round Arthur’s Seat, always a hilly challenge even without any wind. To 
make this a truly family-friendly event, there was also a family mile and a toddler dash held at the 
same time, and these events did help contribute to what was a very friendly and inclusive 
atmosphere on the day. Councillors Donald Wilson and Cammy Day both took part in the Winter 
Run, crossing the finish line together.  

  

  

At the other end of the athletics spectrum from the toddler dash, 1,657 highly-competitive 
university athletes took part in the BUCS National Cross Country Championships at the same 
venue. This was the highest-ever number of competitors in this event and is a reflection of the 
popularity of Edinburgh as an events destination, and also of the course in the spectacular 
Holyrood Park, which is rated by World Athletics as one of the five best cross country courses in 
the world. The lone piper marching along the massed ranks of gung-ho runners on the start line 
was like something out of Braveheart, and a sight to behold! 

As well as the sterling efforts of a small band of seasoned volunteers without whom this event 
could not have taken place, it is worth noting that the University of Edinburgh was a generous and 
helpful partner in this event, subsidising Winter Run entries for its staff and students, and 
providing invaluable support for the securing and delivery of the BUCS event.  

 
  

Page 22



 

City Art Centre Exhibitions 

Beneath the Surface which ran from 16 November 2019 to 1 March 2020 featured work by nine 
contemporary artists based in Scotland - Sara Brennan, Michael Craik, Eric Cruikshank, Kenneth 
Dingwall, Callum Innes, Alan Johnston, James Lumsden, Karlyn Sutherland and Andrea Walsh. 
Each of them articulated a minimalist aesthetic through abstraction in their work, ranging from 
constructions, drawings and paintings to ceramics, glass and tapestry.  This show was accompanied 
by an exciting events programme, including the popular events detailed below: 

 

On Saturday 11 January 2020, Brian Robertson, 
Curator at Zembla Gallery, chaired a discussion 
among six of the exhibiting artists. This In 
Conversation event was a unique opportunity to 
hear those artists talk about their work and the 
inspiration behind it. Despite the terrible weather 
that day this event was attended by 50 people. 

Inspired by works in Beneath the Surface, artist 
Rachel Forbes ran two charging adult 
workshops in January, one called Personal 
Narrative and Mindful Stitch (Attendees: 12) 
and the other Landscape Abstractions: A 
Window of Memory (Attendees: 14). The first 
explored the meditative and mindful potential 
of stitch. Participants made tactile mini stitch 
journals inspired by a sense of place using 
fabric collage. The later workshop encouraged 
the participants to develop an abstract 
interpretation of an important landscape to 
them through drawing and experimental mark-
making.  

 

Personal Narrative and Mindful Stitch 

 

Landscape Abstractions: A Window of Memory 

 
  

Page 23



City Art Centre Exhibitions 

 

A line, a strip, a field of colour: Tapestry Masterclass 

During the first weekend in February tapestry artist 
Fiona Hutchison ran a masterclass suitable for 
beginners and advanced students. This full day 
session examined how warp and weft of woven 
tapestry lends itself to exploring minimalism 
through lines, stripes and fields of colour, using 
wool, linen and cotton yarns. Attendees: 10. 

 

Audacious Women Festival 2020 

The 5th Audacious Women Festival (AWF) took place at the City Art Centre on 20-23 February. 
The aim of the Festival is to provide women with an opportunity to break personal, political, 
institutional barriers, and to celebrate audacious women. The majority of the activities are small, 
participative, women-only workshops many of which take place in the City Art Centre and 
encourage and support women to "Do What You Always Wish You Dared" through providing safe, 
supportive, non-critical spaces to try something new for the first time.   

Having the use of the City Art Centre has been transformational for AWF as it has provided a 
Festival hub with a small cafe/seating area where women can share ideas and experiences before 
and after the workshops and creates a sense of community that was not possible when events 
were spread over many venues in the early years. One of the most successful workshops AWF 
ran last year was Scared to Sing, for women who were told at an early age to keep their mouths 
shut during singing sessions. Joining in was a deeply emotional experience for many of the 
participants, including several who were in tears. Yet immediately afterwards eight of them stood 
in front of a group of around 30 other Festival participants and sang a song they had just been 
taught. AWF has collected many other stories of changing women's lives, for example the woman 
who was terrified of public speaking who, as a result of coming to a workshop a couple of years 
ago, now gives papers at small conferences. 

The only criteria for involvement in the Festival is that an event relates to "audacious women" so 
there is an eclectic range of topics covered. They aim to give women access to areas in which 
women are typically under-represented, or to experience an activity which they have previously 
been scared to try. Workshops in previous years for example led to around a dozen women going 
on to apply for a motor bike licence. This year events ranged from a Rope Access taster session  

 
  

Page 24



Audacious Women Festival 2020 

(a strongly male-dominated industry) to various self-empowerment workshops such as Speak to 
Be Heard which provided participants with techniques for overcoming a lack of confidence when 
speaking in groups and how to speak with conviction and power. There were other workshops 
teaching a range of skills relating to art, theatre, and physical activities to name a few. In addition 
the Festival always includes events celebrating audacious women or telling women's history, 
which are open to all. This year Witches' Gets told of the persecution of women during the 17th 
century witch trials in Norway, while InVisible Lines explored women's experience of aging, loss, 
life-cycles, seasonality, death and defiance. 

 

Black Lives Matter Protest Placards 

Museums and Galleries Edinburgh have acquired a significant donation of placards made for, and 
used at, the Black Lives Matter static protest held in Holyrood Park in June. Curator Anna 
MacQuarrie worked with the protest organisers to secure this important acquisition. Work is 
ongoing to catalogue, assess for conservation, and accession them before they are added to the 
permanent collections held in the Museum Collections Centre, when venue access is permitted. 
Cataloguing and assessment work is being undertaken virtually between staff, as far as is 
possible. The placards will form part of Museums and Galleries Edinburgh’s ‘Protest and Reform’ 
collection, sitting alongside banners and placards covering some hundreds of years of political 
and social activism history in the city.  

 

Museums and Galleries Update 

Due to the Covid-19 pandemic museums and galleries were closed as part of the wider lockdown to 
prevent the spread of the disease.  This meant that scheduled exhibitions for 2020 have been 
cancelled.  A number of these have been rescheduled to 2021, and we are delighted to be able to 
work towards the re-opening of the City Art Centre on 12 September with an exhibition celebrating 
the 40th Anniversary of the City Art Centre (see article below).  

 
  

Page 25



Museums and Galleries Update 

During 2021 the City Art Centre will host the following exhibitions postponed from 2020: 

Marine - Ian Hamilton Finlay  

 
 Ian Hamilton Finlay (with Patrick Caulfield), Marine, 1968. 

© The Estate of Ian Hamilton Finlay. 

Charles Hodge Mackie 

 
Credit: Charles H. Mackie, There were Three Maidens pu’d a Flower (By the Bonnie Banks o’ Fordie), c.1897. 
City Art Centre, Museums and Galleries Edinburgh 

Further information on these exhibitions will be provided in the Bulletin for the next meeting of the 
Culture and Communities Committee. 

The Travelling Gallery exhibitions scheduled for 2020 have also been rescheduled to take place in 
2021: 

Situated: Place, Art, Collection 

Shapes of Water  

 
  

Page 26



 

City Art Centre Marks its 40th Anniversary 

Having first opened its doors on 15 August 1980, heralded as combining ‘Scotland’s largest air-
conditioned fine art exhibition space, with specialist environmental and security facilities…a must 
for the display of world masterpieces’ – Edinburgh’s City Art Centre is celebrating its 40th 
anniversary. Over the past 40 years the City Art Centre has staged over 500 exhibitions, shown 
priceless treasures from across the world and welcomed 100,000’s of visitors through its doors 
and is now a well-established, respected and cherished Scottish cultural resource.  

To mark the anniversary, the City Art Centre is mounting a special ‘highlights’ exhibition from the 
City’s collection of Scottish art, set to open in mid-September. Widely recognized as being one of 
the finest in the country, the collection numbers over 5,000 works of art ranging from some of the 
earliest views of Edinburgh to works by many of Scotland’s leading contemporary artists. In 
addition, the gallery has created a ‘curation’ on the Art UK website, where former members of 
staff, critics, and gallery directors have all chosen their favourite painting or sculpture from the 
collection. You can view it here: http://ow.ly/UwPO50B1zPf 

 

Crowds line the street to see The Gold of the Pharaohs exhibition in 1988  

 

Covid-19 Contemporary Collecting Project 

In the months since the Covid-19 Contemporary Collecting project was launched in April, we have 
had a wealth of offers of donation to our museum collections, ranging from hand-written daily jokes 
posted outside everyday by a 12 year old girl, to a shopping list shared between a 92 year old man, 
shielding, and his neighbour who brought him his messages. Each and every donation has had a 
deeply personal story to go along with it and speaks to the community effort of the past few months, 
as well as the extreme challenges faced. Museums and Galleries have also worked with 

 
  Page 27

http://ow.ly/UwPO50B1zPf
http://ow.ly/UwPO50B1zPf


Covid-19 Contemporary Collecting Project 

local businesses and community groups to acquire spare Personal Protective Equipment materials 
from those being distributed to frontline workers, including distillery-produced hand sanitiser bottles, 
face shields and fabric face coverings. The project has continued to garner interest within the 
museums sector, with curator Anna MacQuarrie being asked to speak at online events, including 
one held by Museums Galleries Scotland, and another held by a nationwide Contemporary 
Collecting specialist interest group. We have also worked in partnership with the University of 
Edinburgh on an oral history project to capture video memories of lockdown 
(https://lothianlockdown.org/), which will be added to our extensive oral history archives in due 
course. 

    

 

Collections Inventory and Review Project 

The Collections Inventory and Review project began in earnest in October 2019, starting with 
collections relating to Edinburgh’s coastal communities at Newhaven and Queensferry. During 
lockdown, we have not been able to access the collections, but thankfully we get to our collections 
database while working from home. Just as we miss those people we love who we have not been 
able to see during lockdown, so we miss the familiar welcome of our stores and collections. 
However, the past four months have presented curators and collections staff with a unique 
opportunity to carry an astonishing amount of collections research and information cleaning. 
Collectively, the team working on the collections review has researched and recorded over 500 
stories from our collections and tidied, cleaned, improved and enhanced over 40,000 records on our 
database. This means the information we have is more accurate, consistent and easier to find 
which will in turn make our collections enquiries service run smoother, and greatly improve our 
accountability for the wonderful collections we hold. 

We have also been working on planning for the launch online of the public facing side of the project 
using a revamped blog page on the Museums and Galleries Museums website. This is anticipated 
to take place later this summer, and in preparation, the team have created 20+ podcasts, videos 
and blogs for engaging with our audiences online. Watch out for more on the project online, 
including the project’s official name and brand.  

 
  

Page 28

https://lothianlockdown.org/
https://lothianlockdown.org/


Collections Inventory and Review Project 

Highlights are too many to list, but range from a history of street cleaning in Edinburgh (from the 
days of “Gardy Loo” to the first mechanised water butt in 1935), the myths and stories depicted in 
Lauriston Castle’s fascinating 18th century prints, needlework as formal education for young girls, 
and a teddy bear belonging to a Victorian militia regiment! 

 

 

Cultural Venues Update 

From the time that lockdown measures were announced, the Cultural Venues responded to a large 
volume of requests to either cancel or move concerts and events back to the Autumn of 2020 or 
later. As lockdown measures have continued this process has continued with the result that £2.27m 
in potential revenue has been moved to within the period October 2020 to July 2021 – artists such 
as Foals, Goldfrapp, Paul Weller and dance troupe Diversity. Staff continue to work with key partner 
such as the Royal Scottish National Orchestra, the Scottish Chamber Orchestra, Edinburgh 
International Festival, and the Love Music Choir to provide suitable alternative dates and schedules 
for use of our venues. 

  

 
  

Page 29



Cultural Venues Update 

A report was presented to the Policy and Sustainability Committee on Thursday 28 May 2020, 
outlining the case to reschedule the Edinburgh Summer Sessions concerts due to take place in 
August, to August 2021. The recommendations of the report were approved (agenda item 6.7). This 
enables artist such as Sir Tom Jones, Lionel Ritchie and Travis, to reschedule dates in line with 
other cities and audiences were able to transfer their tickets to future dates. 

 

Some of our venues were made available to support partners delivering alternative programmes of 
work. The Edinburgh International Book Festival was able to use the Assembly Rooms as suitable 
space in which to create Covid-19 compliant film studios and broadcast an exciting and diverse 
range of speakers and content. More information can be found at www.edbookfest.co.uk  

 

  

 
  

Page 30

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5512&Ver=4
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5512&Ver=4
http://www.edbookfest.co.uk/
http://www.edbookfest.co.uk/


Cultural Venues Update 

The Edinburgh International Festival presented a city-wide visual display under the title of My Light 
Shines. Beacons of light were visible across the city which marked out famous festival venues and 
settings after dark from 8–10 August. More details can be found at www.eif.co.uk and there is a one 
hour documentary available at https://www.bbc.co.uk/iplayer/episode/m000lw7v/edinburgh-2020-
my-light-shines-on as well as on YouTube. 

 

Officers were involved in creating and shaping the Scottish Government’s sector guidelines for 
Performing Art and Venues in relation to operating within CV-19 parameters. These were published 
on Friday 21 August and details can be sourced at https://www.gov.scot/publications/coronavirus-
covid-19-guidance-for-the-performing-arts-and-venues-sector/ and will support the road map to 
returning to full capacity while protecting public health. 

 

Edinburgh Culture Map Project Launched 

The launch of Edinburgh’s cultural map took place on Friday 28 August 2020. 

The Edinburgh cultural map displays cultural spaces and their contexts in local communities 
across the city, offering an alternative perspective of our city’s culture that looks beyond high-
profile institutions and previously established tourist hubs.  The event thanked everyone who took 
part in the map’s creation, demonstrated how it works and its various features, and sought valued 
feedback.  The project will continue to welcome feedback and input.  

 

St Andrews Day Fair Saturday 

The city again welcomes the return of St. Andrew’s Day Fair Saturday this year.  The programme 
is being finalised, and many performances may take place in the digital realm, so keep an eye on 
developments and events in your area via https://www.scotland.org/events/st-andrews-day/fair-
saturday.  

  Page 31

http://www.eif.co.uk/
http://www.eif.co.uk/
https://www.bbc.co.uk/iplayer/episode/m000lw7v/edinburgh-2020-my-light-shines-on
https://www.bbc.co.uk/iplayer/episode/m000lw7v/edinburgh-2020-my-light-shines-on
https://www.bbc.co.uk/iplayer/episode/m000lw7v/edinburgh-2020-my-light-shines-on
https://www.bbc.co.uk/iplayer/episode/m000lw7v/edinburgh-2020-my-light-shines-on
https://www.gov.scot/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-guidance-for-the-performing-arts-and-venues-sector/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-guidance-for-the-performing-arts-and-venues-sector/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-guidance-for-the-performing-arts-and-venues-sector/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-guidance-for-the-performing-arts-and-venues-sector/
https://www.edinburghculturalmap.org/
https://www.edinburghculturalmap.org/
https://www.scotland.org/events/st-andrews-day/fair-saturday
https://www.scotland.org/events/st-andrews-day/fair-saturday
https://www.scotland.org/events/st-andrews-day/fair-saturday
https://www.scotland.org/events/st-andrews-day/fair-saturday


 

Building Capacity Through New Cycling Training 

The Sport and Outdoor (S&OL) Learning Team is leading the way in Scotland in delivering a 
relatively new suite of CyclingUK training modules. In January, staff from the Council’s Benmore 
and Bangholm Outdoor Centres delivered the Mountain Bike Trail Leader, Night Riding and 
Expedition modules.  Participants included Centre staff and trainee instructors. The S&OL Team 
will shortly be offering the modules to Council staff, volunteers and partners via a new professional 
development offer. This is designed to build capacity; deliver regular and progressive affordable 
outdoor learning; and support the development of cycling across the City. It links in well to the 
Council’s commitment to reducing inequality; improving health and wellbeing; and meeting the 
net-zero carbon target.  

  

 

Blackhall - Goalball 

Blackhall Primary School have set up a new 
sports club for pupils with visual impairments 
across Edinburgh. Sarah Goulding, parent at 
Blackhall came up with the idea and working 
with Active Schools, Lothian Disability Sport and 
Scottish Disability Sport, a plan was put in place 
for training needs, funding and how best to 
publicise the sessions. The funding bid was 
successful, and the project was granted £548 
from Blackhall Sports Committee for equipment. 
The first session was delivered on Friday 24 
January and was a great success! We look 
forward to introducing more children with a visual 
impairment to Goalball!  

 

Page 32



 

Craigmillar Tapestry Project 

The Craigmillar Tapestry Project was awarded £5,000 from the City of Edinburgh Council and the 
Royal Edinburgh Military Tattoo in December 2018. The purpose of the funding was the delivery of 
a community art project, resulting in seven embroidered tapestry panels made by the Craigmillar 
community. The project was overseen by Connecting Craigmillar, a local community development 
project, with support from a member of the Council’s Lifelong Learning Team. The worker for 
Connecting Craigmillar organised stitching workshops throughout the course of 2019, supported 
the community in their involvement, and promoted the initiative locally. World renowned Tapestry 
Artist Andrew Crummy delivered seven designs for the panels, each based on a different aspect 
of Craigmillar’s culture and history. The designs include images of Craigmillar Castle, the Niddrie 
Stone, the Violin / Symbol of Craigmillar Festival Society and the local statue of Helen Crummy, 
who was one of the founders of the Craigmillar Festival Society. 

There were approximately 65 hours of stitching workshops delivered overall by the textile artist 
Dorie Wilkie, to members of the community as well as students at Castlebrae High School and 
Castleview Primary School. Parents and carers at Castleview also participated in the workshops 
and stitching. The aim of the workshops was to teach different embroidery techniques which could 
be applied to the tapestries. Six of the tapestry panels have been passed around to be worked 
upon by members of the community, and the two schools worked specifically on a panel about 
Agnes Moffat, a child coal bearer in Craigmillar, whose testimony contributed towards a change in 
law around women and children working in coal mines. The parents and children from Castleview 
Primary School focused on the rights of the child in their stitching themes. Three community 
events were held throughout the course of 2019 to promote the project locally: a launch in 
February 2019, June 2019 - as part of Thistle’s 75th anniversary celebrations and a celebration of 
the progress and completion of some of the panels. 

Lifelong Learning supported all above events and helped recruit participants, especially from the 
local and Syrian Refugee community. In addition to the Scottish local images multiculturalism is 
reflected in the borders of some of the panels – for example a Kurdish and African panel border. 

It has been a wonderful project bringing young and old together, learning new skills, developing 
creativity as well as celebrating local creative talent and sharing different cultures.  

Funding for Phase 2 of the project has been applied for.  

 

Craigmillar Tapestry – violin panel (designed by Andrew Crummy) at Castleview Primary celebration event, 
5 December 2019 

Page 33



 

Granton Community Centre Public Artwork – “Many Hands Make a Community” 

The Royston Wardieburn Community Centre has a new public artwork proudly on display in the 
centre’s foyer entrance. The artwork was installed in December and is a legacy of the 
community’s creative achievements and a successful example of partnership work delivered by 
local voluntary organisations and Lifelong Learning, who worked together co-producing a 
multicultural festival and participative art project in the heart of Granton during October 2019.  The 
Art Project ran over a four-week duration, leading up to a one-day community celebration which 
engaged the community in a programme of music, dance, crafts and food tasters. The purpose of 
the art project was to make decorations for the main hall and engage local groups in the making 
process.  A series of 14 artist lead workshops were devised to reach out to groups of local 
children, young people, parents and older people who had the opportunity to learn how to make 
felt, making elements of the design or helped to construct of the larger artwork. The workshops 
were facilitated by Inspiral Arts artists, who were commissioned to come up with the original 
designs inspire by a “multicultural, one world theme”.   

The community groups which participated in the workshop programme included the Pilton 
Community Health Projects Chat Café, the community centres youth and children’s clubs, the 
Granton Youth Centres Friday club, the Spring Chickens 60+ group, Granton Library families 
group and the Granton Community Gardeners Community meals, held in in the Granton Parish 
church. A total of 75 people of all ages were engaged in the making workshops and each person 
had the chance to make their own felt hand which was incorporated into the final art piece called 
“Many Hands Makes a Community”. Thanks to the CEC events fund, the community centre 
management committee and partners who deliver a fantastic celebratory event, bringing 250+ 
members of the community together, to socialise and celebrate the Granton areas uniqueness 
and cultural diversity, bringing young and old, established and new residents together!   

 
  

Page 34



 

Granton Community Centre Public Artwork – “Many Hands Make a Community” 

The newly installed public artwork is a bold and colourful statement feature, which has proved 
popular and made an impact on the centre users and visitors.  A credit to the artists Craig Betney 
and Jenny Muirhead for their excellent design and workshops and thanks to all the 75 people who 
contributed to making the art piece. “Many Hands Make a Community!” will be enjoyed and seen 
by the wider community and by centre users for many years to come. 

 

 

Public Spaces Management Plan  

The following broad actions arising from the report to Committee on 28 January 2020, 
Development of a Public Space Management Plan (PSMP) are being progressed by an officer 
Project Team who are developing the draft PSMP for consultation:  

• Developing a clear description of the type and situation of public space (roads, pavements, 
squares, parks) that can be considered for events; 

• Mapping areas by type and acceptable use for that location; 

• Establishing and defining acceptable levels of event impact to the adjacent community; 

• Defining a major event by impact on the space/community; 

• Creating a ‘single point of the truth’ including all approved events, event applications and 
marches/parades; 

• Creating a single application form that includes where possible, or links to, permits, 
licences etc;  

 
  

Page 35

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=139&MId=454&Ver=4
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=139&MId=454&Ver=4


Public Spaces Management Plan  

• Exploring opportunities to curate/procure more events directly; 

• Reviewing the ‘Hit the Right Note’ guide for buskers in Edinburgh and defining appropriate 
methods of managing busking; 

• Identifying options to design in electricity supply points for events and activities and 
investigating the feasibility of using rechargeable energy packs; 

• Ensuring controls to protect the primary use of Public Space are effective and appropriate; 

• Ensuring applications for events include mitigations for the impact of that event; 

• Refining the application form so applications/applicants for events identify any potential 
damage to the space and include reinstatement measures/bond to rectify; 

• Establishing different charging levels for community and commercial, exploring the 
opportunity for commercial event charges to subsidise community events; 

• Listing the licence, permit, permissions etc that apply to the use of public spaces. 
Identifying the controls these licences, permits, permissions etc provide and identifying the 
resource/mechanism to enforce these controls; 

• Identifying any gaps in controls, regulations or resource; 

• Producing guides for the use of space, including rig and de-rig, application process, for 
each type of event; 

• Exploring opportunities to use a web-based platform to be a ‘single source of the truth’; and 

• Reviewing Park Management Rules. 

A presentation and open discussion on development of the draft Public Space Management Plan 
was had by the Festival and Events All Party Oversight Group on 18 August 2020. The complexity 
was noted and a desire to ensure the management plan promotes inclusivity, is clear, 
unambiguous and straightforward, so it and decisions coming from it are easily understood. It was 
agreed to hold discussions with stakeholders to further develop and refine the draft, before 
bringing it to this committee to approve for wider consultation. The final Public Space 
Management Plan will then be brought to this committee for approval. 

 

Saughton Park Restoration Project Update 

The Parks, Greenspace and Cemeteries service has successfully restored Saughton Park and 
gardens to its former glory as a major visitor destination that showcases horticultural excellence 
and innovative sustainable energy solutions, offers exceptional recreational and visitor facilities, 
opportunities for learning and volunteering, and engenders a sense of pride in the neighbouring 
communities.  As well as redesigning tired floral beds and borders, the project included restoration 
of the walled and winter garden, restoration of the stables as a new community venue and base 
for our partners, the Royal Caledonian Horticultural Society, building a new café and public toilets 

 
  

Page 36



Saughton Park Restoration Project Update 

facilities, improving play and exercise facilities, installing ground source heat pump and micro 
hydro energy features, and developing circuit routes for walking, running and health activities. The 
park and gardens were officially opened on 6 June 2019 by HRH Princess Anne.  

The micro-hydro energy contract was completed in February this year. The power generated has 
been used to support newly installed ground-source heat pumps, meaning that all the energy use 
on the site is from sustainable sources. To date, an additional 40MH of power has been fed back 
to the grid, giving a carbon saving of 7400kg. 

An Activity Officer was also appointed in February, with responsibility for delivering the Activity 
Action Plan. He has liaised with potential site hirers/users and activity providers, including the 
National Trust for Scotland, Edinburgh Music College, SRUC Oatridge, the Water of Leith 
Conservation Trust, and beekeeping groups. He is also developing volunteer activity tasks/packs 
for community and corporate volunteers, as well as creating the Saughton Park Tours and Talks 
booking programme. 

As a result of Covid-19 containment measures we initially closed the walled garden and 
associated buildings to the public, and planned events, tours and volunteer activities were 
cancelled. Although the walled garden, courtyard toilets and café have subsequently re-opened, 
the McHattie Room, office and Winter Garden remain closed until further notice. Since June, some 
volunteer horticultural activity has resumed, included watering and weeding and maintaining the 
community Orchard and Physic Garden. The charity ABC Cycling has also been lending bicycles 
to key workers and regular all-ability users from purposefully installed facilities in the park. 

The Garden Bistro adapted and implemented various processes in line with Covid-19 guidelines, 
operating a takeaway service since 23 June and outdoor dining since 6 July. The team of 25 staff 
has serviced over 5000 dining covers to date, an incredible success in a very testing operating 
environment.  

Since the easing of lockdown there has also been a marked increase in use of the two car parks, 
with particular pressure on the Balgreen car park. Yellow lining, signage directing traffic to the 
Fords Road car park and TTROs have been introduced to help manage the demand and 
consequential impacts; but continuing demand means that more permanent solutions are under 
consideration. 

The park and gardens have recently been judged for the national Green Flag Award. We 
anticipate learning the outcome in September. 

Thirteen CCTV cameras are also to be installed across the site in September to help tackle 
ongoing antisocial behaviour and vandalism.  

The current management plan is currently being re-written, along with a marketing plan to 
enhance income generation and increase volunteer numbers and activities. We aim to re-start our 
event and activity programme once government guidelines permit, as well as introduce a 
horticultural training programme for Council staff, volunteers and other organisations. 

 
  

Page 37



 

Water of Leith Valley Improvement – Dean Valley Walkway  

The community led Dean Valley Regeneration Ltd (DVRL) has produced a series of studies and 
feasibility reports, and undertaken a number of consultation activities, to identify and cost the 
principal works required to renew the Water of Leith walkway and its associated features between 
Stockbridge and Dean Village. This identified an overall investment requirement (exclusive of 
VAT) of £1,921,000, including contingency; £1,326,000 capital and landscape works; £150,000 
interpretation; £100,000 activity, £120,000 project management; £75,000 project development; 
£150,000 inflation.  

To fund agreed works and community activities, a partnership comprising DVRL, City of 
Edinburgh Council, Edinburgh World Heritage, and the Water of Leith Conservation Trust 
collectively submitted an Expression of Interest to the National Lottery Heritage Fund (NLHF) for a 
total contribution of £960,500. However, the NLHF responded on 23 January 2020 stating that, at 
this time, they will not be inviting a submission to their National Lottery Grants for Heritage for this 
project. 

The DVRL committee has now closed the charity. The Council retains the study and feasibility 
reports and will seek to deliver key elements of works as and when resources become available. 

 

Dean Path Landslip Update 

The litigation of this matter has now been concluded and an agreement reached to allow remedial 
works to be carried out. 

The primary design team and sub-contractors have been identified and are in the process of 
finalising the technical scheme. Planning, environmental and tree removal consents have been 
requested. 

The works will ultimately clear the slope, stabilise it and the upslope property, and reinstate the path 
along the bank of the Water of Leith. These works include but are not be limited to: 

- Clearance of debris and vegetation on the slope; 

- Soil nailing and piling on the main slope and concrete foundations within the neighbouring, 
upslope property to stabilise the land; 

 
  

Page 38



Dean Path Landslip Update 

- Reinstatement of concrete foundations of the upslope property; 

- Repair and reinstatement of the footpath located along the Water of Leith affected by the land 
slip. This includes the rebuild of gabion baskets next to the water course and the reinstatement 
of the post and rail fencing; 

- Remedial landscaping; and 

- Installation of external drainage. 

Due to the impact of Covid-19 on construction works, a commencement date has not yet been 
confirmed and will be determined in line with government guidance. It is anticipated that the on-site 
time for these works will span approximately 26 weeks. Committee will be kept updated on progress 
as a date for the commencement of the work is finalised.  

 

Floral Meadows in South West Locality 

Edinburgh Living Landscape 

The Edinburgh Living Landscape is a partnership project that creates, restores and connects 
green areas of the city to make attractive and biodiverse landscapes. Landscapes will be healthy, 
nature rich and resilient to climate change. The project involves measures such as: 

• Creating floral meadows; 

• reducing how often some areas of grass are cut and allowing natural grassland to thrive; 

• mowing pathways through areas of longer grass so they can still be explored and enjoyed; 

• planting trees and creating woodlands; 

• increasing our use of herbaceous perennial planting; and 

• planting bulbs.  

Allowing grassland habitats to develop in a more natural manner in urban settings by reducing 
grass cutting or sowing flowering plants offers: 

• increased biodiversity as birds, mammals and insects are attracted to wilder or more 
natural areas; 

• reduced costs of maintained areas of grassland; 

• added colour to the cityscape as we plant flowering species; and 

• reduces CO2 release due to less cutting, which also helps lock-up carbon in soils.  

 
  

Page 39



Floral Meadows in South West Locality 

Floral Meadows in South West Locality 2020  

Since the introduction of the Living Landscape programme in 2015 there have been a total of 32 
meadow sites sown in the South West Locality. Out of these 32 sites, three have been removed 
from the programme entirely and returned to grass.  Five sites were rested in 2019 and a further 
two sites were scheduled to be rested in the 2020 growing season.  This is due to a number of 
factors in maintaining the quality of the meadow site and is an approach that is replicated across 
other meadow locations in the city.  

Due to Covid restrictions in Spring 2020 the planned 20 annual meadow sites were not re-sown 
and simply left to bloom throughout the growing season, leaving only the existing two perennial 
meadow sites located in Saughton Park.  A full list of the 32 sites mentioned and their current 
status are contained in the table below. We intend to carry out a review of all our meadow sites 
across the city prior to the 2021 growing season with the intention to follow the 2020 meadow 
sowing plan from Spring 2021 instead. 

 

 Locality   
Meadow number South West   

SW1 Bloomiehill Park  KEY 

SW2 East Harrison Park (strip at canal)  

Planned 
2021 sites 

SW3 East Harrison Park (2 small areas)  Rested Site 
SW4 East Harrison Park (at Banking)  Removed Site 
SW5 Muirwood Park   
SW6 Whinhill Park   
SW7 Whinhill Park   
SW8 Stenhouse Place East   
SW9 Sighthill Park   

SW10 Sighthill Park    
SW11 Redhall Park (at play area)   

    
 

 
  

Page 40



Floral Meadows in SW Locality 

 Locality   
Meadow number South West   

SW12 Redhall Park (at banking)   
SW13 Redhall Park (at Memorial)   
SW14 Hailes Quarry Park   
SW15 Saughton Park    
SW16 Saughton Park    
SW17 Spylaw Park   
SW18 Meadowspot Park   
SW19 Fairmilehead Park   
SW20 Drumbryden   
SW21 Hailes Avenue   
SW22 Nether Curry Primary School   
SW23 Marchbank Park   
SW24 Alexander Place   
SW25 Balgreen Roundabout   
SW26 Greenways   
SW27 Stenhouse Cross Roundabout   
SW28 Broomhouse Power Station   
SW29 Harrison Park (small beds)   
SW30 Polwarth area   
SW31 Murieston Park   
SW32 Calders   

    
 

 

Edinburgh Leisure Plans for Reopening 

Edinburgh Leisure have recently reopened a number of facilities and, at the time of writing, are 
preparing for further opening of facilities.  A summary of these arrangement is provided below: 

Golf: The four 18-hole courses opened on 4 June 2020 and the two 9-hole courses on 1 July 
2020. Operating arrangements reflect guidance from the Scottish Government and Scottish Golf 
Union. A number of changes were introduced to ensure a safe environment for customers and 
staff and also to deliver operational efficiencies. 

Outdoor Tennis: The Meadows tennis courts opened on 29 May 2020 and the outdoor tennis 
courts at Craiglockhart opened on 15July 2020. Circa 200 clubs use Edinburgh Leisure and the 
high school sport facilities. Our working assumption (as advised by CEC colleagues) is that there 
will be no community access to the school facilities until October at the earliest. 

Outdoor Sports: There has been ongoing dialogue with relevant national governing bodies of 
sport re accessing facilities. 

Access (all on pre booked and restricted basis) to four venues for cricket and one venue for 
athletics, started back on 1 August 2020 and 3 August 2020 respectively.  

 
  

Page 41



Edinburgh Leisure Plans for Reopening 

Other outdoor sports clubs were contacted at the end of July and asked to advise on their 
requirements for the period 24 August to 18 October 2020 (taking cognisance of the relevant 
return to sport guidance prepared by the national governing bodies of sport and Sportscotland). A 
temporary extended let/regular booking programme has been put in place. Pitch venues currently 
in use are: Meggetland, Saughton, Jack Kane Centre, Duddingston, Gyle, Campbell Park, 
Roseburn, Colinton Mains and Inverleith (the latter four venues on a key holder basis). This 
continues to be developed subject to demand.  

Indoor Venues: The Royal Commonwealth Pool, Drumbrae Leisure Centre, Ainslie Park Leisure 
Centre, Craiglockhart Tennis and Sport Centre, Gracemount Leisure Centre and Leith Victoria 
Swim Centre all opening on 14 September 2020. The venues will initially have a reduced 
programme of activities, the focus being on: gym, fitness classes, lane swimming sessions, 
badminton, tennis and club bookings (all as per Scottish Government and Sportscotland 
Guidance).  

Details available on Edinburgh Leisure website: https://www.edinburghleisure.co.uk/fitness-at-
home/reopening-plans  

 

Update on Libraries and Community Centres 

Libraries  

While we all want to see our libraries up and running again, our top priority is the health of 
residents and colleagues.   

How we safely manage the reopening of any of our services is directed by Scottish Government 
guidance. We also need to take into account that each library has its own specific considerations. 
In planning the re-opening of Edinburgh's library buildings, we have considered different 
approaches adopted by our colleagues in many services across Scotland, and further afield in 
England, Northern Ireland and Europe. 

We are confident that opening our buildings in this phased approach follows the Scottish 
Government guidelines and maintains health, safety and comfort for our staff and customers. 

The first phase of opening will see a selection of library buildings across the city reopening (target 
date of Tuesday 13 October), offering limited access to browsing and lending, public access 
computers, support for national entitlement card applications, printing and photocopying services, 
collection of Hey Girls free sanitary protection and hearing aid batteries. As you might expect, 
numbers within buildings will be limited, social distancing measures will be in place and some 
services will only be available by booking in advance.  

The six libraries are Central, Kirkliston, McDonald Road, Fountainbridge, Stockbridge and 
Newington.  

Further information on dates, times and how to book your visit will be advertised shortly.  

 
  

Page 42

https://www.edinburghleisure.co.uk/fitness-at-home/reopening-plans
https://www.edinburghleisure.co.uk/fitness-at-home/reopening-plans
https://www.edinburghleisure.co.uk/fitness-at-home/reopening-plans
https://www.edinburghleisure.co.uk/fitness-at-home/reopening-plans
https://www.gov.scot/coronavirus-covid-19/
https://www.gov.scot/coronavirus-covid-19/
https://www.gov.scot/coronavirus-covid-19/
https://www.gov.scot/coronavirus-covid-19/


Update on Libraries and Community Centres 

Community Centres  

So far Management Committees at four centres have applied for the defined reopening purposes. 
All have been approved to reopen for these purposes.  

 
 
  

Page 43



 
Culture and Communities Committee 
 

 

Convener 
Councillor Donald Wilson 

 

Vice-Convenor 
Councillor Amy Mcneese-Mechan 

 

Members Contact 

 
Councillor Wilson (Convener) 
Councillor McNeese-Mechan (Vice-Convener) 
Councillor Brown 
Councillor Doggart 
Councillor Doran 
Councillor Howie 
Councillor Mitchell 
Councillor Osler 
Councillor Rae 
Councillor Staniforth 

 
Lynne Halfpenny 
Director of Culture 
Telephone 0131 529 3657 
 
Andy Gray 
Head of Schools and Lifelong Learning 
Communities and Families 
Telephone 0131 529 2217 
 
Gareth Barwell 
Head of Place Management 
Telephone 0131 529 5844 
 
Natalie Le Couteur 
Committee Services 
Telephone 0131 529 6160 

 

Page 44



 

 
Culture and Communities Committee 
 

10.00am, Tuesday, 15 September 2020 

Cemetery Tour Guide Operator Registration Scheme 

Executive/routine Executive 
Wards All 
Council Commitments  

 

1. Recommendations 

1.1 It is recommended that the Culture and Communities Committee: 

1.1.1 notes the contents of this report; and 

1.1.2 approves that a Cemetery Tour Guide Operator Registration Scheme be 
introduced with a code of conduct and request for a donated contribution to 
cemetery maintenance.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Paul Lawrence 

Executive Director of Place 

Contact: Robbie Beattie, Scientific Bereavement and Registration Services Senior 
Manager  

E-mail: robbie.beattie@edinburgh.gov.uk  | Tel: 0131 555 7980 

Page 45

Agenda Item 7.1

mailto:robbie.beattie@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:robbie.beattie@edinburgh.gov.uk


 
Report 
 

Cemetery Tour Guide Operator Registration Scheme 

2. Executive Summary 

2.1 Council cemeteries are poignant places of reflection and remembrance. But they 
also offer a haven for wildlife and fauna as part of our green environment which 
many have discovered using their greenspace for exercise during Covid-19 
restrictions.  

2.2 The city has five wonderful historic city centre graveyards in the UNESCO World 
Heritage area. Three of those at Canongate, Greyfriars and Old Calton are 
Category A listed for the national significance of their monuments, memorials and 
walls. These cemeteries require expensive ongoing conservation and maintenance 
to keep them safe. They are also popular with visitors with around 600,000 to 
700,000 people visiting Greyfriars Cemetery annually.  

2.3 Organised walking tours, which include a visit to one of the historic cemeteries as 
part of the itinerary, charge between £10 to £20 per person. Currently there is no 
contribution by these commercial enterprises to the maintenance of the cemeteries 
visited as part of their business.  

2.4 It is proposed in this report that a Cemetery Tour Guide Operator Registration 
Scheme be introduced which includes a donation towards the maintenance of 
cemeteries.      

.  

3. Background 

3.1 The council own and operate 39 cemeteries across the city. 

3.1.1 five historical city centre cemeteries; 

3.1.2 20 non-operational cemeteries; and  

3.1.3 14 operational cemeteries where coffin burials still take place. 

3.2 As a consequence of section 32 of the Church of Scotland (Property and 
Endowments) Act 1925 a number of churchyards became the responsibility of the 
council to maintain. Section 33 of the Act allows for families that own monuments 
within the churchyards to continue to pay for their maintenance.  

Page 46



3.3 Due to the passage of time the Council does not have contact details for most of the 
monument owners making it difficult to apportion costs.     

3.4 Pre Covid-19, the death rate in Edinburgh had fallen in the last 20 years from 
around 5,000 to 4,200 per annum. In addition, of those dying more were choosing 
cremation rather than burial with only around 15% of funerals conducted by the 
Council being burials (there are also private crematoria and cemeteries in 
Edinburgh).  

3.5 This demographic change has reduced the relative income generated by the 
cemetery service which has 39 cemeteries to maintain including the five historic city 
centre graveyards. 

3.6 A manual count of visitors to Greyfriars Cemetery pre-Covid19 was conducted on 
Thursday 20 and Friday 21 February 2020. The weather was cool, wet and windy 
and outside the main festival periods, so could be considered low season for tourist 
activity. The average footfall count across both days was 1,600, which on a linear 
extrapolation would translate to around 600,000 visitors per year. 

3.7 An automatic count of visitors 24 hours per day to Greyfriars Cemetery post-
Covid19 lockdown was conducted between Thursday 13 and Saturday 22 August 
2020. The weather was a mixture of sunshine and showers and Scottish students 
had returned to school from summer holidays.  

3.8 The average daily footfall in this snap shot was 1,548 with a peak hourly rate of 330 
visitors on Saturday 22 August between Noon and 1.00pm. 

3.9 A chart at Figure 3.9 of Greyfriars Cemetery average visitors per hour shows 
distinct visitor peaks between Noon to 1.00pm and 2.00pm to 3.00pm. There is a 
small rise in visitor numbers between 7.00pm to 9.00pm and continues up to 
midnight as graveyard and ghost tours pass through the cemetery.  

 
Figure 3.9 – Greyfriars Cemetery Average Visitors 

3.10 A chart at Figure 3.10 of Greyfriars Cemetery visitors per day between Thursday 13 
and Saturday 22 August 2020 shows significant daily footfall with Saturday being 
the most popular day for a visit. 

Page 47



 
Figure 3.10 – Chart of Greyfriars Cemetery Daily Visitors 

3.11 The largest daily visitor count in this small snap shot was 2,251. Using the average 
daily footfall count across the period of 1,548 this would on a linear extrapolation 
translate to around 565,000 visitors per year. 

3.12 Both the manual and automatic snap shot counts suggest an annual foot fall of 
around 600,000 per year. However, both measurements were taken outside the 
peaks of the normal summer and winter festivals so actual visitor numbers are likely 
to be higher. 

 

4. Main report 

4.1 The six key strategic objectives of the cemetery service are provision of: 

4.1.1 safe spaces; 

4.1.2 poignant places of remembrance and reflection; 

4.1.3 cemeteries managed in compliance with Burials and Cremations (Scotland) 
Act; 

4.1.4 sufficient space to bury the dead; 

4.1.5 environmental greenspace linked to Thriving Green Spaces Project; and 

4.1.6 managed historic world heritage site cemeteries. 

Management of historic UNESCO world heritage site cemeteries  

4.2 This report seeks to address the strategic objective of management of the historic 
UNESCO world heritage site cemeteries. There are five historic cemeteries, namely 
Canongate, Greyfriars, St Cuthbert’s, Old Calton and New Calton. Three of those at 
Canongate, Greyfriars and Old Calton are Category A listed. In 2010 they were 
placed on the World Monuments Watch list. In 2013 Dr Susan Buckham, an expert 
on graveyards at Edinburgh World Heritage, published a detailed 49 page report.   

Page 48

https://www.wmf.org/project/edinburgh-historic-graveyards
https://www.wmf.org/project/edinburgh-historic-graveyards
https://www.wmf.org/sites/default/files/article/pdfs/Edinburgh%20Graveyards%20Project.pdf
https://www.wmf.org/sites/default/files/article/pdfs/Edinburgh%20Graveyards%20Project.pdf


4.3 It is estimated from snap shot counts that around 600,000 to 700,000 people visit 
Greyfriars Cemetery for reasons that include Greyfriars Bobby, graves linked to 
Harry Potter characters and Ghost Tours.  

4.4 Repairs at Old Calton Cemetery recently cost more than £100,000 and it is 
anticipated that ongoing repairs at Greyfriars Cemetery will cost a similar amount. 
The cemetery service has an annual non-staff budget of around £15,000 to improve 
cemeteries which is insufficient to maintain the number of aging cemeteries of 
historical importance that the Council own.   

4.5 The significant footfall through some cemeteries such as Greyfriars is causing 
erosion of pathways and path edging which require regular repairs. Pre Covid-19 it 
was observed that some cemetery tours had around 50 people in the group with 
only one tour guide, thus making it difficult to ensure that a reasonable and 
respectful code of conduct was maintained.   

4.6 To better manage the historic cemeteries, it is proposed that a Cemetery Tour 
Guide Operator Registration Scheme be introduced to provide a code of conduct to 
adhere to along with a donation contribution to help fund the maintenance of the 
historic cemeteries.  

4.7 Using powers under The Civic Government (Scotland) Act, the City of Edinburgh 
Council can implement management rules to regulate areas to help improve the 
quality of the visitor experience and reduce any harmful impact on the location or on 
other visitors, users and local businesses or residents. The Parks Greenspace and 
Cemetery Rules under section 4 state that the following acts are prohibited unless 
the Council’s written permission has been obtained first: 

4.7.1 selling, hiring or offering for sale or hire any items or goods or services; 

4.7.2 displaying or handing out advertisements, conducting surveys or giving any 
displays or performances; or 

4.7.3 engaging in any commercial activity whatsoever (including, without limitation, 
dog walking services, photography, filming and fitness training services). 

4.8 There is precedent for charging to visit a cemetery. Highgate Cemetery in London is 
managed by a trust which charges £4.50 to enter the free to roam east cemetery 
and £12 to visit the west cemetery, which is by guided tour only. 

4.9 The proposed Cemetery Tour Guide Operator Registration Scheme is set out at 
Appendix 1. This scheme will include a code of conduct to better regulate the 
conduct of tour guide operators and their customers. It was considered whether the 
registration scheme should apply to each individual tour guide or the tour guide 
operator as an entity. It is proposed the Scheme applies to the operator making it 
easier to administer and deliver the scheme objectives of introducing a code of 
conduct and raising donations towards cemetery maintenance.   

4.10 It is also proposed that tour guide operators donate 50 pence per paying customer 
as part of the Cemetery Tour Guide Operator Registration Scheme described in 
Appendix 1. It is thought 50 pence is a reasonable sum to donate compared to 
Highgate Cemetery which charges nine times that amount. To assist with 

Page 49



compliance with the Scheme the Council will introduce contactless donation boxes 
for tour guides and the public that are vandal resistant and contain no cash to avoid 
tampering. 

4.11 Visitors to Greyfriars Cemetery can be broken down roughly into four groups: 

4.11.1 organised tour groups for Ghost or Harry Potter experiences that charge 
customers £10 to £20 each; 

4.11.2 organised tour groups that advertise as “free tours” but request a “donation” 
at the end of the tour; 

4.11.3 ad hoc tours from bus trips; and  

4.11.4 visitors to the church, other cemetery visitors and other stakeholders. 

4.12 Consultation has been held with groups 1, 2 and 4. Feedback from group 1 was that 
some form of tour guide code of conduct was essential and would be supported and 
that a donation contribution towards maintenance was also a reasonable request for 
the Council to make.  

4.13 Group 2, in the form of the Edinburgh Tour Guide Collective, also thought a tour 
guide code of conduct was essential but baulked at the initial suggestion of a £1 per 
customer donation which would be a significant chunk of their profits. Therefore, a 
donation of 50 pence is proposed which is lower than this group were expecting to 
be introduced.  

4.14 Group 4 which included Greyfriars Kirk minister and management team, Heriots 
School and Edinburgh World Heritage came together under the Chair of the Lord 
Provost Councillor Ross. This group supported the introduction of a cemetery tour 
guide operator registration scheme with a donation towards cemetery maintenance. 
It was recognised there needed to be a balance between maintenance and 
protection of national heritage cemeteries on the one hand and facilitating and 
improving the visitor experience.  

4.15 It is anticipated that Scheme compliance will be high. However, the Council will 
monitor compliance of Cemetery Tour Guide Operators with the Scheme rules as it 
sees fit including but not limited to the introduction of electronic people counters and 
spot checks by Council staff. The Council, at its sole discretion in compliance with 
Public Parks and Greenspace management rules introduced under The Civic 
Government (Scotland) Act 1982, may revoke the Scheme registration of a tour 
guide operator not complying with the terms of the Scheme.     

4.16 If it is the case that a Cemetery Tour Guide Operator is undertaking a tour of a 
cemetery without being registered under the proposed Scheme then enforcement 
action would be pursued using the powers within the Public Parks and Greenspace 
management rules. 

4.17 Committee are requested to approve that a Cemetery Tour Guide Operator 
Registration Scheme, as described in Appendix 1, be introduced with a code of 
conduct and request for a donated contribution towards cemetery maintenance.  

 

Page 50

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/City%20of%20Edinburgh%20Council/20130131/Agenda/item_no_84_-_management_rules_for_public_parks_and_greenspace_2013_-_2023.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/City%20of%20Edinburgh%20Council/20130131/Agenda/item_no_84_-_management_rules_for_public_parks_and_greenspace_2013_-_2023.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/City%20of%20Edinburgh%20Council/20130131/Agenda/item_no_84_-_management_rules_for_public_parks_and_greenspace_2013_-_2023.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/City%20of%20Edinburgh%20Council/20130131/Agenda/item_no_84_-_management_rules_for_public_parks_and_greenspace_2013_-_2023.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/City%20of%20Edinburgh%20Council/20130131/Agenda/item_no_84_-_management_rules_for_public_parks_and_greenspace_2013_-_2023.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/City%20of%20Edinburgh%20Council/20130131/Agenda/item_no_84_-_management_rules_for_public_parks_and_greenspace_2013_-_2023.pdf


5. Next Steps 

5.1 If Committee approve the proposals outlined above: 

5.1.1 Take necessary steps without delay to introduce a Cemetery Tour Guide 
Operator Registration Scheme varying the initial registration fee in the first 
year to take account of part year and to encourage participation. 

5.1.2 Work with Edinburgh World Heritage and other stakeholders to protect and 
enhance the historic city centre cemeteries.  

 

6. Financial impact 

6.1 The introduction of a Cemetery Tour Guide Operator Registration Scheme donation 
set at 50 pence would, if 20% of the estimated 600,000 annual visitors contributed, 
raise £60,000 towards maintenance of the cemetery. The introduction of people 
counters at a cost of £705 will provide data to better model the predicted income.   

6.2 Post Covid-19 it is not known how many cemetery tour guide organisations remain. 
If it is assumed that ten remain the annual registration fee of £175 will raise £1,750 
gross income in a full year.   

 

7. Stakeholder/Community Impact 

7.1 During preparation of this report there has been consultation with various tour guide 
companies, Greyfriars Kirk, Edinburgh World Heritage, National Association of 
Funeral Directors Scottish (NAFD), Society of Allied and Independent Funeral 
Directors (SSAIF) 

7.2 There are no equalities implications arising from these proposals.  The proposals 
are intended to maintain good health and safety, governance and regulatory 
compliance. 

 

8. Background reading/external references 

8.1 None. 

 

9. Appendices 

9.1 Appendix 1 - Cemetery Tour Guide Operator Registration Scheme. 

  

Page 51



Appendix 1 

Cemetery Tour Guide Operator Registration Scheme 

Introduction  

Graveyards and cemeteries in Edinburgh are popular destinations for tour operators. Using powers 
under The Civic Government (Scotland) Act, the City of Edinburgh Council can implement 
management rules to regulate these areas to help improve the quality of the visitor experience and 
reduce any harmful impact on the location or on other visitors, users and local businesses or 
residents.  

The Public Parks Greenspace and Cemetery Rules under section 4 read: 

“The following acts are prohibited unless the Council’s written permission has been obtained first:   

 4.10 Selling, hiring or offering for sale or hire any items or goods or services.   

 4.11 Displaying or handing out advertisements, conducting surveys or giving any displays 
 or performances   

 4.12 Begging or busking   

 4.13 Engaging in any commercial activity whatsoever (including, without limitation, dog  
 walking services, photography, filming and fitness training services).” 

The introduction of this Tour Guide Operator Registration Scheme under rules 4.10, 4.11 and 4.13 
will require all tour guide operators who wish to carry out any tour which starts/finishes or visits a 
cemetery owned and managed by the City of Edinburgh Council to abide by the Code of Conduct 
at Appendix A and make the per customer donation described in Appendix B.  

Cemetery Tour Guide Operator Registration Scheme Fee (choose one) 

Registration Fee payable annually in advance  £175 

Registration Fee payable quarterly in advance  £50  

 

Please sign below to indicate your agreement to these conditions: 

 

Name ………………………………..…….…  Representing ……………………….………... 

Address …………………………………………………………………………………………… 

 

Agrees to pay the above fee, abide by the Cemetery Tour Guide Code of Conduct at 
appendix A and Cemetery Tour Guide Donation Scheme Rules at appendix B. 

 

 

Signed ………………………………………….. Date ………………………………… 

 

Please return to: Bereavement Services, City of Edinburgh Council, 30b Howdenhall Road, 
Edinburgh, EH16 6TX   Email bereavement@edinburgh.gov.uk Tel 0131 664 4314 

 

 

 

Page 52

mailto:bereavement@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:bereavement@edinburgh.gov.uk


 

Appendix 1 continued  

APPENDIX A           

Cemetery Tour Guide Operator Code of Conduct 

 

1. Written permission must be requested and given by The City of Edinburgh Council 
to permit any guided tour to visit any cemetery managed by the Council. 

2. Cemetery Tour Guide operators must have appropriate Public Liability Insurance 
and make it available for inspection by the Council on demand.  

3. A full and sufficient site Risk Assessment must be carried out by the Tour Guide 
Operator for any location before conducting a tour of a cemetery. 

4. Tour groups visiting a cemetery must be limited to no more than 36 persons or such 
other lower number set out in government guidance. 

5. The starting and finishing points for cemetery tours must take account of pedestrian 
flow and any local restrictions. 

6. Tour routes must utilise any existing pathway systems to minimise any potential 
damage to non-protected areas i.e. grass or non-hard-standing areas. 

7. Stopping points for the tour must be carefully selected to minimise disruption to 
other visitors / users of the cemetery. 

8. Specific care must be taken within cemeteries to ensure tours are carried out in a 
respectful manner and any routes or stopping points should ensure customers do 
not congregate on any grave areas. 

9. Tours between the hours of 9.00pm and 7.00am must be conducted in such a way 
to keep noise levels to a reasonable level to avoid disturbing local residents.    

10. Tour Guides must whilst in the cemetery abide by any reasonable instruction given 
by a Council employee.  

11. Failure to comply with this Code of Conduct may result in suspension of permission 
and/or costs for any damage caused being recharged. Any complaints or evidence 
of damage being caused will be investigated and may result in suspension of your 
permission.  

12. The Council at its sole discretion may revoke the registration of a tour guide 
operator not complying with the terms of this Code of Conduct.   

 

  

Page 53



Appendix 1 continued  

APPENDIX B         

Cemetery Tour Guide Operator Donation Scheme Rules 

1. Each Cemetery Tour Guide Operator, at their discretion, shall either  

a) make a 50 pence donation, varied by annual review, per each paying customer 
to the City of Edinburgh Council Bereavement Services. 

or 
b) encourage their customers to utilise the proposed contactless donation boxes 

placed in the cemetery.   

2. Donations made directly by Cemetery Tour Guides Operator shall be transferred to 
the Council monthly in arrears.   

3. Donations shall be paid into the bank account of City of Edinburgh Council 
Bereavement Services – account information available on request.  

4. The Council agrees to maintain confidentiality of commercially sensitive information 
such as tour group visitor numbers. 

5. The Council will monitor compliance with the Scheme rules as it sees fit including 
but not limited to the introduction of electronic people counters and spot checks. 

6. The Council at its sole discretion may revoke the Scheme registration of a tour 
guide not complying with the terms of the Scheme.   

  

Page 54



 

 
Culture and Communities Committee 
 

10.00am, Tuesday, 15 September 2020 

War Memorial, City Chambers 

Executive/routine Routine 
Wards All 
Council Commitments 46 

 

1. Recommendations 

1.1 It is recommended that Committee agrees to: 

1.1.1 commission a design solution to protect the memorial from inappropriate use 
that ensures it remains a place for remembrance and respect; and 

1.1.2 remove the metal barriers in the meantime and continue with the active 
policing of the memorial by the City Chambers security staff.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Paul Lawrence 

Executive Director of Place 

Contact: Frank Little, Museums and Galleries Manager 

E-mail: frank.little@edinburgh.gov.uk | Tel: 0131 529 3994 

  

Page 55

Agenda Item 7.2

https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/council-commitments
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/council-commitments
mailto:frank.little@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:frank.little@edinburgh.gov.uk


 
Report 
 

War Memorial, City Chambers 

2. Executive Summary 

2.1 This report responds to the amended motion from the City of Edinburgh Council 
meeting on 21 November 2019 on the War Memorial at the City Chambers. 

 

3. Background 

3.1 The War Memorial is included within the listing of the Category ‘A’ listed City 
Chambers building and quadrangle. The memorial is situated beneath the canopied 
portico in front of the City Chambers and is readily accessible from the High Street. 
A plaque notes that the 'stone of remembrance' was set up to commemorate the 
people of Edinburgh lost in the First World War. It was unveiled by HRH Prince 
Henry on Armistice Day 1927, being accepted on behalf of the city by Lord Provost 
Stenson. A further commemorative inscription was added after the Second World 
War.  

3.2 The memorial is understated and is a memorial for the whole of the city of 
Edinburgh. The scale and design of the memorial decided upon was mainly due to 
its chosen location between St Giles and the City Chambers within the canopied 
portico and also because another grand monument was not required since there 
was already one in the city at the top of the Castle Rock. 

3.3 The simplicity of its design is deliberate and is a variation of Lutyen’s Stone of 
Remembrance. It represents the size of memorials for cemeteries of more than 500 
graves, illustrating the scale of Edinburgh’s loss. 

3.4 The War Memorial is a place of respect and remembrance and is visited and 
photographed by numerous visitors and residents throughout the year. Scotland’s 
Service of Remembrance takes place at the memorial every year. 

3.5 An agreed amended motion by Councillor Cameron, at the City of Edinburgh 
Council on 21 November 2019 called for a report to Culture and Communities 
Committee setting out:  

3.5.1 how the preservation and presentation of the war memorial in its setting can 
best be achieved and respected, without the use of metal barriers; and 

Page 56

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=150&MId=410&Ver=4
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=150&MId=410&Ver=4


3.5.2 any access issues to the War Memorial and to the entrance to the public 
Quadrangle in order to keep pavement space free for pedestrian movement 
and access to the City Chambers and Quadrangle. 

3.6 Metal barriers are currently in place to protect the memorial, together with a sign 
requesting people to respect the War Memorial. Metal poppy-shaped studs in the 
pavement in front of the memorial seek to delineate the space.  

 

4. Main report 

4.1 The footfall on the Royal Mile has increased considerably over the last decade. 
Despite its location beneath the portico and the metal chain link around the 
memorial, it continues to be used by the public in a number of inappropriate ways 
that undermine it as a place for remembrance and respect.  

4.2 It is frequently used as a vantage point to view street performers and street traders 
frequently encroach on the site. It is also been used as a shelter from inclement 
weather and it has even been used for laying out picnics and lunches. 

4.3 Despite the best efforts of the City Chambers security staff, policing the memorial 
has proved difficult and these practices continue.  

4.4 The metal barriers were put in place to protect the memorial. Although unsightly, 
they have been effective. 

4.5 There is not one simple solution to prevent members of the public from using the 
memorial inappropriately. It is proposed that a combination of interventions are 
considered that will ensure the memorial is protected and preserved in the long 
term.  

4.6 Any new interventions would need to be done sensitively and in keeping with the 
design of the memorial and its placing beneath the portico. A combination of 
lighting, a new barrier system, increased policing, improved signage and a greater 
delineated space around the memorial itself should be considered. Because of its 
location within a Grade ‘A’ listed site, design proposals would need the approval of 
Historic Environment Scotland (HES).  

4.7 There are no access issues to the memorial itself. Any temporary installations that 
could restrict access are considered by the security staff at the City Chambers to 
ensure pedestrian access is kept clear and open. 

 

5. Next Steps 

5.1 In consultation with HES and Edinburgh World Heritage Trust (EWHT), commission 
a design to protect the memorial in keeping with the memorial and the original 
design aesthetic. 

5.2 In the meantime, remove the metal barriers and continue to actively police the 
memorial. 

Page 57



 

6. Financial impact 

6.1 The estimated cost of the design work to determine the best possible solution for 
protecting the memorial is £3,000.  This cost can be contained within the 2020-2021 
revenue budget. 

6.2 Once the design is complete, the costs of the selected solution will be considered.  
The opportunity to secure third party funding towards implementation will also be 
explored.   

6.3 EWHT have agreed to contribute to the cost of the design work and improvements. 

 

7. Stakeholder/Community Impact 

7.1 Design proposals will be shared with HES and appropriate listed building consents 
will be sought, if necessary. 

 

8. Background reading/external references 

8.1 None. 

 

9. Appendices 

9.1 None. 

Page 58



 

 
Culture and Communities Committee 
 

10.00am, Tuesday, 15 September 2020 

Appointments to Working Groups 2020/21 

Executive/routine Executive 
Wards  
Council Commitments  

 

1. Recommendations 

1.1 To appoint the membership of the working groups as set out in Appendix 1. 

1.2 To note that the Graffiti Working Group has concluded.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Andrew Kerr 

Chief Executive 

Contact: Natalie Le Couteur, Committee Officer 

E-mail: natalie.le.couteur@edinburgh.gov.uk | Tel: 0131 529 6160 

 

  

Page 59

Agenda Item 7.3

mailto:natalie.le.couteur@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:natalie.le.couteur@edinburgh.gov.uk


2 
 

 
Report 
 

Appointments to Working Groups 2020/21 

2. Executive Summary 

2.1 The Culture and Communities Committee is required to appoint the membership of 

its working groups for 2020/21.  The proposed membership structures and remits of 

each are detailed in Appendix 1 of this report.  

3. Background 

3.1 The Committee is required annually to appoint the membership of its working 

groups.  

3.2 The Culture and Communities Committee on 10 September 2019 agreed to bring 

the Graffiti Working Group to a close. 

4. Main report 

4.1 The Committee is requested to reappoint the membership of its working groups for 

2020/21 as detailed in Appendix 1 of the report. 

4.2 While there is no requirement for the membership of working groups to be 

proportionate to that of the Council, it is suggested that this is good practice. The 

membership reflects the overall political balance on the Council.  It is, however, 

open to the Committee to alter the membership where it feels this is warranted. 

5. Next Steps 

5.1 Not applicable. 

6. Financial impact 

6.1 Not applicable. 

7. Stakeholder/Community Impact 

7.1 Not applicable.  

  

Page 60



3 
 

8. Background reading/external references 

8.1 Minute of the Culture and Communities Committee 10 September 2019 

9. Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Appointments to Working Groups 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 1 

Page 61

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s10457/02%20-%20Culture%20and%20Communities%20Committee%20Minute%2010.09.19.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s10457/02%20-%20Culture%20and%20Communities%20Committee%20Minute%2010.09.19.pdf


4 
 

 

Appointments to Working Groups 2020/21 

 

Meadowbank Sports Centre and Stadium Working Group- 5 members 

Current Membership – Councillors Wilson (Chair), McNeese-Mechan, Osler, 

Staniforth, Brown 

This group met three times in 2018/19 and has not met in 2019/2020. 

Remit 

The remit of the Working Group is to: 

• Receive progress reports and updates from the project team. 

• Provide feedback on the reports and updates. 

• Submit reports with recommendations to appropriate Committees. 

• Advise on the development of communication and engagement activities with 

local people and user groups. 

• Act as ambassadors for the project and provide support to the project team at 

key stages during project delivery. 

Tourism and Communities Working Group – 6 members (2 each from Housing, 

Homelessness and Fair Work Committee, Transport and Environment Committee 

and Culture and Communities Committee, to extend invitations to City Centre 

Councillors and ensure cross-party representation. 

Current Membership – Councillors Wilson (Chair), McNeese-Mechan, Jim Campbell, 

Lezley Marion Cameron, Bird and Key 

This group met four times in 2018/19 and has not met in 2019/20. 

Remit 

The remit of the Working Group is as follows: 

• The working group will seek to ensure that the views and consideration of 

communities and residents are taken into account in the development of a new 

strategy for tourism. 

• The elected members on the group will represent communities and residents, 

liaising through engagement with statutory and non-statutory groups and 

networks including Community Councils and Resident’s Groups. 

• Officers will link to Council service areas as appropriate to ensure a coordinated 

cross-council approach is maintained throughout the process. 

 

  

Page 62



5 
 

CCTV Working Group – 4 members 

Current Membership – Councillors McNeese-Mechan (Chair), Brown, Staniforth, 

Wilson 

This group met four times in 2018/19 and has not met in 2019/20. 

Remit 

The remit of the Working Group is: 

• To oversee the development of policy and Procedures for all council 

departments utilising CCTV in line with the General Data Protection Act 2018. 

• To research and report to committee the finding and costing for fit for purpose 

facility that would allow a full upgrade of Public Space CCTV, explore and 

identify a new location for an operation centre that integrates all CCTV systems 

and allow for a multi-purpose use of the facility. 

 

 

 

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
Culture and Communities Committee 
 

10am, Tuesday, 15 September 2020  

Edinburgh’s Joint Community Safety Strategy 2020-
2023 

Executive/routine  
Wards: All   
Council Commitments  

 

1. Recommendations 

1.1 It is recommended that the Committee notes the content of the report and the new 
Joint Community Safety Strategy 2020 – 2023 (appendix 1).   

 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Alistair Gaw 

Executive Director for Communities and Families 

Contact: Jon Ferrer, Senior Manager, Quality, Governance and Regulation  

E-mail: Jon.Ferrer@edinburgh.gov.uk | Tel: 0131 553 8396  

Page 65

Agenda Item 7.4



2 
 

 
Report 
 

Edinburgh’s Joint Community Safety Strategy 2020-
2023 

2. Executive Summary 

2.1 The new Community Safety Strategy developed to replace the current Antisocial 
Behaviour Strategy covers the years 2020 to 2023. Plans for a formal launch in April 
2020 were suspended due to reprovisioning of activity, officers and resources in 
response to covid-19, however some of the actions outlined under each priority has 
been able to be progressed.   

2.2 This report provides the Committee with an overview of the strategy (that was 
agreed by members of the Edinburgh Community Safety Partnership on the 3rd 
March 2020) and an update on some of the key actions progressed to date.  

 

3. Background 

3.1 Scotland’s revised National Performance Framework (NPF) was published in June 
2018, focusing on eleven national outcomes. Edinburgh’s new Community Safety 
Strategy contributes to many of those key outcomes, specifically “we live in 
communities that are inclusive, empowered, resilient and safe”.  

3.2 Under the Anti-social Behaviour etc. (Scotland) Act 2004 it states that each local 
authority and relevant Chief Constable must act jointly to prepare and publish a 
strategy for dealing with antisocial behaviour (ASB). 

3.3 In developing Edinburgh’s new strategy a decision was taken to widen the scope of 
the previous requirements to include tackling broader community safety issues 
including; effective safeguarding, reducing vulnerability and embracing the concept 
of early intervention and prevention as a means to enable communities to be more 
inclusive, empowered, resilient and safe.  
  

4. Main report 

4.1  During 2019 whilst reviewing all the available data, considering changes in 
legislation such as the Age of Criminal Responsibility (Scotland) Act 2019 and in 

Page 66



3 
 

collaboration with a wide range of key stakeholders three interrelated priority 
themes for the new strategy were identified. Those being:    

 

👪👪 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4.2 In developing the priority themes, a quality improvement approach was taken to 
help plan activities deliverable over a three-year cycle. In years 1 and 2 we will 
focus on enhancing our understanding of the issues and putting in place new 
systems to respond appropriately; year 3 will be centred around evaluation and 
planning for future interventions.  

4.3 A Driver Diagram was developed for each theme to identify the project activities to 
be taken forward to achieve the aims and objectives. Activity descriptions can be 
found next to each theme outlined in this report.   

 Working in partnership to deliver the strategy  

4.4 The strategy is based principally on working in partnership across the Council and 
Partner agencies including the Voluntary Sector to develop and prioritise 
interventions.  

4.5 Elements of the strategy will also be delivered and linked through the Community 
and Thematic Improvement Partnerships; Family and Household Support and police 
FAHST teams and through the roll-out of the Stronger Edinburgh Model focusing 
on vulnerable adults, young people; and complex ASB.  

4.6 Adopting a solution-focused methodology, Stronger Edinburgh advocates for a 
single agency coordinated approach that embraces the ‘Getting it Right for 
Everyone’ principles - one child/adult, one plan; also enabling workers to escalate 
cases of concern where they are unable to effect positive change to presenting 
behaviours or situations in the first instance.   

4.7 It must be noted however that the activity described within the strategy does not 
reflect the totality of work being undertaken. Vigilance and continued focus around 
the day to day impact of ASB will remain an important and necessary responsibility 
of key statutory organisations.  

4.8 It is also recognised that the strategy will not achieve its goals in isolation, therefore, 
to enhance commonality and promote collaboration this strategy aligns with a wide 

Reduce harm and 
safeguard people from 
Antisocial Behaviour 
specifically the impact 
of noise  

 

Reduce the likelihood 
of children and young 
people engaging in 
harmful or offending 
behaviour 

Digital Safety: 
Safeguard people from 
online harm  

 

Page 67



4 
 

range of policies and strategies, specifically the Youth Justice Strategy and the 
Community Justice Outcome Plan (CJOIP).   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Work carried out to date 
 

4.9 Despite restrictions around COVID 19 and the need for immediate service 
restructuring to ensure that we could respond to the pandemic, where possible work 
has remained on going to progress certain actions. An update for each priority 
theme has been provided over the following pages.    

 

Reduce harm and safeguard people from antisocial behaviour specifically the 
impact of noise.  

 

Youth 
Justice  

Criminal 
Justice  

Community 
Safety  

Page 68



5 
 

  

4.10 Noise related issues have continued to account for the highest proportion of ASB 
complaints to Family and Household Support (see appendix 2 ASB and community 
safety issues COVID update). Through the Covid-19 pandemic lock-down there was 
a significant increase in noise complaints. Many of these were related to home 
working and home schooling; people who were usually out at work were at home 
and experiencing daily living noise in a way they had not previously experienced.  

4.11 A key action in the Nosie Action plan relates to the use and development of 
mediation to resolve neighbour disputes. Out of challenging and adverse situations 
good things can develop. The Family and Household Support Mediation 
approach has adapted and changed to meet the circumstances and needs of lock-
down, social distancing and limited neutral venues. A Shuttle mediation approach 
was developed and adapted using phone calls. This has proven to be successful in 
the types of disputes we have seen during the pandemic where noise is more of a 
nuisance and where neighbours are able to respond to the Family and Household 
Support approach of ‘doing with’ rather than ‘doing to’ people.   

4.12 There has been a focus on the actions related to ‘effective processes and 
response’. Work has been undertaken to review current noise procedures 
including 101 processes and the Family and Household Support Services’ 
response to noise related referrals. 

4.13 This has involved consideration of where powers, roles and responsibilities related 
to noise lie between internal and external partners. A working group led by Family 
and Household Support, including Police Scotland, Community Safety Night Team, 
and a Senior Analyst from the Council, has been established to begin to examine 
this in more detail and then make suggestions and seek solutions to how noise 
complaints are responded to. 

4.14 Short term Lets (Air B&B type accommodation) were previously a significant 
source of ASB and noise complaints however during the lock down there was a 
significant decrease in related complaints. Yet with the re-opening of some Short 
Term Lets there has been a resumption of complaints of ASB, and there have been 
enquires from members of the public asking if Short Term Lets are permitted to be 
operating within the context of the Covid-19 pandemic. 

4.15 Family and Household Support continue to have a place in the Short-term Let group 
and progress is being made to develop a process for managing these complaints, 
as they ‘straddle’ various services and require collaboration between Council 
services. Currently there is an agreement that in the first instance Trading 
Standards take such referrals centrally and co-ordinate responses to complaints. 
This is because the legislation & regulation around the operation of properties for 
use of Short Term Lets within the context of Covid-19 is complex and is subject to 
short notice change, and there are many circumstances that need to be considered 
for each such property.   

Page 69



6 
 

👪👪 Reduce the likelihood of children and young people engaging in harmful or 
offending behaviour  

 
 

4.16 In relation to addressing the impact of poverty and inequality members of the    
delivery group met with Carlene Firmin from Bedford University to discuss 
Contextualised Safeguarding as an approach to Community Safety work.  

4.17 This approach develops the current thinking around Stronger Edinburgh, bringing 
partners together in a cohesive and conjoined approach to this work. 
Contextualised Safeguarding has several pilot areas in England and one in 
Scotland using the approach to harness the resources required to address the 
needs and safety of children and communities through engaging neighbourhoods, 
peer groups and schools. A short presentation on this area of work will be provided 
to the next ECSP. 

 
4.18 In having a better understanding of young people’s priorities, the development 

group have several forums where they will engage with young people. The most 
important from a City-wide perspective is Youth Talk.  This is being rolled out 
virtually by Lifelong Learning and Development colleagues who are part of the 
theme’s delivery group. 

 
4.19 There are also plans to engage with young people in their school environment 

where possible – at times this will be linked to Contextual Safeguarding. The group 

Page 70



7 
 

are also engaged with 3rd sector services such as 6VT to support us to engage with 
young people who do not access City of Edinburgh Council services or are hard to 
reach. 

 

4.20 The vision to address non-school attendance and the potential consequences of 
antisocial behaviour will be encompassed in our work relating to Contextual 
Safeguarding.  Meantime focus on addressing this work directly with schools is 
reduced due to the current priority of re-opening schools and the impact of COVID-
19. 

4.21 Regarding trauma informed practice staff and resources are now available to 
deliver Tier 2 training in this area. There is a wider strategic plan for the entire 
Council, and we will contribute to the implementation and delivery of that work. 

 

 Digital Safety; safeguard people from online harm  

 
 

4.22 The impact of COVID-19 has resulted in delays progressing some aspects of the 
digital strategy, but in other areas there has been significant progress. 

4.23 In relation to the recommendation to embed cyber resilience into teacher 
training there has been positive progress. Due to restrictions over face to face 
training, it is now compulsory for every staff member in schools to complete a digital 
learning module on how to keep children safe online by the end of September 2020. 

Page 71



8 
 

In addition, all probationer teachers and new staff in education in Edinburgh will 
receive an additional virtual input on this matter.  

4.24 In relation to the recommendation to develop training and provide staff with a 
basic understanding of issues to support individuals and families at earliest 
point, there has been discussion at an interagency level with regard to children and 
young people. IRDs (Inter-agency Referral Discussions) in child protection have 
seen a rise in the number of concerns relating to online grooming, and it has been 
noted that this likely relates to the increased time that children and young people 
have been online during the COVID-19 pandemic.  

4.25 As a result, an interagency learning day will be arranged with guest speakers, with 
participants attending from social work, education, health, police and the voluntary 
sector. As well as providing a training opportunity for staff, this day will also gather 
people’s reflections and views on the issues facing children and young people 
online, and this will further help to map out the current landscape we are dealing 
with.  

Conclusion  
 

4.26 In conclusion, the Joint Community Safety Strategy 2020 – 2023 has been 
developed in partnership with Police Scotland and in consultation with our main 
stakeholders.  

4.27 The strategy is closely aligned to the Youth Justice Strategy and Community Justice 
Outcome plan to ensure better alignment of key programs of work such as 
Stronger Edinburgh.  

4.28 Activity taken forward within the strategy does not reflect the totality of work being 
undertaken. The day to day impact of ASB will remain an important and necessary 
responsibility of key statutory organisations.  

4.29 The three interrelated priority themes; ASB Noise; Young People and Digital Safety 
will be delivered over a three-year cycle.  

 

5. Next Steps 

5.1 The delivery groups taking forward each theme are currently reviewing the Driver 
Diagrams to ensure that they are still viable to take forward following the 
Coronavirus outbreak, updates will be provided to the Edinburgh Community Safety 
Partnership on a quarterly basis. 

 

6. Financial impact 

6.1 None.  

 

Page 72



9 
 

7. Stakeholder/Community Impact 

7.1 The Joint Community Safety Strategy was developed by the Council in partnership 
with Police Scotland whilst collaborating with a wide range of key stakeholders.  

 

8. Background reading/external references 

8.1 None. 

 

9. Appendices 

9.1 Appendix 1: Edinburgh’s Joint Community Safety Strategy 2020 – 2023 (including 
plan on a page) 

9.2 Appendix 2: ASB and community safety issues COVID update 

 

Page 73



Edinburgh’s Joint Community 
Safety Strategy 
2020- 2023 

 

  

 

 

 

P
age 74



 

1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Forward  

 

Dr Amy McNeese-Mechan- Chair of Edinburgh Community Safety Partnership and 

Vice Convener of Culture and Communities  

 

“I am really pleased to commend the new Joint Community Safety Strategy that has 

been produced by ECSP through collaborative working between the City of 

Edinburgh Council and Police Scotland, with our key strategic partners in Scottish 

Fire & Rescue, Youth Justice and the NHS Mental Health Services.  

We know that through such joint initiatives we can achieve common objectives and 

see tangible benefits to the safety and wellbeing of all our citizens. Especially 

important within this is that our collaboration reflects our values of addressing 

inequality, operating sustainably, and attaining wellbeing for our city’s residents.  

One of the transformative new approaches is that this strategy repositions our 

responses to what is now recognised as non-intentional antisocial behaviour – often 

first manifesting in noise complaints. By reframing and ‘seeing people, not 

problems’, we can take cognisance that both the complainant and the neighbour 

being complained about may need additional supports.  

One of the ways to support both parties is through mediation as this practice builds 

relationships and awareness, so we can move away from temporary fixes, and often 

repeated cycles of complaints, to sustainable resolutions that both parties have 

agreed upon. This approach takes as its starting point a trauma-informed practice 

that weaves though all the priority themes as the ECSP commits to supporting the 

roll out of trauma informed training and awareness across services within the CEC 

and partner agencies.   

 We believe that by reframing and adjusting our approaches to community safety we 

can deliver lasting changes that benefit us all”.  

 

 

 

 

 

Chief Superintendent Sean Scott – Divisional Commander for Edinburgh - Police 

Scotland  

Reducing anti-social behaviour and promoting wellbeing and community safety are 

the key principles of the new Joint Community Safety Strategy for Edinburgh 2020 - 

2023.  

We recognise that safeguarding the most vulnerable people in their homes and 

protecting children and young people in the real and virtual worlds are critical to 

ensuring health, wellbeing and safety in our communities. The preventive approach 

proposed in this strategy is about tackling not only the symptoms of anti-social 

behaviour through traditional policing methods, but also its causes, recognising the 

enormous impact that adversity and inequality has on children. The benefits of a 

preventive approach cannot be overstated in determining better long-term outcomes 

and influencing positive life choices for people affected by deprivation and poverty.  

By addressing the complaints, we receive regarding noise and neighbour disputes 

through mediation and problem solving, we can prevent anti-social behaviour 

escalating into more serious confrontation and violence, thus safeguarding the 

vulnerable and protecting the young. And while we will always seek to prevent and 

intervene early, as outlined within this strategy, we will continue to pursue 

enforcement action where appropriate. 

It is through a close collaborative working relationship with our partners in the Local 

Authority that our officers – alongside Family and Housing Support Teams – will 

deliver this strategy with greater efficiency than either agency can perform alone. In 

times of financial constraints, working together more effectively is fundamental to 

improving quality of life for the people we serve, and I fully endorse this joint 

strategy. 

 

 

P
age 75



 

2 
 

 

In developing Edinburgh’s new strategy, the 

Edinburgh Community Safety Partnership 

(ECSP) took the opportunity to widen the 

scope of the previous requirements under the 

Anti-social Behaviour etc. (Scotland) Act 2004 

for each local authority and relevant Chief 

Constable to act jointly to prepare and publish 

a strategy for dealing with antisocial behaviour 

(ASB). Instead the ECSP widened the focus in 

order to tackle broader community safety 

issues including effective safeguarding, 

reducing vulnerability and embracing the 

concept of early intervention and prevention 

as a means to enable communities to be more 

inclusive, empowered, resilient and safe.  

The strategy recognises that to change 

behaviour, we must also recognise the impact 

of inequality, and the importance of breaking 

deep-rooted and sometimes generational 

cycles of disadvantage. 

It will seek to effect lasting change and 

improved outcomes for individuals and 

families, helping to shift the balance away 

from intervention that responds to risk and 

harm to one that recognises causation and 

how trauma, inequality and social policy can 

influence behaviour.  

 

It will also look at programmes of work that 

create an environment that supports positive 

behaviour change. 

We recognise that the strategy will not 

achieve its goals in isolation, as such its 

preparation and development has been 

undertaken in close collaboration with key 

partners and stakeholders, to recognise and 

bring greater alignment of key programmes of 

work, such as Stronger Edinburgh to enhance 

commonality and promote collaboration.  

This strategy will align with a wide range of 

polices and other strategies, specifically the 

Youth Justice Strategy and the Community 

Justice Outcome Plan under the governance 

of the ECSP and the Edinburgh Children’s 

Partnership.   

Whilst other related strategies such as the 

Drug and Alcohol, City Housing Strategy and  

Children’s Service Plan do not directly focus on 

specific community safety and ASB issues, 

they do share social space and would sit 

alongside any effective response in addressing 

community safety and ASB by promoting the 

health, wellbeing and safety of those living in 

Edinburgh.   

 

This strategy therefore should be read in 

conjunction with those relevant strategies as it 

aligns with, and will influence, the plans and 

strategies of our partners (appendix 1). 

Better alignment of key strategies 

Chapter One: Background   

Youth 

Justice  

Criminal 

Justice  

Community 

Safety  

P
age 76



 

3 
 

      

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What is meant by community safety has 

broadened over the years and the landscape is 

increasingly complex, meaning different things 

to different people at different times. 

Community safety can encompass a wide 

range of issues and is constantly evolving to 

take into account new and emerging themes 

and social issues.  

Traditional levels of crime, particularly 

acquisitive crime have fallen. However, there 

has been a shift in focus from specifically 

looking to address the volume of crime to 

focus on more complex areas. This includes 

delivering on the changes in social policy, for 

example, Public Health Reform. This provides a 

focus on a joined-up approach to improving 

health and wellbeing, alongside the Scottish 

Government’s commitment to preventing 

Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs), 

building resilience and reducing the negative 

impacts of ACEs, which are complex, often 

necessitating longer term interventions.   

 

Just as there are a broad range of areas that 

encompass community safety, the causes of crime 

and ASB are also often complex and varied. 

Offending behaviour can be influenced by a range 

of individual, family and community risk factors 

such as lack of educational attainment, 

deprivation and poverty, inconsistent / chaotic 

parenting, substance misuse and mental health 

issues.  

Furthermore, it can be subjective as to which, 

often interdependent, factors help to make 

communities feel safe and such factors are 

governed by a broad range of legislation and policy 

areas. These include drugs and alcohol, violence 

against women and serious organised crime 

(appendix 2).  

 
Community Safety is to:  

protect people’s rights to live in confidence and 

without fear for their own or other people’s safety 

safety.  

 

Antisocial Behaviour is to:  

act in a manner that cases or is likely to cause alarm or distress; or  

pursue a course of conduct that causes or is likely to cause alarm or 

distress, to at least one person who is not of the same household as them 

 

For the purposes of this strategy we will 

adopt The Convention of Scottish Local 

Authorities’ (COSLA) definition of 

Community Safety and the interpretation 

of ASB in relation to the Antisocial 

Behaviour etc (Scotland) Act 2004. 

Community Safety and Antisocial Behaviour 

P
age 77



 

4 
 

Priority Work Themes  

                                                                                        

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

                    👪 
   

Recognising the complex network of causes, 

behaviours and issues predominantly 

recognised as ASB and community safety, 

information and intelligence were sourced 

from partner agencies and analysed to 

greater understand, draw out and identify 

the key themes and issues.  

 

The review of the data was 

complemented by other sources of 

information including the impact 

of legislative change e.g. the Age 

of Criminal Responsibility 

(Scotland) Act 2019. In addition, 

there was collaborative 

engagement with a wide range of 

key stakeholders to identify 

priority themes highlighted as a 

concern and which are:  

• not currently being 

addressed or tackled 

through existing strategies 

or activity; or 

• would benefit from 

greater focus, particularly 

early intervention through 

a joined up and integrated 

approach.       

 

Reduce harm and 

safeguard people 

from Antisocial 

Behaviour 

specifically the 

impact of noise  
 

Reduce the 

likelihood of 

children and young 

people engaging in 

harmful or offending 

behaviour 

 

Digital Safety: 

Safeguard people 

from online harm  

 

Through working in this way three inter-related themes have been identified.  

 

• not currently being 

addressed or tackled 

through existing strategies 

or activity; or 

• would benefit from 

greater focus, particularly 

early intervention through 

a joined up and integrated 

approach.       

 

P
age 78



 

5 
 

Chapter Two: Structures and Governance  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

National Context  

Scotland’s revised National Performance 

Framework (NPF) was published in June 2018, 

focusing on eleven national outcomes. This 

Strategy contributes to many of these key 

outcomes, specifically that “we live in 

communities that are inclusive, empowered, 

resilient and safe”.  

Local Context: Governance  

The Edinburgh Partnership is the city’s 

community planning partnership that support 

the delivery of the NPF through a Community 

Plan.  This plan sets out the Partnership’s vision 

“that Edinburgh is a thriving, connected, 

inspired and fair city, where all forms of 

poverty and inequality are reduced”. 

The Edinburgh Community Safety Partnership 

(ECSP) is one of the four partnership groups 

contributing to the Edinburgh Partnership’s 

vision by working towards making communities 

safer and reducing reoffending. This involves 

delivering and monitoring the development of 

the Community Safety Strategy 2020 - 2023, 

as well as overseeing the implementation of 

the Community Justice Outcomes 

Improvement Plan (CJOIP) 2019 - 2022.   

 

Edinburgh’s four localities  

In addition to the themed community planning partnerships 

Edinburgh has four locality community planning partnerships 

(South East, South West, North East and North West) whose 

remit includes the development and delivery of the Locality 

Improvement Plans (LIPs). These set out priorities for improving 

the quality of life for people in Edinburgh experiencing the 

greatest degree of inequality. 

Over the years there have been clear synergies between the 

ambitions for community safety and tackling ASB set out in the 

locality community plans and those outlined in our strategic 

documents The review of the LIPs undertaken in 2019/20  was 

vital to ensure we continue to promote collaboration and the 

best use of scarce resources. 

 

Edinburgh Community Safety 

Partnership  
Edinburgh’s Children Partnership  

Community Safety 

Strategy  

Criminal Justice Outcome 

Improvement Plan  
Youth Justice Strategy 

Local Improvement Plans  

The newly developed Youth Justice Strategic 

Plan is the responsibility of the Children’s 

Partnership and is also significant to this strategy.  

By interlinking these three strategies we have 

been able to identify commonality running 

through them, enabling partners to focus more 

comprehensively on prevention, effective 

safeguarding, and reducing vulnerability and risk.  

Examples of a coordinated approach include 

aligning with the Youth Justice Strategic Plan with 

the aim to develop local arrangements which will 

support the effective implementation of the new 

Age of Criminal Responsibility (Scotland) Act 

2019. This Act raises the age of criminal 

responsibility in Scotland from 8 yrs to 12 yrs.  

In response, Edinburgh will reduce the age of 

children supported through the Stronger 

Edinburgh young people’s group to include 

children below the age of 12. This strategy will 

also link with the CJIOP to develop a programme 

of trauma informed staff awareness and training 

across the partnership. This practice contributes 

to the early intervention agenda encouraging 

trauma informed practice and meaningful service 

user engagement. 

 

Edinburgh Partnership  

P
age 79



 

6 
 

Working in Partnership  

 

 

Local & Thematic Community Improvement 
Partnerships 

Family & Household Support and 
FAHST Officers 

 

This strategy focuses on working in partnership across 

the Council and Partner agencies including the 

Voluntary Sector. The aim of this is to develop and 

prioritise interventions that will bring about better 

outcomes for all citizens.  

Elements of this strategy will be delivered and linked 

through the local multi agency Community 

Improvement Partnerships (CIPs).  

The monthly CIPs are an outcome driven process 

where partners such as Fire and Rescue, Health and 

Voluntary Sector (led by Police Scotland and the 

Council), agree the correct course of action to tackle 

ongoing or future local community safety issues.  

These are done by coordinating and collectively 

agreeing priorities, actions and the deployment of 

resources through effective analysis of prevailing 

intelligence and evidence.    

In addition to the Locality CIPs, multi-agency Thematic 

Community Improvement Partnerships can be set up 

by the ECSP to allow greater focus around specific 

community safety and complex ASB issues that affect 

more than one locality. 

 Stronger Edinburgh  

Supporting the delivery of each priority is  a city-wide 

plan  which implements the principles of the Stronger 

Edinburgh Model across Edinburgh focusing on 

vulnerable adults, young people, and complex ASB.  

Adopting a solution focused methodology, Stronger 

Edinburgh advocates for a single agency coordinated 

approach that embraces the GIRFEC principles - one 

child or adult one plan (rather than many separate 

service plans)  -  enabling workers to escalate cases of 

concern where they are unable to effect positive 

change to presenting behaviours or situations in the 

first instance.   

Professionals supporting the household are jointly 

responsible for reviewing the support and where 

possible negotiating a way forward by identifying and 

addressing the issues that may be contributing to the 

behaviour including housing, debt, education or 

addiction. 

The methodology is driven by recognising that need, 

vulnerability and strength can be present for both the 

victims and the persons responsible and supporting 

them to make positive behavioural changes that 

increase quality of life and avoid further disruption.   

 

Family and Household Support Service and Police 

Scotland: Partnership Agreement  

The Council and Police Scotland, through the 

Edinburgh Division, are jointly committed to building 

safer communities through effective partnership 

working outlined under the existing Partnership 

Agreement.  

The agreement secures funded Community Police 

officers across Edinburgh’s local wards, a dedicated 

Youth Justice Sergeant based city wide, as well as 

local Police Constables embedded within the 

Council’s Family and Household Support (FHS) 

teams across all four localities. 

Family and Household Support teams focus on a 

strength-based approach, building resilience and 

seeking to secure the best and most sustainable 

outcomes for Edinburgh’s citizens. It focusses on 

keeping people in their tenancies, increasing safety, 

social mobility and reducing the impact of poor 

mental health, drugs and alcohol on families, 

households and community relationships.  

 

 

P
age 80



 

7 
 

Chapter Three: What we Know: Demographics and Recorded Crime  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Source: Scottish Government  Source: Scottish Government  Source: City of Edinburgh Council 

Source: National Records of Scotland  Source: Nomis Source: National Records of Scotland  

 

 

1.0%

4.3%

5.4%

11.2%

5.3%

Dundee

Aberdeen

Glasgow

Edinburgh

Scotland

Projected Population Change 2018 
to 2041

 

78,501 82,500 83,400 82,100 81,600 80,700

361,939 365,800 370,900 376,900 380,600 385,500

42,069 44,600 47,700 53,200 54,900 53,60035,991 37,400 43,600 48,800 55,900 63,300

2018 2021 2026 2031 2036 2041

Edinburgh by age group 

0-15 16-64 65-74 75+

 

-1.4%

2.7%

21.7%

24.9%

36.9%

Other

Couple with Children

Couple

Single Parent

Single Person

Household Type

 

 

1211.4
1030.7

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19

Crimes & Offences per 10k Pop

 

Non-sexual crimes of violence

Sexual crimes

Crimes of dishonesty

Fire raising, vandalism etc

Other Crimes

Miscellaneous Offences

Motor Vehicle Offences

5 year percentage change in 
reported crimes & offences 2014-15 

to 2018-19 

Scotland Edinburgh

P
age 81

https://www.gov.scot/publications/recorded-crime-scotland-2018-19/pages/3/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/recorded-crime-scotland-2018-19/pages/3/
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/population/population-estimates/mid-year-population-estimates
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/construct/summary.asp?mode=construct&version=0&dataset=2006
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/population/population-estimates/mid-year-population-estimates


 

8 
 

What we know: ASB Noise  

35.9

29.1

2014-152015-162016-172017-182018-19

ASB Complaints per 10k Pop

 

 

Noise (domestic noise and music) & Nuisance Behaviour accounted for around 74 % of all ASB complaints (CEC) 

  

 

69% people state that ASB is not common in their neighbourhood      84% say they feel safe after dark 

• Over the next 20 yrs the largest projected growth in household 

type is ‘single person’. 

• 68% of the homes in Edinburgh are flats with many mixed tenure 

blocks and poor sound proofing.  

• Edinburgh has the highest growth in numbers of households 

amongst Scottish cities in the ten years prior to 2017  

1 Air BnB for 

every 48 

people living 

in Edinburgh  

 
 

0.0%

50.0%

100.0%

0

2000

4000

N
o

is
e

N
u

is
an

…

Th
re

at
…

H
ar

as
s…

D
o

g…

D
is

tu
rb

…

Yo
u

th
…

U
n

kn
o

…

D
ru

g…

Sh
o

rt
…

B
eh

av
i…

Su
b

st
a…

O
th

e
r

V
an

d
al

i…

A
n

im
al

…

St
re

et
…

En
vi

ro
n

…

B
eg

gi
n

g

Fi
re

…

Th
ro

w
i… %

 o
f 

To
ta

l

N
o

 o
f 

C
o

m
p

la
in

ts

ASB Complaints - Oct 16 to Jun 19

No of Complaints Cummulative Total Cumulative %

 

35.9
29.1

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19

ASB Complaints per 10k Pop

 

Mediation creates opportunities for 

people to connect  

Many households that are contacted due to noise 

complaints present as vulnerable with complex needs 

including: domestic abuse; mental health issues, and 

alchol and drug dependencies yet do not meet the 

criteria for support services  

 

    

 

Many households that are contacted due to noise 

complaints present as vulnerable with complex needs 

including domestic abuse, mental health issues, and 

alcohol and drug dependencies, yet do not meet the 

criteria for support services.   

(UK Housing Review 

2019)  

A study of loneliness found that 

31.5% of working age adults who 

were disabled or off work for 

long periods due to illness were 

“frequently lonely”; people who 

reported high levels of ASB in 

their community and those who 

did not feel safe walking alone at 

night were more likely to report  

loneliness (Go Well: 2015)   

P
age 82



 

9 
 

What we know: Young People 👪  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Most important predictor of 

criminal record was found to be 

school exclusion (Edinburgh Study 

of Youth Transitions and Crime 

2012). 

 

 

 

 

Although more than 

halved since 2008/09 

Young People are still 

more likely to be a 

victim of violent crime  

 

Children growing up in 

poverty are more 

likely to harm 

themselves and be 

involved in violent 

crime  

     Children and young people who do offend are amongst the most 

vulnerable in society; a quarter have special educational needs and almost 

a fifth have depression: Barnardo’s 

   

Scale 4 low income/ 20 high income 

Children and young people identified 

that one of the key messages for 

adults to remember is that  

“We want to be safe” 

SCJS 

P
age 83



 

10 
 

What we know: Digital Safety  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

  

 

 

 

 

 

Traditional 

crimes such 

as stealing 

from a 

person or 

house; 

vandalism 

and crimes 

of 

dishonesty 

have 

decreased  

Grooming, 

Fraud, 

revenge 

online 

bulling, 

scams 

harassment 

are on the 

rise 

 

“Other Sexual Crimes” include communicating indecently, causing to view sexual activity 

or images and indecent photos of children  

 

 2013 – 2014   2016 – 2017  

 Cyber enabled “other sexual crimes” (Recorded crimes in  Scotland ) 

Activity delivered 

through this strategy will 

be focused on 

preventing victimisation. 

Victims and offenders of 

“other sexual crimes” 

tend to be younger and 

are more likely to know 

one another (SCJS) 

 

Figures from 

victimisation surveys 

are consistently higher 

than in police data. 

(SCJS) 

Parental concerns rising; 

although in some areas 

they are becoming less 

likely to moderate their 

child’s activity (Ofcom) 

 

National evidence suggests that the elderly (over 

65) may be particularly vulnerable to fraud (cold 

calling; email scams), which can be cyber related, 

where the primary motivation is for financial gain.  

 

P
age 84



 

11 
 

Chapter Four: Implementation   

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Three strategic short life working groups were 

established to lead on each theme, to review and take 

into consideration the range of information available 

including feedback from key stakeholders, horizon 

scanning, the impact of legislative change, social policy 

and the wider socioeconomic factors.  

The analysis of this led to the development of a path of 

action. Adopting Quality Improvement methodology, 

Driver Diagrams were developed for each theme to 

help plan improvement activities deliverable over a 

three-year cycle. Tasks in years 1 and 2 will focus on 

further enhancing our understanding of the current 

landscape and setting up new processes, including 

identifying baseline measurements, to ensure future 

phases of work can be accurately and effectively 

evaluated against predetermined outcome and impact 

indicators. In year 3 the strategy will focus on 

reviewing the effectiveness of the actions and making 

adjustments, where necessary, for future strategic 

development.  

The implementation of the strategy will be overseen 

by an executive group of the ECSP with three thematic 

delivery groups taking responsibility for ensuring 

effective implementation, monitoring and reporting 

against each priority theme.  

  

ASB Noise 
Delivery Group 

Digitial  
Safety  

Delivery 
Group 

Executive Group 

Young 
People 

Delivery 
Group 

P
age 85



 

12 
 

What we will do: Antisocial Behaviour: Noise  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Noise related issues account for the highest 

proportion of  ASB complaints, and  aside from the 

demands placed on public service resource, these 

behaviours negatively impact on the wellbeing of 

victims, their households, the wider community, and 

indeed, the perpetrators themselves.  

Characterised by complexity, noise complaints are 

routinely symptomatic of a cluster of underlying 

vulnerabilities, including mental health and 

addiction. 

Recognising the importance of causality and context 

and informed by the principles of early intervention 

and prevention, this multi-faceted strategy seeks to 

embed and deliver sustainable positive behavioural 

change through a programme of work. This includes 

the development of enhanced support, recording 

and referral mechanisms. The programme of work 

will be complemented by a bespoke communications 

plan, which will seek to educate and raise awareness 

around the inherent complexities of noise 

complaints, whilst also reaffirming the availability of 

the more formal actions that can be taken where 

appropriate. 

 

 

P
age 86



 

13 
 

Reduce harm and safeguard people from ASB specifically the impact of noise  
 
 
 

 
Embed Mediation  
 
 
 

 
To build resilience, promote community cohesion and tackle social isolation in an ever-expanding housing market we will further 
embed the current Council’s Community Mediation Service that is available to all of Edinburgh’s citizens experiencing a neighbour 
dispute. Community mediation is now a widespread and well-established tool for neighbour dispute resolution. 
 
Mediation can uncover practical solutions, foster positive forms of communication, reframe contentious issues into shared problems, 
and often give disputants a different perspective on the actions of themselves and their immediate neighbours. This does and will 
continue to have an impact on the general wellbeing of communities.  
 
 

 
Understanding 
landscape and map 
pathways between 
services and complex 
support needs  

 
In order to work in a coherent and informed way we will ensure our systems are able to record relevant details that will provide a 
comprehensive picture of those people who contact the service and have complex requirements.  We will also undertake a mapping 
exercise of the existing pathways and case management forums supporting individuals with complex needs including Stronger 
Edinburgh Vulnerable meetings. Findings of the exercise will identify possible gaps in services and inform best practice, improving the 
access to relevant support for those with complex needs, alongside improving the skills of the work force.   
 
 
 

  

P
age 87



 

14 
 

 

Communications  
 
 

We will develop communication plans to highlight the complex nature of issues facing many individuals who may be causing ASB and 
disruption within their communities  
 
We will also promote people’s rights and responsibilities ensuring that those individuals who impact negatively on their communities 
will be aware of the measures available to the Council to take further action where necessary. This would include where  those 
behaviours causing concern (fear and alarm or a nuisance to others) continue to be exhibited.  

 
The City of Edinburgh 
Council’s Antisocial 
Behaviour Policy and 
Eviction policy 
 
 
 
 

 
Whilst this strategy focusses on delivering preventative and early intervention methods with the aim of building resilient 
communities, we will robustly challenge the corrosive effect of ASB, hate crime, intimidation and harassment that is often caused by 
a small minority of people.  
 
We will use existing tools, including Antisocial Behaviour Orders, to prohibit an individual from engaging in further incidents of ASB, 
introducing restrictions and a plan of support they are required to engage with, to encourage behavioural change. 
 
We will consider the amendments to the Scottish Short Secured Tenancy legislation. We will also strengthen joint working between 
the Family and Household Support service and the Council’s Housing service to ensure that a cohesive and efficient response is 
delivered.  

Link with Housing 
Service Improvement 
Plan (HSIP) and Short 
Term Let Flats WG.  

 
We will link with, and keep up to date with, the progression of some of the key pieces of work outlined in the HSIP that will be 
developed to improve customer satisfaction. We will also tie in with the Air BNB working group to inform future practices around this 
area. 

 
 
 
KPIs  
 
 

• Antisocial behaviour complaints per 10k population (CEC)  

• Antisocial behaviour complaints due to noise (CEC)  

• Police Scotland Noise ASB Incidents per 10k population 

• Police Scotland Noise ASB Incidents due to noise  

• % satisfied with the way antisocial behaviour dealt with (EPS)  

• % who feel safe in their neighbourhood after dark (EPS)  

• Number of Mediation cases presented as noise  

• Number of Mediation cases presented as noise undertook mediation  

• Number of repeat calls within six months where mediation was undertaken 

P
age 88



 

15 
 

What we will do: Young People                  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Children and young people (under 18) play a vital 

role and make an important contribution to the 

future development of the City of Edinburgh.  For 

many, their development into adulthood is positive 

and untroubled.  Some however do not experience 

the childhood we would wish.  The Edinburgh 

Transition Study (2010) informs us that children who 

offend are often the most disadvantaged, and 

services do not respond quickly enough to address 

their problematic behaviour.  Most victims of youth 

crime are other children.   

This priority area aims to address both aspects of this 

issue – to work with young people who offend as 

early as possible to address factors that may be 

contributing to their offending, and to listen to the 

voices of young people who may be fearful of 

becoming victims of crime and taking action to 

address their concerns. 

Children who commit offences often have a wide 

range of unaddressed needs themselves; they may 

have experienced harmful childhood trauma.  They 

may also live in significant poverty or family 

breakdown.  Educational attainment and personal 

success are also recognised as important catalysts to 

help develop confidence, positive aspirations and to 

help them realise their full potential. 

  

P
age 89



 

16 
 

Reduce the likelihood of children and young people engaging in harmful or offending behaviour  
 
 
 
 
Roll out basic NHS 
Trauma Informed 
Practice across all 
agencies.  
 

 
Over the course of the strategy we will roll out trauma informed training and awareness raising events across services 
within the CEC and partner agencies. We believe that relationships matter and every contact with someone who has 
experienced adversity and trauma can be an opportunity for healing and growth.  
 
To make every contact count, it is vitally important to take time to listen to the people we work with and understand what 
lies behind the behaviours they present. To work in an adversity and trauma-informed way, is to be sensitive to the wider 
context of the person’s life, and how this impact on them, and any support you might be able to give them. 
 
 

 

Develop our approach 
to Contextual 
Safeguarding and 
ensure GIRFEC 
underpins our approach 
when working with 
children.  
 

 
Contextual Safeguarding is an approach - not a programme.  We will maximise opportunities to learn from other areas who 
have implemented and evaluated the approach, to implement the core principles into practice in Edinburgh.   This will ensure 
the wider context for individuals and groups of children and young people remains a key feature when assessing and 
intervening in the lives of children and young people.  
 
 

  

P
age 90



 

17 
 

 

 
Implement Edinburgh’s 
Wellbeing Outcomes 
Framework to ensure 
young people can meet 
their full potential.  

 
Through Stronger Edinburgh, we will introduce an assessment tool that will allow professionals to fully assess, monitor and 
evaluate their effectiveness whilst working with families. This will help to ensure that professionals are aware of what impact 
they potentially have on the wellbeing of the child or young person that they are working with. 
 
 

 
Ensure young people’s 
voices are heard and 
acted upon 

 
We will engage with young people on community safety issues using an action research approach.  This will involve working 
with groups of young people to identify issues in relation to community safety, perception and the fear of crime.  The aim is 
to take the feedback from Youth Talk and What kind of Edinburgh? and ask young people across the city if they recognise 
these issues, what they mean to them, what might be done about them and by who etc.  
 
The feedback will then be taken forward by a core group of young people with the aim of informing strategic work on 
community safety.  We hope the young people involved in both the initial discussions and in the core group will come from a 
range of backgrounds including those with lived experience of a range of community safety issues.  We are working closely 
with colleagues in Lifelong Learning and other services to identify groups with whom we will engage in discussion. 
 

 
Promote and manage 
school attendance as 
part of our work with 
children and families to 
improve positive 
destinations.  

 
We need to ensure that all children are included and supported to engage in and benefit from education through promoting 
positive behaviour and relationships.  
 
We will therefore link in with Schools and Lifelong Learning through the Stronger Edinburgh model to help inform how we will 
improve positive destinations.   

 
KPIs  
 
 

 
• % of Primary pupils with low attendance 

• % of Secondary pupils with low attendance 

• Number of children and young people who go through Stronger Edinburgh 

• How many children and young people feel safe? 

• Number of young people and children who are involved in ASB.  

• Number of young people offending  
 

P
age 91



 

18 
 

What we will do: Digital Safety    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

“Children of all age groups inhabit a world that seamlessly 

flows between on and offline” (Growing up with the 

Internet, 2017).  The area of health and wellbeing is a 

constantly evolving one, and the landscape in which 

children are growing up has radically changed over the last 

few decades.  

Online bullying, threatening communications, accessing 

distressing or upsetting content are significant risks to our 

young people. The fact that many parents and carers 

remain unaware of how to support their children to stay 

safe online exacerbates the risks posed.  

However, the impact of online harm does not just affect 

young people. Adults, whether they are perceived as 

vulnerable or not, can place themselves at risk of a variety 

of issues including fraud and financial exploitation. 

Online threats are complex and wide ranging. This strategy 

does not seek to address all issues within this area such as 

child exploitation, as this sits firmly within the delivery 

remit of Police Scotland.  

This priority theme will instead seek to improve the 

resilience of our communities and work towards 

preventing people from becoming victims. 

Consistent advice and accurate information including 

learning resources will be targeted at a wide range of 

audiences including parents, young children and vulnerable 

adults. Professionals in universal services such as 

education, and those working with Edinburgh’s most 

vulnerable children and young people will also be targeted.  

 

 

 

P
age 92



 

19 
 

  

 
Digital Safety: safeguard people from online harm  
   
 

 
Keep abreast of future 
analytical studies and 
adopt relevant 
recommendations.  
 
Develop methods on 
how to measure impact.   

 
We are operating in a complex and evolving landscape, one that we are continually trying to make sense of.  
In our first year we plan to develop our knowledge and understanding of this complex area by reviewing various data sources 
including existing and recently commissioned research. We will draw on and reflect on approaches adopted by our partners across 
the UK and internationally. Our findings will inform ongoing practice, the development of training and related communication 
strategies.   
 
It is important to develop baseline measurements to understand if the initiatives we undertake are making a real difference. 
Whilst not straightforward (as there is no agreed definition of digital/cybercrime  which covers a vast range of areas including 
bullying, identity theft and fraud, sexual exploitation;, theft of intellectual property & attacks against essential services), we will 
seek to identify methods that will effectively measure the impact of  community safety initiatives.   
 
 

 
Develop specific and 
appropriate awareness 
– raising activity for a 
range of audiences  
 
 

 
It is important that digital resilience messages are communicated in a way that reaches out to and lands with a broad audience, 
including children and young people and the most vulnerable. We will therefore map existing awareness raising campaigns to 
assess potential gaps, where we might add value, as well as consult with a range of people (face to face, surveys, community 
events) in order to identify what themes are important to them.  
 

P
age 93



 

20 
 

 

Develop a scenario to be 
included in the Risk 
Factory for Primary 7 
students  
 

The Risk Factory is an interactive safety centre. It manufactures everyday risks in a safe environment and aims to teach and enable 
young people to deal with or avoid risks all together. We plan to source financial support to enhance the high-quality interactive 
community safety educational centre, to include a scenario that would increase young people’s digital resilience in understanding 
how to protect themselves online.  
 
  

 
Embed digital resilience 
into teacher training 
and provide staff with 
basic understanding of 
issues to support 
individuals and families 
at earliest point.  
 
 
 

 
We will deliver online safety training to primary and secondary teaching staff to increase awareness and support them to 
confidently raise, address and respond to pupils who may have become victims and to help keep them safe whilst online. The 
strategy will seek to cover practical and ‘soft’ topics, such as personal relationships, risks associated with sharing information 
online and ways in which to talk to them about the associated risks. 
 
An overview of the risks and how to support parents to ensure that their children are safe online will also be provided to all staff 
including Council, NHS and Police who attend CEC Child Protection training. We will look to roll out the basic training to ensure 
that as many people who work with young people and their families are aware of online issues that can affect the wellbeing and 
safety of the individual and their families.  

Quicker outcomes for YP 
who have been charged 
with digital related 
activity where sexual 
offence is identified.  
 

We will commence dialogue with Crown Office and Prosecution Service Policy Department & Sexual Offences Unit with the aim of 
seeking and obtaining agreement to streamline the handling and processing of those young people who are charged and jointly 
reported for digital offences related to sexual crime offences.  
 
We will also seek approval to divert lower level digital related offences to the weekly Early and Effective Intervention meeting.   

 
KPIs  

 

• (see box1) indicators will be developed within the first year of the strategy (see point 1).  

• % of teachers who have undergone cyber resilience training 

• % of P7 pupils who have undergone cyber resilience training at Risk Factory 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 94



 

21 
 

 

 

 

Appendix 1  

Related Plans and Strategies  

• Edinburgh Community Justice Outcomes Improvement 

Plan 2019 – 2022  

• Edinburgh’s Youth Justice Strategy - 2020 – 2023  

• Local Policing Plan for Edinburgh City Division for 2018 –

2021 

• Fire and Rescue Service Strategic Plan 2019 – 2022 

• Edinburgh Community Plan 2018 – 2028  

• The Edinburgh Children’s Partnership: Children’s Service 

Plan 2017 -2020  

• Getting it Right for Every Child. A National Policy 

Framework to Promote Children’s Wellbeing in Scotland 

• Drugs and Alcohol – Rights, Respect and Recovery – 

Scottish Government  

• City Housing Strategy 2018  

• Change Strategy 2019 – 2023  

• Edinburgh Integration Joint Board Strategic Plan 2019 – 

2022  

• Thrive Edinburgh: Mental Health Strategic 

Commissioning Plan 2019-2022 

• Edinburgh’s Domestic Abuse Strategy and 

Implementation plan 2017  

• Scotland’s cyber resilience strategy: Safe. Secure and 

Prosperous: Scottish Government 2015 (include learning 

and skills action plan 2018 – 2020)  

• A Connected Scotland: Tackling social isolation and 

loneliness: Scottish Government 2018  

 

Appendix 2  

Relevant Legislation 

• Local Government in Scotland Act 2003  

• Antisocial Behaviour etc (Scotland) Act 2004  

• The Fire Safety (Scotland) Regulations 2006  

• Children’s (Scotland) Act 1995  

• Mental Health (care and treatment) (Scotland) Act 2003  

• Housing (Scotland) Act 1987  

• Roads (Scotland) Act 1984  

• Environmental Protection Act 1990  

• Criminal Justice and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2010  

• Community Justice (Scotland) Act 2016  

• Police and Fire Reform (Scotland) Act 2012 

• Criminal Procedures Act 1995  

• Community Empowerment (Scotland) Act 2015  

 

P
age 95



Appendix 2  

Antisocial behaviour and community safety issues: Citywide COVID 19 update  

 In order to monitor levels of antisocial behaviour across all localities (highlight 
emerging trends and issues of public concern and identify hotspots; sharing 
intelligence to support a collective partners response and planning during the 
restrictions) a weekly briefing has been delivered to the Senior Management 
Team.  

 The briefing highlights information collated by the Family and Household 
Support Teams and includes information logged on Council recording 
systems, police recorded incidents and intelligence as well as other relevant 
information.  

 Table one outlines a monthly overview of the weekly average rate of incidents 
logged over the last four and half months. Domestic noise; neighbour disputes 
and welfare concerns are closely linked and proved to be the top three areas 
of concern. Over the last four and a half months there was total average of 
118 call of domestic noise; 105 neighbour disputes and 95.5 welfare concerns 
made each month.  

Table 1  

 
Most welfare concerns continue to be reported as deterioration in wellbeing 
and mental health linked with the ongoing pressure of not being able to 
access the types of provision that people normally rely on such as community 
support groups and one on one counselling.  Some localities have recently 
highlighted that although they have seen a slight drop in welfare concerns 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

Domestic
noise

Parties Neighbour
disputes

COVID non
compliance

Welfare
concerns

Mediation Domestic
abuse

Other

Monthly comparisons

Month 1 weekly average Month 2 weekly average Month 3 weekly average

Month 4 weekly  average Month 5  weekly average

Page 96



there is still a consistent number of people who are reporting suicidal 
thoughts.  

Other categories that where reported on included:   

Domestic abuse which we have found that there has been a steady decline 
in the weekly average recorded domestic abuse complaints from an average 
of 51 complaints in month 2 to 30 in the first two weeks of month 5.   

The Other issues category rose by 57 % in week 18 and took over as the 
main area of concern from reports of Domestic Noise for the first time since 
reports began. However, the ‘Others’ category is wide ranging and can 
capture various issues, for example in week 18 some of the data highlighted 
concerns with; street fighting, drug dealing; seagulls; breach of ASBO’s; 
breach of bail; youth disorder; burning waste in gardens; vandalism; 
motorbike incident; hate crime and reports of a male with a knife.  

Impact of the relaxation in legislation around evictions   

The Scottish Government passed the Coronavirus (Scotland) Bill, which has 
now become law. These emergency provisions extended the notice period 
required to be given tenants before a landlord can start legal action to obtain 
an order for eviction. The provisions were due to expire on 30 September 
2020 however the Scottish government has announced that it plans to 
ensure that rules extending the notice period will remain in place until 
March 2021. 

There has been opposition from housing associations and social landlords 
generally to the proposed blanket extension of the emergency legislation 
provision extending the notice period for ASB evictions from one to three 
months. The Council anticipate that there will undoubtedly be instances where 
our tenants may endure continued disruption as a result of ASB under CVD 
19 conditions.  

In addition to the extended notice period, we anticipate when the courts to 
return to some version of normality the Courts are likely to experience a 
significant backlog of cases. It is anticipated that as a result court hearings 
may be delayed, and in some cases, where for example, eviction is contested, 
leading to proof may take 18-24 months to achieve (and there is also the 
prospect of appeal).  

However, evictions are not viewed as a quick fix therefore we have relatively 
low eviction rates as we support the individual or households to change their 
behaviour and address the underlying issues rather than simply seek to move 
the problem to another area of the city for the same behaviour to continue 
elsewhere.   

Where support and direction does not resolve the matter satisfactorily for the 
neighbour or community affected by the ASB, or in cases where the 
individuals responsible for the behaviour are unwilling to engage or address 

Page 97



its cause, it remains the case that the Council will seek to progress utilising 
the legislative powers available through the Courts, such as eviction or ASBO. 

Page 98



 

 
Culture and Communities Committee 
 

10.00am, Tuesday, 15 September 2020 

Museums and Galleries – Report on Extended Opening 
Hours 
 

Executive/routine Routine  
Wards All 
Council Commitments 46 

 

1. Recommendations 

1.1 It is recommended that Committee notes: 

1.1.1 the success of opening Museum venues seven days a week and the positive 
impact this had on visitor numbers, income and reputation pre-Covid-19; and 

1.1.2 the success of the externally funded schools programme at the City Art 
Centre. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Paul Lawrence 

Executive Director of Place 

Contact: Frank Little, Museums and Galleries Manager 

E-mail: frank.little@edinburgh.gov.uk | Tel: 0131 529 3994 

 

 

Page 99

Agenda Item 7.5

https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/council-commitments
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/council-commitments
mailto:frank.little@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:frank.little@edinburgh.gov.uk


 
Report 
 

Museums and Galleries – Report on Extended Opening 
Hours 
 
2. Executive Summary 

2.1 In October 2016 the Museums and Galleries Service implemented a change to 
opening hours to six of its museums and galleries in response to the Council’s 
Transformation programme, moving from a six and seven day a week operation to 
five days a week throughout the year.  

2.2 Following a review of opening hours the Culture and Communities Committee 
agreed on 20 March 2018 to extend opening hours to seven days a week, 10.00am 
– 5.00pm from 1 June 2018 for a one year pilot.   

2.3 A progress report was submitted to the Committee on 29 January 2019 for review 
after six months of operation and agreed the continuation of seven days a week 
opening.   

2.4 The following report summarises the positive impact of seven days a week opening 
for the period 2019-2020 before the Covid-19 pandemic 

 

3. Background 

3.1  On 1 October 2016 the Museums and Galleries Service implemented a change to 
opening hours to six of its museums and galleries in response to the Council’s 
Transformation programme, moving from a six and seven day a week operation to 
five days a week throughout the year. 

3.2 The report submitted to the Culture and Communities Committee on 30 January 
2018 outlined the impact of the changes. There was a significant decline in visitor 
numbers and a decline in income amounting to £76,598.  There were also issues 
concerning visitor perception and reputational damage 

3.3 The Committee agreed to convene two review meetings with member and officer 
representation to consider options for the future opening hours across the museums 
and galleries service.  

3.4 A range of options were explored and it was agreed that the best solution for the 
service was to move to a seven day a week operation, 10.00am to 5.00pm across 

Page 100

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/CeListDocuments.aspx?CommitteeId=139&MeetingId=1286&DF=20%2f03%2f2018&Ver=2
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/CeListDocuments.aspx?CommitteeId=139&MeetingId=1286&DF=20%2f03%2f2018&Ver=2
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/CeListDocuments.aspx?CommitteeId=139&MeetingId=1291&DF=29%2f01%2f2019&Ver=2
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/CeListDocuments.aspx?CommitteeId=139&MeetingId=1291&DF=29%2f01%2f2019&Ver=2
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/CeListDocuments.aspx?CommitteeId=139&MeetingId=1285&DF=30%2f01%2f2018&Ver=2
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/CeListDocuments.aspx?CommitteeId=139&MeetingId=1285&DF=30%2f01%2f2018&Ver=2
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/CeListDocuments.aspx?CommitteeId=139&MeetingId=1285&DF=30%2f01%2f2018&Ver=2
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/CeListDocuments.aspx?CommitteeId=139&MeetingId=1285&DF=30%2f01%2f2018&Ver=2


the year.  This would bring the service in line with all major museums and 
attractions in the city and meet the needs of local residents and visitors to the city 

3.5 Extending opening hours has allowed the service to maximise income opportunities 
from its major city centre venues. 

3.6 Operating the venues seven days a week has also allowed an increase in projects 
with Edinburgh community groups and school groups.  

 

4. Main report 

4.1 A progress report was submitted to the Committee on 29 January 2019 for review 
after six months of operation and agreed the continuation of seven days a week 
opening. 

4.2 By way of comparison the six month period between 1 June and 1 November 2019 
visitor numbers across the city centre museum venues increased by 40%, from 
219,542 in 2017 to 307,744 in 2019.   The overall increase of 40% in visitor 
numbers over two years is significant, and the City Art Centre has doubled its visitor 
numbers.   

4.3 Museums Galleries Edinburgh are currently demonstrating a larger rise in visitor 
numbers than current trends. For example, the National Museums and Galleries 
have annual visitor number targets of a 5-8% increase on an annual basis.  Every 
city centre venue has achieved increased visitor numbers. 

Visitor Numbers* June to 
November 

2017 

June to 
November 

2018 

June to 
November 

2019 

% Increase 
from (2018)  
2017- 2019 

City Art Centre 23,337 31,161 48,743 (34%) 108% 

Museum of Edinburgh 48,393 65,322 67,321 (35%) 39% 

People’s Story 30,109 25,056 42,146 (13%) 40% 

Museum of Childhood 79,708 112,340 
(Opening of 

new Gallery) 

96,619 (41%) 17% 

Writer’s Museum 35,288 47,933 49,739 (35%) 40% 

Queensferry Museum 2,707 3,881 3,176 (42%) 17% 

ALL 219,542 286,693 307,744 (31%) 40% 

*Other venues across the service contribute further visitor numbers, achieving an overall 
higher visitor number.  The venues listed above are the core venues affected by the 
changes to opening hours.  The % increase is calculated using visitor numbers from 
comparable time periods reflecting the visitor/tourist high season for museums and galleries 

Page 101



4.4 To illustrate further the improvement in visitor numbers, the annual visitor figures for 
the six venues across the financial years 2017/18 to 2019/20 are: 

2017/18  2018/19  2019/20 – to January 
2020 

360,623 512,355 476,929 

4.5 The change to seven days a week has also impacted positively on the visitor 
experience. Previously venues were closed on different days from others, and 
visitors found it difficult to understand when a venue was open. Complaints from 
visitors were frequent, particularly during peak times. Now that all venues are open 
at the same time seven days a week, this is no longer the case. 

4.6 Access is now available throughout the week for school and community groups and 
the venues are available when these groups want to use the service. 

4.7 Front of House staff have welcomed the change which has had a positive impact on 
morale and in turn, the visitor experience. 

4.8 The changes bring the service in line with all major museums and visitor attractions 
and meets the expectations of both residents and visitors to the city. 

4.9 Income across the six museum venues has also increased from 2017/18 to 
2019/20: 

Income Stream 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 to 
January 

Donations 24,336 14,089 21,420 

Retail sales 152,223 273,625 327,258 

Rent 62,333 55,207 96,739 

Total 238,895 342,921 445,417 

4.10 The income generated from retail sales, venue hire and donations at the six venues 
has almost doubled since 2017/18. In meeting targets, this income is supplemented 
through a combination of other revenue sources, including ticket sales at the Scott 
and Nelson monuments, venue hire and donations across the Museums and 
Galleries other venues. The increase in income has supported the costs of the 
seven day a week operation as well as meeting the service’s overall income targets. 

4.11 The service meets the needs and expectations of residents and visitors to the city 
by providing access seven days a week while achieving the income target to 
continue operating seven days a week, 10.00am – 5.00pm throughout the year 
beyond the year one pilot. 

  

Page 102



4.12 Operating a seven days opening service has meant an increase in projects with 
Edinburgh community groups and school groups.  For example, £25,000 was 
successfully sourced from the KPE4 Charitable Trust to deliver art workshops with 
schools in hard to reach communities.  Over 1000 children participated in this 
programme at the City Art Centre during the Victoria Crowe – 50 Years of Painting 
(18 May – 13 October 2019) exhibition.  Some of the children who participated in 
the workshops had never visited central Edinburgh or an art gallery before.  Offering 
seven days a week access to venues makes funding applications more likely to be 
successful. 

4.13 Building on the success of the schools programme at the City Art Centre an 
additional £200,000 has been secured from the Trust to fund a three year education 
programme.  

4.14 Working with young people in Leith, Niddrie, Muirhouse, Pilton, Craigmillar, Sighthill, 
Wester Hailes and Gracemount, the aim of the programme is to build meaningful 
relationships and develop exciting and diverse programmes across our museum 
venues.  

4.15 The implementation of seven days opening has had a positive impact on visitor 
figures, income, reputation and engagement with local communities. 

 

5. Next Steps 

5.1 The museums and gallery service is currently closed to the public due to the Covid-
19 pandemic. Staff at home are currently engaged in research, exhibition and public 
programme development, enquiries, training, marketing and promotion, and all 
aspects of collection management. 

5.2 Plans are in place to re-open on a phased basis in line with the Scottish 
Government’s phase 3 and phase 4 route map. It is proposed to open the City Art 
Centre first and reopen other venues by the end of 2020. The historic buildings 
which house a number of our museum collections present a challenge to reopen 
using current social distancing guidance. Reopening the City Art Centre will enable 
us to test social distancing measures within a cultural venue, give us valuable 
feedback from our visitors, and will provide income opportunities through the gallery 
shop, venue hire and café.  

5.3 Museums Galleries Edinburgh will continue to build on the success of the current 
opening hours by improving the visitor experience and maximising income 
opportunities. However, it is anticipated that it will be some time before visitor 
numbers return to pre-Covid numbers. 

5.4 Develop a three year education programme with communities across Edinburgh. 

5.5 The Museums and Galleries Edinburgh Service Plan 2019-2023 sets out a number 
of operational and strategic aims and actions, including key performance indicators 
See appendix 1. 

 

Page 103



6. Financial impact 

6.1 The additional staffing costs were contained within the revenue budget and met 
through income and external funding. 

 

7. Stakeholder/Community Impact 

7.1 Consultation was carried out with stakeholders, competitor attractions and staff for 
the initial review.   

7.2 Two review group meetings with cross party representatives and officers from the 
Culture service. 

 

8. Background reading/external references 

8.1 None. 

 

9. Appendices 

9.1 Appendix 1 - Museums and Galleries Edinburgh Service Plan 2019-2023. 

 

Page 104



1 
 

 
 
 
 

Museums & Galleries Edinburgh 
Service Plan 2019 - 2023 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 105



2 
 

Museums & Galleries Edinburgh Service Plan 2019 - 2023 
 
This document reviews the objectives of the 2013 - 2018 Service Plan and sets out the strategic and operational objectives for the next four years. It summarizes 
what has been achieved against the targets set and highlights operational goals that remain a priority. It is informed by and aligns with Council’s Change Strategy 
2019 - 2023 which details the Council’s budget and service priorities. 
 

Executive Summary of 2013 - 2018 Service Plan 
 
The Service Plan 2013 - 2018 set out the vision and aspirations for the services we provide to our diverse communities and visitors, and the role we play in 
supporting wider health and well-being, tourism and economic development agendas. The Service Plan provided staff, colleagues, stakeholders and users with 
a new outcome-focused action framework for the service, developed through a process of consultation, and matched against staff responsibilities and 
anticipated resources. 
 
The Plan also provided contextual information about the venues we manage and the strategic context in which we operate, locally and nationally. Our priorities 
were mapped against the aims of other policy and strategy documents that informed changes and improvements within Edinburgh and the museum sector. 
 
Our Vision: To inspire, enthuse and provoke through a shared passion for Edinburgh, art and history. 
 
Our Mission: Museums & Galleries Edinburgh enables people to connect with the city, its many histories and its role in presenting art from around the world. 

We do this through our collections, temporary exhibitions and public programmes, both physical and digital. We balance our responsibility to 
preserve, display and interpret collections with our mission to encourage debate, interaction, reflection and exploration.   

 
Aim 1: Deliver a world-class capital city museums and galleries service  
 Raise the profile of our services, collections and venues 
 Promote our service through new technologies and electronic media 
 Provide a dynamic range of exhibitions and public programmes 
 Improve physical, sensory and intellectual access to our buildings and services 
 Provide more efficient, flexible and modern facilities suitable for use by all 

P
age 106



3 
 

 Lead or participate in national and international programmes and initiatives 
 
Aim 2: Transform how we use and present our museums, galleries and monuments 
 Develop and implement a capital project plan to refurbish the Museum of Childhood 
 Deliver the refurbishment of the City Observatory and Dome in partnership with the Collective Gallery  
 Explore partnership opportunities to transform the People’s Story Museum  
 Advance Phase 2 plans for the Museum of Edinburgh 
 Refurbish Tron Kirk in partnership with Edinburgh World Heritage Trust 
 Maintain high quality provision across our venues, monuments and services 
 Invest in the fabric of buildings across our estate 

 
Aim 3: Place people and participation at the heart of what we do 
 Provide opportunities for new and existing audiences to participate through archaeology, exhibitions and public programmes 
 Encourage the sharing of ideas and exchange of knowledge 
 Engage local communities in the development and delivery of our services 
 Prioritise learning and volunteering opportunities in projects and work programmes 
 Expand our use of social media and new technologies to widen access to our collections and services 

 
Aim 4: Achieve excellence in the development, use and care of collections 
 Create policies and plans for how we manage, develop and care for our collections  
 Develop options for long term collections storage 
 Explore opportunities for collections research 
 Address documentation backlog issues strategically 
 Refine our collecting practice to ensure we are actively collecting in defined areas 
 Provide high quality interpretation in various media 

 
Aim 5: Work efficiently and effectively for maximum impact 
 Explore creative opportunities for effective partnership working 
 Foster cross-team and cross-Council working 

P
age 107



4 
 

 Improve internal staff communications 
 Identify and address succession planning issues  
 Provide staff with learning, development and networking opportunities  

 
Aim 6: Become ever more resourceful, resilient and sustainable 
 Explore creative opportunities for effective partnership working 
 Explore opportunities to develop marketing support 
 Increase income through growth and diversification of existing streams  
 Reduce environmental impact service-wide 
 Maximise commercial use of monuments, museums and galleries 
 Invest in the IT infrastructure of all venues and monuments 

 

Review of Achievements 
In 2013 our aims and aspirations were ambitious and challenging. We had an overarching commitment to work creatively by adopting new approaches and 
partnerships to ensure that we were able to deliver a sustainable, high quality, vibrant and relevant museum service. The service aimed to not only meet the 
expectations of our visitors but also contribute to the well-being and quality of life for our diverse communities across Edinburgh. This has been possible due in 
large part to our highly committed, knowledgeable and adaptable workforce and the enthusiasm and dedication of our volunteers and friends. 
 
However, despite having the key elements for success in place, we have undergone unprecedented change in the last five years. Faced with the greatest financial 
challenge in over 30 years, the service has had to adapt, restructure and transform to ensure that we have continued to provide the best in exhibitions, public 
programmes, archaeology, outreach, collections care, customer care and audience participation.  
 
In 2016, as a response to the Council’s budget pressures, the service underwent a restructure and staffing reductions were implemented. The immediate impact 
was the closure of our city centre venues from six and seven days a week to five days a week. This had a negative impact on visitor numbers, income and our 
reputation.  Advocacy with elected members along with feedback from visitors enabled a successful case to be made for additional financial support. In June 
2018 our venues were opened seven days a week for the first time in our history. Since the introduction of extended opening hours visitor numbers have 
increased by 31% and income by 38%. It has also ensured greater access to the collections both for visitors and residents. The continued importance of 
Accreditation and Recognition status is essential to making the case for investment in the service. 

P
age 108



5 
 

Despite these challenges - and the ever changing financial and political landscape - much has been achieved. Highlights have included the redisplay and upgrading 
of the ground floor of the Museum of Childhood, the refurbishment of the City Observatory in partnership with the Collective Gallery, redisplays at the Museum 
of Edinburgh, the Writers’ Museum and the Nelson Monument, a permanent collections gallery at the City Art Centre, the establishment of the South East of 
Scotland Archaeology Partnership, new social media and digital presence and seven day a week opening across our city centre venues. 
 
The following is a summary of the achievements against our six aims: 
 
Aim 1: Deliver a world-class capital city museum and galleries service 
Achievements 

• Implemented digital sales and marketing strategy 
• Delivered a new web site 
• Formed partnership with Marketing Edinburgh to assist publicity and promotion of the service 
• Teamed up with external PR agency Cornershop PR to enhance PR visibility  
• Updated and improved use of social media across the service 
• Delivered a service-wide temporary exhibitions programme 
• Delivered an annual Travelling Gallery programme that has brought cutting edge contemporary art to every part of Scotland 
• Delivered restoration of city WW1 War memorials and took part in Government VC paving stone scheme 
• Participated in City Wide Festivals including the Edinburgh Art Festival, The Edinburgh International Science Festival, and The Edinburgh International 

Festival and Fringe, The Edinburgh Jazz Festival, The Edinburgh Student Art Festival, the International Storytelling Festival, and the History Festival 
• Participated in National Programmes such as UNESCO City of Literature, Commonwealth Games 2014, Festival of Museums, The Burns Partnership, The 

National Collecting Scheme for Scotland, Scottish Government Focus Years programme, Art UK and the First World War Centenary Partnership 
• Managed and oversaw c.400 archaeological excavations and consulted on and responded to over 2000 planning applications 
• Established the South East of Scotland Archaeological Partnership 

 
Aim 2: Transform how we use and present our museums, galleries and monuments 
Achievements 

• Delivered phase one of the redevelopment of the Museum of Childhood 
• Delivered the restoration of the City Observatory complex on Calton Hill 

P
age 109



6 
 

• Produced Calton Hill management plan in partnership with Services for Communities and external stakeholders 
• Delivered refurbishment of Museum of Edinburgh courtyards, entrance hall and courtyard gallery 
• Upgraded displays in the Museum of Edinburgh including costume, Haig and glass galleries 
• Transformed the entrance hall of the Writers’ Museum to include a multi-purpose space and enhanced shop 
• Upgraded the exhibition displays at the Nelson Monument and delivered a new garden alongside 
• Developed business case for future use of Tron Kirk 
• Completed the 12 Monuments Project in partnership with Edinburgh World Heritage Trust 
• Improved on Visit Scotland gradings across several venues 
• Installed a new energy efficient lighting system at the City Art Centre 
• Converted Floor -1 of the City Art Centre into a permanent gallery for our Fine Art Collection 

 
Aim 3: Place people and participation at the heart of what we do 
Achievements 

• Improved access for socially excluded individuals and groups through partnership working 
• Developed and implemented an Outreach Strategy for the Service 
• Produced a volunteer policy, guidelines and toolkit 
• Formalised procedures for learning and volunteering opportunities to all planned projects 
• Developed full and varied public programmes around temporary exhibitions across the service, in conjunction with external partners 
• Developed a community archaeology project at Cammo Estate and worked with Cramond Heritage Trust and Cramond Association to enhance the 

interpretation of the Cramond Roman Fort 
 
Aim 4: Achieve excellence in the development, use and care of collections 
Achievements 

• Undertook a full collections and buildings review of venue security 
• Prepared and implemented a Care and Conservation Policy and Plan 
• Revised our Collections Development Policy 
• Revised the Jean F. Watson Bequest Collection strategy for Fine and Applied Art Collections 
• Identified options for increasing storage capacity 

P
age 110



7 
 

• Identified options for a new Costume store 
• Undertook a full review of our Printing Press Collection and relocated it to better storage facilities at Murrayburn 
• Upgraded our Albion Road store, and relocated part of our archaeology and social history collections  
• Introduced new web-based collections management system KE-Emu 
• Introduced a new environmental monitoring system across our service 
• Prioritised collecting contemporary material 
• Instituted a service wide housekeeping programme across the service 
• Installed new blinds at Lauriston Castle to reduce the harmful effects of sunlight, and devoted each February to a deep clean of the property 
• Continue to support the loan of collections to museums and galleries nationwide and internationally to increase access to the collections and enhance 

Edinburgh’s international reputation 
 
Aim 5: Work efficiently and effectively for maximum impact 
Achievements 

• Delivered an exhibition to showcase all the Museums and Galleries Collections at the City Art Centre 
• Ensured staff participation in cross-service working groups 
• Completed and evaluated Monument Fellowship initiative 
• Undertook regular team meetings and one to ones 
• Promoted participation in relevant subject area online forums 
• Promoted Continuous Professional Development 
• Promoted sector-wide learning and development opportunities 
• Encouraged staff uptake of CECIL and sector self-directed learning courses 
• Introduced new archaeological archiving procedures to inform Treasure Trove  

 
Aim 6: Become ever more resourceful, resilient and sustainable 
Achievements 

• Logged external funding secured in support of projects and programmes 
• Identified and applied to full range of available funding streams 
• Explored ways of using existing Trusts (Lauriston Castle and Friends of City Art Centre and Museums) as mechanisms to attract additional funding  

P
age 111



8 
 

• Developed relationships with Royal Mile attractions and business groups 
• Undertook an assessment of catering provision service-wide, and delivered a new franchise for the City Art Centre and Lauriston Castle 
• Identified ways of raising additional income through public programmes 
• Produced a retail plan for the service 
• Undertook an environmental audit of all sites and created an action plan 
• Connected museum and gallery venues to the Metropolitan Area Network 
• Introduced Wi-Fi at key venues (City Art Centre, Museum of Edinburgh, Museum of Childhood and Lauriston Castle) 
• Secured funding for the East of Scotland Museums Partnership for a temporary Marketing Officer 

 

Museums & Galleries Edinburgh Service Plan 2019 - 2023: Strategic Focus 
The service will contribute to the Council’s review of the Culture, Life-Long Learning and Leisure and adapt to any proposed change in governance, management 
arrangements or service delivery model. This may impact on the strategic and operational priorities set out in this plan but the focus for Museums & Galleries 
Edinburgh will be to build on the achievements of the previous five years and continue to realise our vision to inspire, enthuse and provoke through a shared 
passion for Edinburgh, art and history. 
  
1. Collections Inventory and Condition Review 
A three-year project to undertake a detailed inventory and condition review of the museum and galleries collections currently held at nine separate council 
premises and subsequently amalgamate these stored collections into one single new storage location. 
Immediate benefits are: 
 

• Full digitised database of all collection holdings meeting accreditation standards 
• All items with a correct location, allowing quick retrieval 
• Significant reduction in long term damage sustained by inadequate packing and packaging 
• Highlighting objects at risk of further deterioration and resources required for stabilisation 
• Object photographs of a suitable quality to go online on a collections search website 
• Opportunities for wider public engagement during the inventory and review project 
• Increased public access, both physical and digital, to the collections and collections information 

P
age 112



9 
 

• A holistic overview of the collections identifying items falling out with the Collections Development Policy, and therefore potential candidates for 
disposal (within Museums Association Disposal guidelines and Code of Ethics for Museums) 

• Objects photographs of a suitable quality to develop additional merchandise for Museums and Galleries shops 
 
Long term benefits are: 
 

• Enhanced understanding of hazards and risks within the collections resulting in improved risk management and health and safety for collection users 
• An informed rationalisation programme, leading to more adequate storage for existing items 
• Enhanced retrieval of records on our database leading to previously unknown items being placed on display, with the opportunity to vary exhibits in 

temporary exhibitions and thereby improving long-term preservation 
• More accurate valuations of collections leading to a likely increase in the monetary worth of the collections overall  
• Raised profile of extent and scope of the collections for use by researchers, community groups etc 
• Increased footfall to our museums and galleries leading to income generation 
• Introduce an integrated electronic booking, point of sale, online retail and customer relationship management system 

 
2. Service Redesign 
The development of a collections and service led redesign by investigating the feasibility of the potential to create a new museums and galleries service of 
international quality, appropriate to Edinburgh as Scotland’s capital city. This would allow much needed additional physical, educational and digital access to 
our nationally significant collections. 
 
Long term benefits: 
 

• A refocused, more sustainable, and cost-effective Museums and Galleries service of international standard 
• Reposition the service alongside, complementary to and distinct from the National institutions to allow the story of Edinburgh in all its richness and 

diversity to be told for the very first time  
• Improve the customer and visitor experience, provide opportunities for commercial development/maximise income, and enhance the city’s reputation 

as a world class cultural destination 
• Increased community engagement 

P
age 113



10 
 

• The potential for fewer buildings may result in lower running cost 
 

Museums & Galleries Edinburgh Business Plan 2019 - 2023: Operational Focus 
 
1. We will provide the best visitor experience for both local residents and international visitors 

• Deliver a temporary exhibitions programme and associated educational events at the City Art Centre 
• Refurbish the Scott Monument Museum Room 
• Redesign a new front entrance for the City Art Centre 
• Upgrade the displays at the Nelson Monument 
• Undertake an upgrade of the visitor facilities at Lauriston Castle and in partnership with the Forget Me Not Trust refurbish the gate lodge  
• Support the development of archaeology and widen access to the collections through publications, exhibitions and community engagement 
• Seek funding to publish the archaeological backlog projects 
• Maintain a housekeeping programme across the service 
• Re-purpose the ground floor of Acheson House for community and commercial purposes 
• Produce a four-year digital strategy and identify resources to support digital development 
• Undertake audience research to inform a long-term vision for the service 
• Produce a customer experience strategy 
• Prepare and implement a city’s monuments strategy 
• Support workforce development and training to meet service objectives 

 
2. Work in partnership to develop opportunities for community participation to enhance community cohesion, health and wellbeing 

• Develop schools programme and projects with higher and further education providers 
• Identify opportunities for individual and community input to collections development/ knowledge 
• Expand commercial opportunities with artistic communities within Edinburgh and surrounding areas 
• Identify partnership opportunities for developing sustainable smart technology to widen access to our service, venues, and collections 
• Secure resources to develop and improve the archaeology service and work with partners to deliver annual regional conferences as part of the South 

East Scotland Archaeological Partnership 
 

P
age 114



11 
 

3. Develop opportunities for income maximisation and commercial development 
• Revise pricing policy at Scott and Nelson Monuments to maximise income 
• Explore possible funding sources for Business Development support 
• Identify commercial sponsors for exhibitions and events 
• Identify product development opportunities relating directly to our collections across retail spaces 
• Identify potential funding opportunities for carbon reduction 
• Undertake an audit of current spaces, hire charges and equipment 
• Explore joint marketing support with Usher Hall/ Assembly Rooms for service-wide provision 
• Secure support from the Council’s Business Development section to help maximise the business opportunities for the service 
• Produce service wide fundraising strategy 
• Produce a range of promotional materials for venue hire 
• Introduce contactless donation system 

 
4. Performance Indicators 

• Visitor Numbers – 750,000 visitors across all venues with an annual 3% increase 
• Income target – £1,015,125 with an annual 3% increase  
• Trip Advisor – Maintain a minimum 4-star rating for venues across the service 
• Visit Scotland – Improve star rating by one star at four of our venues  
• Maintain Accreditation and Recognised status 

 
 

 
 
 

P
age 115



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
Culture and Communities Committee 
 

10am, Tuesday, 15 September 2020 

Fields in Trust Minute of Agreement for Marchbank Park 

Executive/routine Executive 
Wards Pentland Hills 
Council Commitments 43.  

 

1. Recommendations 

1.1 Committee is asked to support the execution of a Minute of Agreement with Fields 
in Trust to protect Marchbank Park as recreational open spaces for current and 
future generations. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Paul Lawrence 

Executive Director of Place 

Contact: David Jamieson, Parks, Greenspace and Cemeteries 

E-mail: david.jamieson@edinburgh.gov.uk | Tel: 07825 552 288 

 

  

Page 117

Agenda Item 7.6

https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/council-commitments
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/council-commitments
mailto:david.jamieson@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:david.jamieson@edinburgh.gov.uk


 
Report 
 

Fields in Trust Minute of Agreement for Marchbank Park 

2. Executive Summary 

2.1 This report fulfils the Motion by Councillor Gardiner seeking information to enable 
Elected Members to consider pursuing a Minute of Agreement with Fields in Trust. 

 

3. Background 

3.1 At the Council meeting of 28 July 2020, a Motion by Councillor Gardiner requested 
that officers bring forward a report for Elected Members to consider ‘Fields of Trust’ 
status for Marchbank Park in Balerno to the Policy and Sustainability Committee, in 
two cycles. Noting that implementing ‘Fields of Trust status for Marchbank Park has 
the support of both Balerno Community Council and Balerno Village Trust. 

3.2 Using a Minute of Agreement, the independent charity Fields in Trust works in 
partnership with local authorities to protect parks and green spaces in perpetuity for 
current and future generations to enjoy. It is a robust yet flexible way of legally 
safeguarding a space, making it necessary that the owner seeks permission from 
Fields in Trust before any development could take place. 

3.3 To date, the City of Edinburgh has registered 34 public parks with Fields in Trust or 
under its previous operating name, the National Playing Fields Association, via a 
series of memorial or celebratory programmes: three King George V Memorial 
Parks (1930s-1950s), three Millennium Fields (2000), a Golden Jubilee Field 
(2002), 24 Queen Elizabeth II Diamond Jubilee Fields (2011), a Centenary Field 
(2014), and two Green Spaces for Good (2018). 

 

4. Main report 

4.1 Marchbank Park, also known as the Bell’s Field, is a 5.9 hectare community park 
located in the centre of Balerno’s main housing area. The land is owned by the 
Council and has been maintained as an open space area since the development of 
the surrounding Bell’s Estate. The park is dissected by a series of footpaths to 
adjacent streets and incorporates amenity grassland, biodiversity grassland, a 
children’s play park, single trees and tree groups, including a line of mature beech 
trees that marks the former presence of an agricultural shelter belt. 

Page 118

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=150&MId=5546&Ver=4
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=150&MId=5546&Ver=4


4.2 Areas of ground making up the present-day park were acquired from Bellway 
(Builders) Limited in 1984 and a further deed was registered in 1993. The Council’s 
title does not contain an obstacle to the nomination as a Field in Trust. 

 

5. Next Steps 

5.1 If Committee supports the execution, a Minute of Agreement with Fields in Trust for 
Marchbank Park will be progressed. A Fields in Trust representative has already 
stated that they’d be “delighted to have Marchbank Park join the family of 
Edinburgh’s protected sites”. 

 

6. Financial impact 

6.1 Internal legal administration costs. These will be met from the Parks, Greenspace 
and Cemeteries revenue budget. 

 

7. Stakeholder/Community Impact 

7.1 Implementing ‘Fields of Trust status for Marchbank Park has the support of both 
Balerno Community Council and the Balerno Village Trust. 

 

8. Background reading/external references 

8.1 Further information on how Fields in Trust protect outdoor recreational space can 
be found at http://www.fieldsintrust.org/knowledge-base/fields-in-trust-protection 

  

Page 119

http://www.fieldsintrust.org/knowledge-base/fields-in-trust-protection
http://www.fieldsintrust.org/knowledge-base/fields-in-trust-protection


 

9. Appendices 

Appendix 1: Marchbank Park location plan 

 

 

Page 120



 

 
Culture and Communities Committee  
 

10.00am, Tuesday, 15 September 2020 

Graffiti Strategy for Edinburgh 

Executive/routine  
Wards All 
Council Commitments 5, 11, 23 

 

1. Recommendations 

1.1 Committee is asked to: 

1.1.1 Note the current resources allocated to graffiti removal alongside other 
duties; 

1.1.2 Note the details provided on the Legal position in respect of Graffiti removal; 

1.1.3 Approve the Graffiti Management Strategy and Policy; and  

1.1.4 Note the estimated cost of a dedicated graffiti removal team and agree to 
consider this cost as part of the budget setting process for 2021/22. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Paul Lawrence 

Executive Director of Place 

Contact: Andy Williams, Waste and Cleansing Service Manager 

E-mail: andy.williams@edinburgh.gov.uk | Tel: 0131 469 5660 

  

Page 121

Agenda Item 7.7

https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/council-commitments/delivering-council-works?documentId=12623&categoryId=20141
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/council-commitments/delivering-council-works?documentId=12623&categoryId=20141
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/council-commitments/building-future-edinburgh?documentId=12619&categoryId=20141
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/council-commitments/building-future-edinburgh?documentId=12619&categoryId=20141
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/council-commitments/delivering-sustainable-future?documentId=12620&categoryId=20141
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/council-commitments/delivering-sustainable-future?documentId=12620&categoryId=20141


 
 Report 
 

Graffiti Strategy for Edinburgh 

2. Executive Summary 

2.1 The purpose of this report is to update committee on the actions taken and strategy 
proposals following the Graffiti Working Group Findings Report, considered in 
January 2019. 

 

3. Background 

3.1 Graffiti is a complex subject, crossing the boundaries between what can be 
considered vandalism, street art and heritage. To address graffiti, as a World 
Heritage City, the seat of the Scottish Parliament and the capital of Scotland, strong 
consideration on a meaningful, inclusive, and sustainable approach is required. 

3.2 At previous committee meetings, graffiti was recognised as being a serious problem 
in the city, specifically graffiti ‘tagging’.  This has also been highlighted in Keep 
Scotland Beautiful’s ‘Local Environment Audit and Management System’ (LEAMS) 
report 2019/20 where it was noted that Graffiti was significant/severe in 20.3% and 
8.8% of the streets surveyed in Zone 1 and Zone 2 respectively. The report also 
states, “a third of city centre sites recording a presence and one in five sites 
significantly”.  However, statistical information, taken from the volume of recorded 
graffiti by this Council, does not fully support this.  As a guide, the number of 
recorded instances between 2017 and 2018 dropped by 36%.   

3.3 The Culture and Communities Committee approved the creation of a Graffiti 
Working Group on the 20 March 2018 following concerns raised, highlighting a 
potential increase in instances of graffiti across the city. An update report was 
submitted in January 2019. 

3.4 Current procedures and guidelines have been reviewed and best practice identified 
to ensure that a balanced approach is taken.  Robust policy(s) and procedure(s) on 
Graffiti Management are key components of the future strategy, aiming to reduce 
instances of ‘tagging’, while still providing space for the more creative elements and 
potential benefits of graffiti, street art, and murals for local communities. This will 
also ensure that the city’s residents and stakeholders are clear on the approach 
being taken by the local authority. 

 

Page 122

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/CeListDocuments.aspx?CommitteeId=139&MeetingId=1291&DF=29%2f01%2f2019&Ver=2
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/CeListDocuments.aspx?CommitteeId=139&MeetingId=1291&DF=29%2f01%2f2019&Ver=2
https://www.keepscotlandbeautiful.org/environmental-services/leams/
https://www.keepscotlandbeautiful.org/environmental-services/leams/
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/CeListDocuments.aspx?CommitteeId=139&MeetingId=1286&DF=20%2f03%2f2018&Ver=2
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/CeListDocuments.aspx?CommitteeId=139&MeetingId=1286&DF=20%2f03%2f2018&Ver=2


3.5 The City of Edinburgh Council has responsibility for the management of the local 
environment but there is no statutory responsibility for the removal of graffiti. 
Although there are statutory instruments available to local authorities (to address 
graffiti on private property), consideration must be given to the fact that those 
affected are generally regarded as victims of antisocial behaviour/crime, and all 
reasonable actions should be taken before these instruments are employed.  

3.6 Associated behaviours, in the form of flyposting and the use of stickers on street 
furniture, should also be taken into consideration, going forward. 

 

4. Main report 

4.1 Following the submission of the Graffiti Working Group Report in January 2019, a 
Graffiti Project Officer was appointed in June 2019 to take forward the report’s 
recommendations. 

The Current Position/Resources  

4.2 The Council do not have a dedicated graffiti removal team. The Cleansing team 
have two jetting vehicles with four dedicated operatives, who work on a four on four 
off, shift pattern.  The operatives undertake the removal of graffiti across all four 
localities within the city alongside other programmed duties across the city, 
including (but not limited to): 

4.2.1 close washing; 

4.2.2 chemical and paint spillages;  

4.2.3 bio-hazard and accidental death clean-up;  

4.2.4 road traffic accidents; 

4.2.5 bridge(s) wash-down (pigeon droppings, etc); and 

4.2.6 chewing-gum removal and Council fuel pump maintenance.  

4.3 The team only actively remove graffiti from Council assets and have limited capacity 
to remove graffiti from private property.   

4.4 However, where requested, removal of graffiti from private property is rechargeable 
in the vast majority of cases requiring the responsible party to agree to a provided 
quote and to sign a waiver, as appropriate. Property owners are also encouraged to 
seek additional quotes for any works and to request a method statement.  

4.5 Offensive graffiti is removed from Council property within current guidelines, as 
resources allow.  Graffiti which is threatening, obscene, racist, homophobic, or 
otherwise constitutes an attack on people protected under equalities legislation, can 
be removed from private property, providing: the Council are aware of the markings; 
the owner’s consent is given; and a waiver signed. 

  

Page 123



4.6 Non-offensive graffiti on Council property is prioritised against other similar 
instances across the city, with its removal being affected by the number of priority 
offensive graffiti incidents reported and/or received. Graffiti on private property is 
the responsibility of the owner to remove. 

4.7 The Council currently do not have a dedicated team to carry out investigations into 
instances of graffiti, pursue its removal or carry out research into those responsible, 
or to provide guidance on street art, murals, and graffiti management.  

The Legal Position 

4.8 Legal instruments are available to local authorities and Police Scotland. However, 
as referenced in section 3.5, consideration must be given to the fact that property 
owners are generally regarded as victims of antisocial behaviour and/or crime. 

4.9 The Antisocial Behaviour Etc (Scotland) Act 2004, allows for the serving of Graffiti 
Notices on statutory undertakers under section 58, and Fixed Penalty Notices for 
Vandalism/Malicious Mischief under section 128 (Criminal Law 
(Consolidation)(Scotland) Act 1995, Section 52(1)). 

4.10 Graffiti on Statutory Undertakers (Utilities) Above Ground Apparatus can be 
regarded as a defect.  A Graffiti Removal notice can be served via the Antisocial 
Behaviour Etc (Scotland) Act 2004, Section 58. 

4.11 The Roads (Scotland) Act 1984, can also be considered where unauthorised 
markings have been made on the Road Network, under Section 100(b).  

Graffiti Strategy Proposal 

4.12 An assessment is in progress to ascertain the current resources in place to address 
graffiti. This work is being undertaken in conjunction with costing resources that 
would be required to fully focus on graffiti management, going forward. 

4.13 The addition of a dedicated and separate Graffiti Team to address all graffiti, 
including Council assets, private property, and historic structures on or adjacent to 
publicly adopted land is required to support graffiti management within Edinburgh.  
It is proposed that this would need to be part funded by key stakeholders. 

4.14 Under the proposal, graffiti removal would be global in respect to structures and 
assets on or adjacent to publicly adopted, or Council owned land, additionally, 
creating the opportunity to offer paid services to private land owners and bodies not 
contributing to the proposed service, and not adjacent to publicly adopted land. 
Examples could potentially include NHS Scotland, Colleges, the National Trust, 
Scottish Canals, Scottish Government, and private businesses.  

4.15 A draft Graffiti Management policy is provided in Appendix 4, which would be 
supported by a range of measures, as below. 

Data Management and Intelligence 

4.16 Graffiti Database – Prior to a database being initiated, appropriate and additional 
resources should be in place to investigate and take proportionate and proactive 
action on graffiti ‘tagging’ and other undesired graffiti, including removal.  This is 
critical to manage expectations, ensure accuracy of removal costs and volume 

Page 124



removed, while supporting any enforcement actions; including detailed information 
sharing with Police Scotland (taking into consideration GDPR).  The Council’s 
current asset management database has been identified as the best fit to record 
and share information, without incurring additional financial impact.  All actions 
should follow the PIER (Prevention, Intervention, Enforcement, and Rehabilitation) 
Model.  

Prevention and Intervention Examples and Opportunities: 

Tolerance Zones 

4.17 A ‘Tolerance Zone’ is regarded as permanent safe space(s), ideally located within 
or close to a city centre, unmanaged by the local authority (in terms of the graffiti 
space) and has high footfall with no through or heavy vehicular traffic.  Effectively, 
this is a space where the local authority and Police can exercise a degree of 
tolerance (blind space).   

4.18 This approach is not a new concept and the Council currently, and in the past, 
works in close partnership with developers and the graffiti arts community to provide 
a temporary space for graffiti, usually on development hoardings. 

4.19 Policy and procedures will be developed (including Terms of Use) for Tolerance 
Zones and other types of intervention, providing clear direction for the City’s 
residents and stakeholders. 

4.20 More information on Tolerance Zones is outlined in Appendix 1. 

Legal Walls 

4.21 ‘Legal Walls’, are managed safe spaces recommended to be within or close to a 
city centre and having no through or heavy vehicular traffic.  These spaces are 
managed by stakeholders, in partnership with the local authority (e.g. Marine 
Parade Graffiti Wall).  Legal Walls can prove to be a valuable showcase for street 
art and experienced graffiti artists, increasing community engagement and lifting the 
vibrancy and economy of the locations where they are installed. Legal Walls work in 
a similar way to local authority approved murals but without the same guidelines or 
restrictions.   

4.22 As above, policy and procedures will be developed (including Terms of Use) for 
Legal Walls, providing clear direction for the City’s residents and stakeholders. 

4.23 Several cities have taken the approach of actively engaging with the Graffiti 
Community and making use of Tolerance Zones and Legal Walls, including Vienna, 
Ghent, London, Leicester, and many others to varying degrees.  See Appendix 1 for 
further information and an example of Terms of Use. 

Above Ground Apparatus (Utility Cabinets/Boxes) 

4.24 Utility apparatus is often heavily targeted by graffiti and its removal can take a 
number of weeks to address.  Normally, and once reported, this is due to necessary 
programming of works by the property owner.  Most utilities do not have a 
maintenance inspection regime in place and rely on defects being reported directly 
to them. 

Page 125



4.25 It is recognised that commissioned murals/street art deters graffiti. Some cities and 
towns have carried out projects where street art is used on utility apparatus, often 
reflecting local themes or history.  The main concern with this kind of intervention is 
maintaining the functionality of the apparatus (not blocking cooling vents or allowing 
paint/moisture inside the asset, causing damage), and therefore gaining any 
required permissions from the owner. For key areas, like World Heritage or 
Conservation areas, this intervention would not be appropriate.  

Murals/Street Art 

4.26 As recommended in the Graffiti Working Group Report, a more streamlined process 
for the application and installation of murals and/or street art is required. Initial 
discussions with the Planning Service have taken place, and a joined up approach 
to update current Planning policy has been identified. Procedures to support this 
work are being developed.   

Historic Monuments and Listed Buildings 

4.27 Historic Environment Scotland (HES) have oversight on structures of historic 
significance.  Any works on such structures, including graffiti removal, must be 
approved by HES with a method statement submitted for those works.  The Council 
works closely with HES to ensure removal methods are appropriate to the structure 
and do not cause unnecessary or long term damage. The Planning Service should 
also be consulted when the removal of graffiti on listed buildings is desired.  

Southside Corridor Pilot (A7)  

4.28 The Southside Corridor was identified as a pilot area for a graffiti clean-up, including 
stickers and fly-posting. This pilot feeds into the Locality Improvement Plan 2017 – 
2022 (Small Area Plan) for the South East Locality. Once complete a procedural 
template should be available for other areas within the City. The first section (zone) 
was scheduled to be complete by March 2020 as outlined in Appendix 2. The pilot 
was unavoidably delayed and will be re-scheduled as soon as it is practical to do 
so. 

4.29 Business proposal will be developed to be implemented in early 2021/22 Financial 
Year.  

 

5. Next Steps 

5.1 Where appropriate and/or necessary, implement the use of legal instruments. And 
continue to target graffiti, etc on council-maintained street furniture. 

5.2 Procedure(s) are being developed to support the following:  

5.2.1 Graffiti Recording (using the identified asset management database) and 
information sharing with Police Scotland, and potential key stakeholders. Key 
stakeholders may include Family and Household Support, Housing Services, 
and Responsible Social Landlords (RSLs).  Procedures will take into 
consideration the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR).   

Page 126



5.2.2 Management and development of Tolerance Zones and Legal Walls – to 
include identification of potential sites and initiating a pilot scheme(s).  
Procedures will also address: Use of Development hoardings, guidance on 
Terms of Use, site specific information boards, potential locations for 
managed fly-posting/advertising, and temporary/mobile graffiti structures 
(intervention and events).  

5.2.3 Mural/Street Art Applications and Management (Policy/Procedure) - Existing 
Policy covering street art requires review and new procedures developed; 
with a view to providing a clear and streamlined process for the installation of 
art in the public realm. Planning and Waste Services to take a joint approach.  

5.3 In addition, continue to develop the use of Confirm Connect (for council employees) 
and Verint (public facing report form) to record and manage instances of graffiti.  

 

6. Financial impact 

6.1 Work has been undertaken to identify the resources and costs involved in creating a 
dedicated Graffiti Management Team for the city, i.e. a team capable of removing 
all graffiti on or adjacent to publicly owned or adopted land and without additional 
cost to those affected by unwanted/illegal graffiti. 

6.2 Current research has identified the initial resources required to undertake this key 
role for the City of Edinburgh and is outlined in Appendix 3.  

6.3 The total estimated cost for the above (proposed) Graffiti Management Team is 
currently £530,000 per annum. A full costing would be provided as part of any 
submitted Business Case.  

6.4 The expectation is to have stakeholder buy-in for up to 50% of the total annual cost. 
It is recommended that this is initially on a rolling agreement and reviewed over the 
cycle, with future potential for a longer-term agreement if proven successful. Utilities 
have already been engaged and other stakeholders may include Education Bodies, 
The National Trust, Scottish Canals, The Scottish Government, Responsible Social 
Landlords, Business Improvement District’s (BID’s) and Rail Operators.  

6.5 Alternative funding is being explored. However, the Graffiti Management Team 
proposal would fit well within discussions on how the Transient Visitor Levy can 
benefit and improve the city.  Work is also being undertaken to understand the 
resources being spent in other Council service areas for graffiti removal, and how 
this proposal can be of benefit to those services going forward. 

6.6 If established, a dedicated Graffiti Removal Service, managed by the local authority, 
could also offer a paid removal service for locations outwith, and not adjacent to, 
publicly owned or adopted land.  As a public body would operate the service on a 
not for profit basis, it would be highly competitive with good potential to generate a 
viable income. 

6.7 Consideration of any potential resource impact to Police Scotland would be 
reviewed as part of the proposals ongoing research and analysis. 

Page 127



 

7. Stakeholder/Community Impact 

7.1 Stakeholder consultation and engagement has been undertaken with a number of 
bodies, including Police Scotland, the University of Edinburgh, HES, Spectrum Arts, 
utilities companies, Transport, Planning, Family and Household Support (ex - 
Community Safety), ICT Solutions, Waste and Cleansing Services, Street 
Enforcement Teams and Strategic Change and Delivery.  

7.2 Engagement has taken place with Doncaster Council and Ghent City Council in 
relation to the successful approach they take to managing graffiti. 

7.3 The Southside Corridor Pilot captures a wide range of engagement, including local 
residents, community groups, businesses, RSL’s, education bodies, Police Scotland 
and local Councillors.   

7.4 Better management of graffiti will help to enhance the local urban environment and 
ensure that Edinburgh remains an attractive place to live, work and visit. 

 

8. Background reading/external references 

8.1 Vienna: http://wienerwand.at/index.php [Graffiti Walls]. 

8.2 Ghent (Visit Ghent): https://visit.gent.be/en/see-do/street-art-and-graffiti-
ghent?context=tourist. 

8.3 Ghent: (Translate function on the web browser recommended to be active) 
https://stad.gent/nl/samenleven-welzijn-
gezondheid/samenleven/leefbaarheid/graffiti-en-wildgeplakte-affiches [Graffiti and 
Flyposting Information Page]. 

8.4 London (Visit London): https://www.visitlondon.com/things-to-do/openspace/street-
art-london. 

8.5 London (Tower Hamlets Council): 
https://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/News_events/2019/March_2019/Removing_blight
_and_protecting_street_art._Tower_Hamlets_agrees_new_graffiti_and_street_art_
policy.aspx. 

8.6 London (Hackney Council): https://hackney.gov.uk/graffiti. 

8.7 Leicester (Leicester Council/Bring The Paint festival): 
https://www.visitleicester.info/whats-on/bring-the-paint-p771951. 

8.8 Graffiti Resource Council http://www.anti-graffiti.org/cities-in-action/mural-programs 
[Murals and Street Art as graffiti deterrents]. 

8.9 Design Against Crime Presentation: 
http://www.designagainstcrime.com/files/graffitidialogues/A_DIaglogue_DACWEB.p
df. 

Page 128

http://wienerwand.at/index.php
http://wienerwand.at/index.php
https://visit.gent.be/en/see-do/street-art-and-graffiti-ghent?context=tourist
https://visit.gent.be/en/see-do/street-art-and-graffiti-ghent?context=tourist
https://visit.gent.be/en/see-do/street-art-and-graffiti-ghent?context=tourist
https://visit.gent.be/en/see-do/street-art-and-graffiti-ghent?context=tourist
https://stad.gent/nl/samenleven-welzijn-gezondheid/samenleven/leefbaarheid/graffiti-en-wildgeplakte-affiches
https://stad.gent/nl/samenleven-welzijn-gezondheid/samenleven/leefbaarheid/graffiti-en-wildgeplakte-affiches
https://stad.gent/nl/samenleven-welzijn-gezondheid/samenleven/leefbaarheid/graffiti-en-wildgeplakte-affiches
https://stad.gent/nl/samenleven-welzijn-gezondheid/samenleven/leefbaarheid/graffiti-en-wildgeplakte-affiches
https://www.visitlondon.com/things-to-do/openspace/street-art-london
https://www.visitlondon.com/things-to-do/openspace/street-art-london
https://www.visitlondon.com/things-to-do/openspace/street-art-london
https://www.visitlondon.com/things-to-do/openspace/street-art-london
https://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/News_events/2019/March_2019/Removing_blight_and_protecting_street_art._Tower_Hamlets_agrees_new_graffiti_and_street_art_policy.aspx
https://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/News_events/2019/March_2019/Removing_blight_and_protecting_street_art._Tower_Hamlets_agrees_new_graffiti_and_street_art_policy.aspx
https://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/News_events/2019/March_2019/Removing_blight_and_protecting_street_art._Tower_Hamlets_agrees_new_graffiti_and_street_art_policy.aspx
https://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/News_events/2019/March_2019/Removing_blight_and_protecting_street_art._Tower_Hamlets_agrees_new_graffiti_and_street_art_policy.aspx
https://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/News_events/2019/March_2019/Removing_blight_and_protecting_street_art._Tower_Hamlets_agrees_new_graffiti_and_street_art_policy.aspx
https://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/News_events/2019/March_2019/Removing_blight_and_protecting_street_art._Tower_Hamlets_agrees_new_graffiti_and_street_art_policy.aspx
https://hackney.gov.uk/graffiti
https://hackney.gov.uk/graffiti
https://www.visitleicester.info/whats-on/bring-the-paint-p771951
https://www.visitleicester.info/whats-on/bring-the-paint-p771951
http://www.anti-graffiti.org/cities-in-action/mural-programs
http://www.anti-graffiti.org/cities-in-action/mural-programs
http://www.designagainstcrime.com/files/graffitidialogues/A_DIaglogue_DACWEB.pdf
http://www.designagainstcrime.com/files/graffitidialogues/A_DIaglogue_DACWEB.pdf
http://www.designagainstcrime.com/files/graffitidialogues/A_DIaglogue_DACWEB.pdf
http://www.designagainstcrime.com/files/graffitidialogues/A_DIaglogue_DACWEB.pdf


8.10 The Mural as Graffiti Deterrence http://willsull.net/la597/resources/14-March/6-
Craw-et-al.-2006.pdf [PJ CRAW, New Zealand]. 

8.11 Does Urban Art Deter Graffiti Proliferation (Evaluation Paper) 
http://www.britsoccrim.org/volume9/4.Taylor09.pdf [M TAYLOR, Australia]. 

8.12 Roads (Scotland) Act 1984, Section 100(b): 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1984/54/section/100. 

8.13 Antisocial Behaviour Etc (Scotland) Act 2004: Section 58 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2004/8/part/6; Section 128 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2004/8/section/128. 

8.14 Criminal Law (Consolidation) (Scotland) Act 1995: Section 52 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1995/39/section/52. 

 

9. Appendices 

9.1 Appendix 1 - Tolerance Zone and Legal Walls. 

9.2 Appendix 2 - Proposal for Pilot Project. 

9.3 Appendix 3 - Graffiti Team Resources Proposal. 

9.4 Appendix 4 - Draft Graffiti Management Policy. 

Page 129

http://willsull.net/la597/resources/14-March/6-Craw-et-al.-2006.pdf
http://willsull.net/la597/resources/14-March/6-Craw-et-al.-2006.pdf
http://willsull.net/la597/resources/14-March/6-Craw-et-al.-2006.pdf
http://www.britsoccrim.org/volume9/4.Taylor09.pdf
http://www.britsoccrim.org/volume9/4.Taylor09.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1984/54/section/100
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1984/54/section/100
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2004/8/part/6
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2004/8/part/6
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2004/8/section/128
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2004/8/section/128
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1995/39/section/52
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1995/39/section/52


Appendix 1 - Tolerance Zone and Legal Walls 

1.1 Tolerance Zones and Legal Walls are interventions intended to provide a 
safe space for the development of creative skills, skill sharing, and the 
potential to learn from other more experienced graffitists, while presenting 
the opportunity to open dialogue with other users of the space.  This 
diversionary approach can prove to be of benefit to overall graffiti 
management and develop respect for the community, and a sense of 
inclusion.  

1.2 Rules or conditions on their use are common in cities that provide these 
areas, including responsible disposal and/or recycling of used materials; 
ensuring the area is tidied following use; respect for the surrounding property 
and other users; reporting or obliteration of offensive graffiti (as defined in 
section 4.6) by the user group; understanding that graffiti and tagging outwith 
the area is subject to legislative/enforcement measures.  

1.3 By putting the management responsibility in the hands of those using these 
areas, especially in the case of Tolerance Zones, it can create an 
atmosphere of cultural openness and engagement. Although the approach 
would be considered a ‘Tolerance Zone’, offensive graffiti would still require 
removal where noted. 

1.4 Location is key and will need careful consideration. It will also need robust 
resources in place to ensure success.  There is likely to be overspill where 
these spaces are provided but with the closer engagement, clear and 
consistent terms of use, and adequate resources to act on overspill, these 
interventions could prove successful.  Therefore, having a dedicated team to 
remove any overspill and acting on those not respecting the immediate 
environs will be paramount for this kind of intervention to work. 

1.5 Graffitists and artists welcome this kind of intervention and it provides a 
creative splash of colour to an area, especially where murals and street art is 
evident. It can also improve a local economy, especially where guided tours 
and arts tourism is exercised.     

1.6 This approach, of being inclusive to this and other sub-cultures within the 
urban environment, has been adopted by many cities around the world and 
to varying degrees.  Although it does not remove the issue of 
unwanted/illegal graffiti on public and private property, it can be considered 
to have a positive effect with relatively low financial impact.     

  

Page 130



 

Code of Conduct (Proposed) 

The following Code of Conduct was developed to support the Marine Parade Graffiti 
Wall and it is proposed to use this as the basis for any future Codes of Conduct. 

Respect Boundaries – Only Paint on the legal wall and not the surroundings 

Get Permission – If you are not sure where to paint get in touch with 
[APPROPRIATE STAKEHOLDER’S NAME]. They will be able to advise (contact 
details) 

Be Friendly – To the neighbours, visitors and other writers, this is a community 
space 

No Tagging – Covering artwork only partially is disrespectful 

No Disrespect – Don’t cover artwork that is clearly of better quality or more 
elaborate than yours 

Beginners – If you are starting out please use the practice wall provided 

No Offence – Don’t paint racist, sexist or in other ways offensive images and 
message 

Don’t Litter – Take your rubbish with you (or use bins provided) THIS MEANS 
CANS AND CAPS TOO 

Take Care – This wall is on a thoroughfare, be aware of passing traffic 

 

 

 

  

Page 131



Appendix 2 - Proposal for Pilot Project 

The table below is a brief on the intended process, utilising the resources currently 
available to this council. As resources stand, we are not able to provide a removal service 
for graffiti on private property, without recovering costs. This pilot will mould procedures 
going forward. 

Action Description 
Split A7 (Southside 
Corridor) into Zones 

Clearing graffiti, flyposting and stickers is less cumbersome 
to manage. Also allows for more manageable engagement 
with private owners and businesses. 
 

Specialist Services (CEC 
Street Cleansing) 

Assess all graffiti, flyposting and stickers. Also provide 
removal quote per address. 
 

Mailshots Inform owners of project and objectives, provide 
appropriate advice, offer quote, and seek a majority 
mandate where needed. 
 

Contact private businesses 
and statutory undertakers 

Request removal within project timeframe and offer quote 
with waiver. 
 

Clean Graffiti, Flyposting 
and Stickers from CEC 
Assets 

Lamp-posts, cabinets, structures, property. 

Clear Graffiti from private 
addresses. 

Where a majority mandate and permission/waiver is 
provided 
 

Recharge works Where required 
 

 

  

Page 132



Appendix 3 - Graffiti Team Resources Proposal 

 

Resource Description Grade Quantity Estimated Costs 

Graffiti Removal 
Vehicles 

Long Wheel 
base (with 
Cherry Picker 
preference) 

N/A 4 

(2 x current; 
2x 
additional 
Vehicles) 

@ £25,500/year 

= £104,000/year 

Supplies and 
Sundries 

Chemicals, 
paint, PPE, 
Training, 
Maintenance 

N/A Forecast 
based on 
current 
service 
usage. 

@ £153,000/ 
year 

Operatives/Officers Graffiti 
Removal, 
Assessor, 
Project 
Implementation, 
Community 
Engagement 

5 7 

 

@ £29,510  

= £206,571 

(including shift 
enhancements) 

Supervisors Staff 
Management 

6 1 @ £35,147 

=£35,147 

(including shift 
enhancements) 

Project and 
Strategy Co-
Ordinator 

Project 
Development 
and co-
ordination, 
Stakeholder 
Engagement, 
Programme 
Management 

6 1 @ £31,484 

 

 

    Total: £530,202 

 

 

Page 133



Appendix 4 - Draft Graffiti Management Policy 

 

What is Graffiti? 

Graffiti is defined as any unauthorised writing or other marking made to walls, buildings or 
other surfaces. It does NOT include street art, etc which is located by permission of the 
landowner, and with any relevant consents (e.g. planning, etc). 

Graffiti can be treated as the common law crime of malicious mischief or the statutory 
offence of vandalism and if prosecuted the offender could face a fine or even 
imprisonment. The police can also issue fixed penalty fines for these offences. 

Additionally, under 16's are not permitted to buy aerosol paint cans under the Anti-Social 
Behaviour Scotland Act 2004. 

Removal of graffiti 

The removal of graffiti from buildings and other structures is the responsibility of the owner. 
In certain circumstances the Council may be able to help. 

Council Premises or Property 

We will aim to remove graffiti as soon as possible, usually within the following timescales. 
These are not statutory targets and it may be necessary to extend these timescales for 
operational, financial or other reasons. 

We will aim to remove offensive graffiti more quickly. Graffiti is deemed to be offensive if it 
is threatening, obscene, racist, homophobic or otherwise constitutes an attack on people 
protected under equalities legislation. 

Offensive graffiti: 24 hours  

Other graffiti:  10 days 

Third Party Premises or Property 

Where the graffiti is on either premises or property which does NOT belong to the Council, 
removal of this will be the responsibility of the landowner. 

Where the graffiti is offensive, the Council can help you if you provide permission to do so. 
There is no charge for this service.  

The Council can also assist in the removal of other graffiti but will levy a charge for doing 
so. We recommend that you also seek further quotes for this work as well as a method 
statement. 

In certain circumstances, and in compliance with relevant legislation, we may take 
enforcement action to require graffiti removal. 

Historic Monuments 

In some cases, if the structure is a historic monument or structure the Council may not be 
able to remove graffiti or may have to agree a specialised programme with Historic 
Environment Scotland or other statutory bodies as appropriate. In those circumstances it 
may be necessary to extend the normal timelines for the removal of graffiti 

Page 134



Prevention 

Where practicable we will work with landowners to encourage the use of preventative 
measures such as surface treatments which may reduce graffiti, or areas or locations such 
as graffiti walls, or murals/street art which are set aside for the purpose of graffiti. 

 

Page 135



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5.1 Work Programme
	5.2 Rolling Actions Log
	6.1 Business Bulletin
	Councillor Amy Mcneese-Mechan

	7.1 Cemetery Tour Guide Operator Registration Scheme
	Culture and Communities Committee
	Culture and Communities Committee
	10.00am, Tuesday, 15 September 2020
	10.00am, Tuesday, 15 September 2020
	Cemetery Tour Guide Operator Registration Scheme
	Cemetery Tour Guide Operator Registration Scheme
	1. Recommendations
	1. Recommendations



	Report
	Report
	Report
	Cemetery Tour Guide Operator Registration Scheme
	Cemetery Tour Guide Operator Registration Scheme
	2. Executive Summary
	2. Executive Summary
	3. Background
	3. Background
	4. Main report
	4. Main report
	5. Next Steps
	5. Next Steps
	5. Next Steps
	6. Financial impact
	6. Financial impact
	7. Stakeholder/Community Impact
	7. Stakeholder/Community Impact
	8. Background reading/external references
	8. Background reading/external references
	9. Appendices
	9. Appendices



	7.2 War Memorial, City Chambers
	Culture and Communities Committee
	Culture and Communities Committee
	10.00am, Tuesday, 15 September 2020
	10.00am, Tuesday, 15 September 2020
	War Memorial, City Chambers
	War Memorial, City Chambers
	1. Recommendations
	1. Recommendations


	Report
	Report
	War Memorial, City Chambers
	War Memorial, City Chambers
	2. Executive Summary
	2. Executive Summary
	3. Background
	3. Background
	4. Main report
	4. Main report
	5. Next Steps
	5. Next Steps
	6. Financial impact
	6. Financial impact
	7. Stakeholder/Community Impact
	7. Stakeholder/Community Impact
	8. Background reading/external references
	8. Background reading/external references
	9. Appendices
	9. Appendices



	7.3 Appointments to Working Groups 2020/21
	7.4 Edinburgh’s Joint Community Safety Strategy 2020-2023
	Community Safety Strategy Report
	Culture and Communities Committee
	10am, Tuesday, 15 September 2020
	Edinburgh’s Joint Community Safety Strategy 2020-2023
	1. Recommendations



	Report
	Edinburgh’s Joint Community Safety Strategy 2020-2023
	2. Executive Summary
	3. Background
	4. Main report
	5. Next Steps
	6. Financial impact
	7. Stakeholder/Community Impact
	8. Background reading/external references
	9. Appendices



	Community Safety Strategy 2020 - 2023
	appendix 2 ASB and Community Safety issues COVID 19 updte

	7.5 Museums and Galleries – Report on Extended Opening Hours
	Museum Opening hours report -v4
	Culture and Communities Committee
	Culture and Communities Committee
	10.00am, Tuesday, 15 September 2020
	10.00am, Tuesday, 15 September 2020
	1. Recommendations
	1. Recommendations


	Report
	Report
	Report
	2. Executive Summary
	2. Executive Summary
	3. Background
	3. Background
	4. Main report
	4. Main report
	5. Next Steps
	5. Next Steps
	6. Financial impact
	6. Financial impact
	6. Financial impact
	7. Stakeholder/Community Impact
	7. Stakeholder/Community Impact
	8. Background reading/external references
	8. Background reading/external references
	9. Appendices
	9. Appendices


	Appendix 1 - Service Plan 2019-2023 v5
	Museums & Galleries Edinburgh
	Museums & Galleries Edinburgh
	Service Plan 2019 - 2023
	Service Plan 2019 - 2023
	Museums & Galleries Edinburgh Service Plan 2019 - 2023
	Museums & Galleries Edinburgh Service Plan 2019 - 2023
	Museums & Galleries Edinburgh Service Plan 2019 - 2023
	This document reviews the objectives of the 2013 - 2018 Service Plan and sets out the strategic and operational objectives for the next four years. It summarizes what has been achieved against the targets set and highlights operational goals that rema...
	This document reviews the objectives of the 2013 - 2018 Service Plan and sets out the strategic and operational objectives for the next four years. It summarizes what has been achieved against the targets set and highlights operational goals that rema...
	Executive Summary of 2013 - 2018 Service Plan
	Executive Summary of 2013 - 2018 Service Plan
	Our Vision: To inspire, enthuse and provoke through a shared passion for Edinburgh, art and history.
	Our Vision: To inspire, enthuse and provoke through a shared passion for Edinburgh, art and history.
	Aim 1: Deliver a world-class capital city museums and galleries service
	Aim 1: Deliver a world-class capital city museums and galleries service
	Aim 2: Transform how we use and present our museums, galleries and monuments
	Aim 2: Transform how we use and present our museums, galleries and monuments
	Aim 3: Place people and participation at the heart of what we do
	Aim 3: Place people and participation at the heart of what we do
	Aim 4: Achieve excellence in the development, use and care of collections
	Aim 4: Achieve excellence in the development, use and care of collections
	Aim 5: Work efficiently and effectively for maximum impact
	Aim 5: Work efficiently and effectively for maximum impact
	Aim 6: Become ever more resourceful, resilient and sustainable
	Aim 6: Become ever more resourceful, resilient and sustainable


	7.6 Fields in Trust Minute of Agreement for Marchbank Park
	Culture and Communities Committee
	Culture and Communities Committee
	10am, Tuesday, 15 September 2020
	10am, Tuesday, 15 September 2020
	Fields in Trust Minute of Agreement for Marchbank Park
	Fields in Trust Minute of Agreement for Marchbank Park
	1. Recommendations
	1. Recommendations



	Report
	Report
	Fields in Trust Minute of Agreement for Marchbank Park
	Fields in Trust Minute of Agreement for Marchbank Park
	2. Executive Summary
	2. Executive Summary
	3. Background
	3. Background
	4. Main report
	4. Main report
	5. Next Steps
	5. Next Steps
	6. Financial impact
	6. Financial impact
	7. Stakeholder/Community Impact
	7. Stakeholder/Community Impact
	8. Background reading/external references
	8. Background reading/external references
	9. Appendices
	9. Appendices



	7.7 Graffiti Strategy for Edinburgh
	Culture and Communities Committee
	Culture and Communities Committee
	10.00am, Tuesday, 15 September 2020
	10.00am, Tuesday, 15 September 2020
	Graffiti Strategy for Edinburgh
	Graffiti Strategy for Edinburgh
	1. Recommendations
	1. Recommendations



	Report
	Report
	Graffiti Strategy for Edinburgh
	Graffiti Strategy for Edinburgh
	2. Executive Summary
	2. Executive Summary
	3. Background
	3. Background
	4. Main report
	4. Main report
	5. Next Steps
	5. Next Steps
	6. Financial impact
	6. Financial impact
	7. Stakeholder/Community Impact
	7. Stakeholder/Community Impact
	8. Background reading/external references
	8. Background reading/external references
	9. Appendices
	9. Appendices




